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Unit 4 Agresso is a leading international producer of business software and a supplier of security software.  

With branches in 11 European countries, the United States and Canada and sales activities worldwide, a turnover  

of € 356 million was achieved in 2005 (turnover from continuing operations: € 353 million). The head office is  

situated in Sliedrecht, the Netherlands. At the end of 2005 Unit 4 Agresso had 2,156 employees.

The activities are split into two divisions: Business Software and Internet & Security. Business Software develops, 

sells, implements and supports business software for the management, support and optimization of business processes 

and for the optimization of the operational management. Internet & Security sells security solutions from third  

parties and provides services for implementation and maintenance of data security.

Business Software

In the market for Business Software Unit 4 Agresso has leading international market positions, with the product  

Agresso Business World, in the public sector and in the provision of business services.

Our leading product Agresso Business World helps people-oriented organizations realize their ambitions.  

It offers organizations in which provision of services, projects and many different sorts of client relationship are  

of primary importance, maximum functionality for the management and control of their business processes.  

The competitive advantages are:

•  specialization per business sector, which to a large extent eliminates the need for customized software;

•  high degree of flexibility, which permits quick modification in cases of changes within the organization and  

enables direct management of change processes;

•  short implementation time, which makes Agresso Business World quickly available;

•  extensive and flexible reporting facilities;

•  low total cost of ownership.

In the Benelux and on a smaller scale in a number of other countries, Unit 4 Agresso offers business software for 

small and medium-sized enterprises (SME) and various vertical markets, such as wholesale and distribution, health 

care and accountancy. Particularly in wholesale and distribution and in the market for accountancy firms, Unit 4 

Agresso has strong market positions. In addition, a range of functionalities is offered for personnel information, 

salary management, internet bookkeeping and project management. All applications have extensive facilities for  

reporting and management information.

Internet & Security

Unit 4 Agresso offers specialized know-how and customized solutions for the complete security process, from risk 

analysis to implementation, optimization and maintenance of the security. The internet activities are directed at  

the investigation, implementation and optimization of internet applications. In the market for security software, 

Unit 4 Agresso is amongst the largest providers in Europe.

Stock exchange quotation and market capitalization

Unit 4 Agresso shares have been quoted on the Euronext Amsterdam since 1998 and form a part of the Amsterdam Small cap 

indeX (AScX). At the end of 2005 the market capitalization was valued at € 313 million (price: € 12.16).

Company Profile

Notice to the reader

The underlying Annual Report of Unit 4 Agresso N.V. is an unofficial translation of the Dutch version (Jaarverslag Unit 4 Agresso 2005). 

We have audited the official Dutch version of the Annual Report of Unit 4 Agresso N.V. for the year 2005.

Ernst & Young Accountants
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Key figures 

*  figures based on continuing operations 

** in € x 1,000

(amounts in  x 1 million)

Turnover*

Business Software

Internet & Security

Total

Turnover growth compared to prior year

Gross margin*

Business Software

Internet & Security

Total

% Gross margin Business Software

% Gross margin Internet & Security

% Gross margin total

Operating result before depreciation

and impairment (EBITDA)*

Business Software

Internet & Security

Total

% EBITDA Business Software

% EBITDA Internet & Security

% EBITDA Total

Net profit before impairment

Net profit before impairment/turnover

Cash flow (net profit + depreciation)

Employees/activity ratios

Average no. of employees Business Software (FTE)

Average no. of employees Internet & Security (FTE)

Average no. of employees total (FTE)

Turnover per employee Business Software**

Turnover per employee Internet & Security**

Turnover per employee total**

Total number of employees year-end

Financial/liquidity ratios

Group equity

% Group equity in total assets

Quick ratio

Financial figures per share

Earnings per share before impairment in 

 

 IFRS IFRS Dutch GAAP Dutch GAAP Dutch GAAP Dutch GAAP

 2005 2004 2004 2003 2002 2001

 182.6 156.8 156.8 136.9 136.1 138.9 

 170.0 106.8 119.2 82.2 78.9 69.3 

 352.6 263.6 276.0 219.1 215.0 208.2

 34% 20% 26% 2% 3% 72%

     

  

 165.2 142.6 142.6 124.6 119.9 123.3 

 42.0 28.3 30.2 20.8 20.9 21.4 

 207.2 170.9 172.8 145.4 140.8 144.7  

 90.5% 90.9% 90.9% 91.0% 88.1% 88.8%

 24.7% 26.5% 25.3% 25.3% 26.5% 30.9%

 58.8% 64.8% 62.6% 66.4% 65.5% 69.5%

 

 31.8 30.2 30.3 23.0 17.8 19.0 

 7.2 6.2 4.2 5.2 4.2 7.4 

 39.0 36.4 34.5 28.2 22.0 26.4  

 17.4% 19.3% 19.3% 16.8% 13.1% 13.7%

 4.2% 5.8% 3.5% 6.3% 5.3% 10.7%

 11.1% 13.8% 12.5% 12.9% 10.2% 12.7%

 25.0 19.8 20.0 16.7 15.0 14.7 

 7.1% 7.5% 7.2% 7.6% 7.0% 7.1%

 33.0 26.9 25.7 22.3 19.7 18.9

 1,540 1,398 1,398 1,222 1,182 1,213 

 430 279 279 188 171 178 

 1,970 1,677 1,677 1,410 1,353 1,391 

 119 112 112 112 115 114 

 395 383 427 437 461 390 

 179 157 165 155 159 150 

     

 2,156 1,894 1,894 1,486 1,413 1,391

     

 108.9 91.1   87.9 74.0 62.2 49.2 

 43.5% 41.3% 42.0% 48.6% 45.3% 38.4%

 110.6 102.2 101.3 129.0 127.0 123.5 

     

 

  0.97 0.78 0.78 0.66 0.61 0.61
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Turnover in % by division
2005

EBITDA in % by division

Internet Þ Security 48%

Business Software 52%

Number of employees by division 

Business Software 78%

Internet Þ Security 22%

Earnings per share before impairment in  
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Entrepreneurship with vision
25 years ago, eleven pioneering professionals joined forces. They all shared the same passion and they had a vision: 

the development of platform-independent standard software that is based on the business process of the client.

A lot has changed in 25 years. Unit 4 Agresso now consists of more than 2,100 professionals and provides advanced 

business software to more than 30,000 clients in around 100 countries. Internationally, Unit 4 Agresso has achieved 

leading market positions in the public sector and in the provision of business services. Furthermore, Unit 4 Agresso 

has grown into one of the biggest providers of IT security in Europe.

We have grown up and expanded, but the heart of our company beats just as it did then. The passion of our professionals 

still goes together with a clear vision of product and market development. We have become a leading specialist in  

the development and provision of standard business software. Our well thought-out concepts on the basis of advanced 

technology incorporate 25 years of market experience and client response.

We do not offer everything to everyone. But in a large number of selected markets and sectors we do offer our clients a 

great deal. Our business software makes business processes more efficient, more transparent and more easily manageable. 

The flexibility of the application ensures that business changes are easy to absorb. That makes our business software 

durable and cost-efficient. In addition, via the Internet & Security division, we offer our clients complete security 

and optimization of information systems on the basis of specialized know-how, market leading IT products and customized 

solutions. We have developed a sharp eye for our possibilities to add value for clients and shareholders. This applies 

to both Business Software and Internet & Security.

In this annual report we are not just looking back on 2005. Via five articles in a separate section, we are searching  

for the connecting thread of the last 25 years. Although much has disappeared and changed, pillars have also been built. 

And they form a solid basis for further growth.

Annual Report 2005
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Vision, activities, 
strategy and  
objectives
Vision

Unit 4 Agresso is committed to being a reliable and 

sound, internationally operating IT organization which 

helps its clients realize their ambitions on the basis 

of specialized know-how and effective product market 

combinations. 

Activities

The following table gives an overview of Unit 4  

Agresso’s principal products, client groups,  

geographical markets and market positions.

 

 Business Software Product Clients Countries Market position

 People-oriented Agresso Business World Medium and large  Worldwide with Leading or strong 

   companies and  emphasis on Europe regional positions

   institutions 

 Sector-focused  Omnivers  Wholesale Benelux plus a few Top 3 Benelux

  Unit 4 Cura Health care other European  Top 3 Benelux

  Various accountancy  Accountancy firms countries 1 in Benelux 

  products

 General Unit 4 Multivers SME Benelux Top 3 Benelux 

 Supplementary Among other things  Medium and large Part Benelux and  Good niche positions 

  salary management,   companies and  part worldwide 

  project management,   institutions 

  personnel information, 

  internet bookkeeping

 Internet & Security    

 Security products Third-party products Medium and large  Europe Top 3 Europe

   companies and 

   institutions

   Dealers in and 

   providers of ICT 

   services 

 Security services Implementation and  Medium and large Europe Top 3 Benelux

  maintenance companies and  

   institutions

 Internet services   Websites and integration Medium and large Benelux Strong niche   

of internet and  companies and  position 

operational management institutions 

Translated from: www.i-nieuws.vuurwerk.nl, 1999
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Strategy

Unit 4 Agresso has split its activities into  

the Business Software and Internet & Security  

divisions, which operate completely independently.  

The business strategy is focused on enabling both  

divisions to strengthen their market positions by  

means of new, supplementary or improved products and 

services and by means of increase in scale, including 

geographical expansion.

Via Business Software, Unit 4 Agresso offers its  

clients business software for the management,  

support and optimization of business processes and 

for optimization of the operational management. Unit 4 

Agresso distinguishes itself in this market from its 

competitors by means of the combination of specialized, 

in-depth knowledge of a number of selected markets and 

sectors and product standardization on the basis of 

high-quality technology and functionality.

Via Internet & Security, Unit 4 Agresso offers its  

clients third-party IT security solutions and services 

for the implementation and maintenance of data  

security. Unit 4 Agresso distinguishes itself in  

this market from its competitors by means of scale  

size, international presence and a complete package 

of high-quality services, which make it an attractive 

partner for product suppliers and (internationally  

operating) clients. 

Strengths 

•  The dominant position in the public sector (Business 

Software) 

In Sweden, Norway and the United Kingdom, Unit 4 

Agresso, with its product Agresso Business World, 

has a dominant position in the public sector. Also in 

other countries, Unit 4 Agresso is successful in the 

public sector.

•  The product range (Business Software) 

Unit 4 Agresso has a range of strong products, which 

ensure a large degree of client satisfaction. Out of 

this range, Agresso Business World and Omnivers are 

the most distinguishing products. They are both based 

on a technologically and functionally high-quality 

concept.

•  A strong market position in Europe (both divisions) 

With Agresso Business World, Business Software has a 

strong market position in Europe, and with a number  

of other products, a strong market position in  

the Benelux. With the company NOXS, the Internet  

& Security division is one of the three largest  

providers of IT security products in Europe.

•  Stable client portfolio and good organic growth 

(Business Software) 

A high degree of client satisfaction and a large share 

of turnover in the public sector ensure a stable  

client portfolio. This is also a reason for the  

good and stable organic growth. 

•  The financial position 

As a result of many years of good profitability Unit 4 

Agresso has built up a healthy financial position, 

with a solvency of 43.5%.

•  Risk spread 

The business software activities are more susceptible 

to investment cycles than the security activities. 

Internet & Security therefore contributes to a stable 

development of turnover and profit. 

Weaknesses

•  Scale size (Business Software) 

In relation to a number of important competitors the 

scale size is still small, as a result of which the 

costs of R&D are relatively high.

•  The market position in France and Germany (Business 

Software) 

In two important European countries the scope of the 

activities is still too limited to achieve a good 

profitability. 

•  Limited synergy between both divisions  

Both divisions focus on their own products,  

services and client groups. The activities offer  

few opportunities for synergy in turnover, but they  

do focus on synergy in costs.

Opportunities

•  Agresso Business World is perfectly positioned to be 

successful in new geographical markets.

•  Strategic alliances provide the opportunity to gain 

access to new sectors and geographical markets with 

Agresso Business World in a cost-efficient manner. 

The contract with Sabre, supplier of reservation  

systems for the travel industry, is a good example  

of this.

•  A number of products which have been successful in the 

Benelux up until now, of which Omnivers is one, are 

ideal for introduction into other countries.
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•  The willingness to invest in the market for business 

software developed well in 2005 and the prospects for 

2006 are good.

•  Increasing diversity and complexity in systems and 

infrastructure stimulate the demand for new solutions 

for IT security. 

 

Threats

•  The consolidation of large IT companies leads to further 

increase in scale in the market (both divisions).

•  The general pressure on the prices of licence sales 

(Business Software).

•   The pressure on the gross margins of products for  

Internet & Security.

• Salary developments in the market.

Strategic priorities

Partly on the basis of this SWOT analysis, Unit 4 Agresso 

has determined a main strategic objective with the  

following priorities:

1.  Increase in scale by means of organic growth,  

acquisitions (both divisions) and strategic alliances 

(Business Software).

2.  Continuous focus on specialized standard products 

for vertical markets, whereby the R&D capacity is 

utilized efficiently and the products distinguish 

themselves by means of a low total cost of ownership 

(Business Software).

3.  Focus on services with added value in order to  

compensate for the pressure on the margins on  

products (Internet & Security).

These priorities are translated every year into new  

initiatives. The chapter ‘Prospects for 2006’ gives  

an overview of the strategic initiatives for the  

coming year. In the chapters ‘Developments in Business 

Software’ and ‘Developments in Internet & Security’  

the most important initiatives of 2005 are discussed per 

division and the initiatives already announced  

last year are evaluated.

Explanation of strategic priorities

1. Increase in scale

In Business Software increase in scale can bring  

the profitability to a structurally higher level.  

Regardless of the profit level, Unit 4 Agresso spends a 

more or less constant amount on Research & Development. 

At the moment this is approximately 14% of the turnover 

of the division. Increasing the number of clients, by 

means of organic growth, strategic alliances,  

distributors or acquisitions, has for that reason  

a strong positive effect on the fixed R&D costs per  

client and the profitability of the business.

With a view to a future acquisition, a strategic  

alliance is often formed with a manufacturer of  

business software. The cooperation then acts as a  

trial period for both parties. The objectives for an  

alliance or acquisition can be:

•  increase in the number of potential clients by means 

of conversion to the products of Unit 4 Agresso. In 

the case of companies with a large client portfolio 

but with obsolete products, this is a good option;

•  gaining access to certain niche markets, for example 

that of local authorities in a country;

•  expansion of functionalities, for example in the area 

of CRM, salary administration or Human Resources;

• expansion of the services package.

In connection with return requirements and risk  

management a number of basic principles and conditions 

have been formulated for acquisitions, see ‘Risks and 

risk management’ from page 31 onwards.

By increasing the number of clients the annual maintenance 

turnover will similarly increase and supplementary  

services can be provided. This will improve the risk  

profile of the company.

Scale size is also a critical success factor for  

Internet & Security. Suppliers, who become larger by 

means of consolidation, strive for limitation of the 

number of selected distributors and/or partners. Unit 4 

Agresso can offer its suppliers added value by means of 

expert client support and a large international client 

portfolio. Growth in the range of services provided is 

essential here for improvement of margins both in the 

short and in the long term.

The distribution model for security products and  

services contributes towards the optimization of the 

sales volume. Via its distribution organization NOXS 

(Number One for eXcellence in Security), Unit 4 Agresso 

supplies to retailers such as system-independent  

service providers and dealers. 
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NOXS offers its customers added value by means of  

specialist security know-how, primarily by means of  
extensive product knowledge. In addition Unit 4 Agresso 
provides total solutions to end-users under the name of 
Unit 4 Agresso Continuity & Security.

2. Focus on specialization and standardization

In Business Software the competitive position of Unit 4 
Agresso as medium-sized international player is  
dependent upon the ability to put distinguishing  
products onto the market. The financial means are more 
limited than those of the bigger players. In order to 
be able to utilize the R&D capacity efficiently, Unit 4 
Agresso concentrates on standard technological concepts 
for a number of specific vertical markets. In these  
concepts specialization, reliability, transparency  
and flexibility are important elements.

Due to specialization per vertical market the standard 
applications of Unit 4 Agresso are quick to implement 
and relatively simple to maintain. This results in a low 
total cost of ownership, through which Unit 4 Agresso  
distinguishes itself from its competitors.

3. Focus on services with added value

In Internet & Security Unit 4 Agresso combines the sale of 
products with a complete supply of supporting services. 
This makes Unit 4 Agresso into a prominent provider of 
functional and efficient IT security solutions. The 
services, amongst others for risk analysis, advice, 
implementation and maintenance, are offered both via 
Unit 4 Agresso’s own retail sales activities and those 
of third parties. Clients in various European countries 
can rely upon permanent support, 24 hours per day,  
7 days per week, from local teams. The services with 
added value offer a compensation for the margin pressure 
on products and make an important contribution towards 
the strengthening of the market position.

 

Employees

Unit 4 Agresso also considers the professionalism and 
dedication of its employees to be of vital importance. 
A good bond with the 2,100 plus employees is to Unit 4 
Agresso something that speaks for itself and therefore, 
good opportunities for personal development and good 
primary and secondary employment conditions are  

offered. Unit 4 Agresso expects an active input from its 

employees into achieving the necessary growth and a high 

degree of responsibility.

Objectives

Operational objectives

In order to continue to distinguish itself from its  

competitors and to implement its business strategy,  

Unit 4 Agresso strives to fulfil the following objectives:

•  provide the best possible products and services for 

selected markets and sectors;

•  quick and effective implementation by means of  

standardization of products;

•  acquire a strong market share (top 3 position)  

in the markets in which it operates;

•  maintain a position from which it can offer  

clients the lowest total cost of ownership by 

means of specialization;

•  offer products which, by means of their many analysis 

and reporting facilities, make the business processes 

and results of our clients fully transparent;

•  stay close to the clients by means of field employees, 

branches, distributors and/or dealers.

Financial objectives for the medium term

Our business strategy aimed at the protection and 

strengthening of our market positions requires on- 

going growth via existing and new activities. For the 

financing of this growth Unit 4 Agresso has determined  

a number of financial objectives for the medium term.  

On the basis of a normal growth of economic activity  

the financial objectives for the medium term are:

•  an average organic turnover growth of 7-10%;

•  a minimum turnover of € 300 million in Business  

Software, including the contribution from new  

acquisitions;

•  a minimum turnover of € 250 million in Internet &  

Security, including the contribution from new  

acquisitions.
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Management
Board of Directors
C. Ouwinga (1955)

Chris Ouwinga has been CEO since 1986. His primary field  
of attention within the organization is business software.  
He co-founded Unit 4 in 1980. In 1983, he was promoted to  
assistant director and became responsible for technical  
issues. In 1986 he was appointed CEO of Unit 4. Under his 
leadership, Unit 4 Agresso has grown into one of Europe’s 
leading suppliers of business and security software.  

drs. E.T.S van 
Leeuwen RA (196

6)

Edwin van Leeuw
en joined Unit 

4 Agresso mid 1
999 and has  

been CFO since 
April 2002. His

 primary fields
 of attention  

are Finance, Le
gal Affairs and

 Investor Relat
ions. He is a 

chartered accou
ntant and was f

ormerly employe
d with Royal  

Van Ommeren N.V
. as manager Fi

nance & Control
. Before that  

he worked as an
 accountant for

 8 years at, am
ong others,  

PriceWaterhouse
Coopers. 

drs. H.P. De Smedt (1963)

Harry De Smedt has been director Internet & Security (COO) 

and Executive Vice President since 2001. His primary field  

of attention is IT-security. He has been working at Unit 4 

since 1990 and occupied several management positions within 

the company. Harry De Smedt graduated in computer sciences, 

in ‘Advanced Management’ (Vlerick Management School), and as 

Bachelor of Economics and MBA at the University of Diepenbeek 

in Belgium.
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ir. P. Smits (1946) 

Appointed in 2003. His current positions are: member of the Board 

of Telia Sonera AG, member of the Supervisory Board of Enertel 

N.V., member of the Supervisory Board of Telfort N.V., member of 

the Advisory Board of Deerns N.V., member of the Advisory Board 

of Runway Group B.V., chairman of the Advisory Board of Media 

Plaza, member of the Supervisory Board of Feyenoord Rotterdam.  

Mr Smits has years’ experience of ICT, both home and abroad.

Supervisory Board

drs. Th.J. van der Raadt (195
3), chairman

Appointed in 1997. His curren
t positions are: chairman of 

the 

Board of Directors of Koninkl
ijke Ahrend N.V., chairman of

 the 

Supervisory Board of Koninkli
jke Peijnenburg Koekfabrieken

 B.V. 

and chairman Premsela Stichti
ng voor Nederlandse Vormgevin

g.  

Mr Van der Raadt has extensiv
e general managerial experien

ce and 

specific knowledge about fina
ncial mangement.

mr. E.D. Wiersma (1941) 

Appointed in 2005. His current main function is that of partner in the 

lawyers’ practice De Brauw Blackstone Westbroek. His other functions are, 

among others: chairman of the Supervisory Board of Boekhandels Groep  

Nederland B.V., chairman of the Supervisory Board of Jan Tabak N.V.,  

member of the Supervisory Board of Krasnapolsky Hotels & Restaurants N.V., 

member of the Supervisory Board of Outokumpu Copper B.V. Mr Wiersma has  

a great deal of management experience and is an expert in company law,  

particularly in the area of mergers and takeovers. 

J.A. Vunderink (1947)

Appointed in 2002. His current positions are: member of the  
Supervisory Board of Teleca SA, member of the Supervisory  
Board of Obigo AB, commissioner at Siennax International B.V. 
and chairman of the Board of Quint Wellington Redwood B.V.  
Mr Vunderink has years’ experience of the IT industry, both in  
the market for professional services and for software products. 
He led international expansions and he is an expert at marketing 
and account management.

All Supervisory Board members are of Dutch nationality and  

are appointed having due regard to the legal, statutory and  

regulatory stipulations.
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Well positioned for further growth

In 2005 Unit 4 Agresso could profit well from a further 

improvement in the business climate. Partly due to  

an unprecedented strong final sprint in the month  

of December we achieved an organic turnover growth  

of 15%. Important for our future were primarily our  

investments in a new version of Agresso Business World 

and strong interventions in France and Germany. These 

interventions are to bring the business software  

activities in these countries back into the black in 

2006. The turnover and profit development was erratic 

in 2005, with a number of unpredictable effects. In the 

first half of the year our profit growth remained limited 

due to a low level of investment on the British local  

authorities market, caused by local elections. In the 
second half of the year the British market recovered 
well.

The introduction of Agresso Business World 5.5 played a 
part as well. This version attracts larger clients, but 
the increased complexity also required more extensive 
testing and a longer delivery time than was planned.  
In the second half of the year licence turnover showed  
a strong growth in most countries.

In both divisions our people still worked extremely 
hard on the last day of the year in order to finalize 
the very last orders, with the result that our organic 
turnover growth of 15% exceeded the expected 7-10%.

Report from the Board of Directors

    
Net turnover (continuing operations) 

EBITDA (operating result before 

depreciation and impairment)* 

Net result

Earnings per share 

Earnings per share before depreciation of

client contracts and impairment*

   352.6 million +34% 

   39.0  million  + 7%

  

   17.7 million +20% 

  0.69  +19%

  0.97  +24% 

* the impairment relates to acquired intangible fixed assets (formerly amortization of goodwill)
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In the Business Software division an increasing  

willingness to invest led to a strong organic growth  
of 12%. Many companies and institutions are gradually 
coming to the point where they need to replace  

the systems they implemented around 1999, when  

there was a boom in investment. The largest growth  
was achieved in Spain (+40%), Sweden (+30%), North 
America/Canada (+27%), and Norway (+22%). In the  
Benelux the turnover increased by 15%.

The market for Internet & Security knew no major  

economic disasters in 2005 caused by virus outbreaks.  
The prevention systems beat the threateners to a  

large extent. The importance of prevention systems is 
becoming increasingly recognized and the associated 
services therefore made an important contribution towards 
the organic turnover growth of 20%. In addition there 
was a clearly increasing demand for the newer services 
directed at mobility and working from home. The gross 
margin on products was again under pressure. This could 
for the most part be compensated for by a strong growth 
in services. However, due to the consolidation of the 
former activities of Risc Technology the turnover share 
in products increased, as a result of which the EBITDA 
growth was put under pressure.

Whilst 2004 was a year with one large and several small 
takeovers, the accent in 2005 was on investment in the 
organization. We invested primarily in the introduction 
of a new version of our international product Agresso 
Business World and in organizational improvements in 
Germany and France. In the Netherlands some branches 
(Internet & Security) were integrated.

Competitiveness strengthened
In the second half of the year the Business Software  
division brought Agresso Business World 5.5 onto the 
market. A few months later the first systems, on the 
basis of local specifications, could be supplied to  
clients. The 5.5 version is based on an improved  
technological architecture, utilizes the latest  
technology and has a more extensive functionality  
and user capacity. We are convinced that with  

Agresso Business World 5.5, Unit 4 Agresso will further 
strengthen the competitiveness in its core markets. 
Furthermore, the access to the higher market sector  
will be improved.

Proof of this was already obtained in November with 

the order from the British Department for International 

Development, with a value of approximately € 17 million. 

This is the biggest order that Unit 4 Agresso has ever 

signed. This order offers an excellent reference in the 

higher sector for large complex projects. Around 3,000 

employees located in 70 offices around the world will 

work with the new information system. The implementation 

will take five years. In the public tendering procedure 

Unit 4 Agresso beat renowned competitors on functionality 

and performance, partly due to the superior web  

technology of Agresso Business World 5.5.

With Agresso Business World Unit 4 Agresso directs  

itself at the international market for medium and  

large people-oriented companies and institutions,  

in which project-based working, a great deal of  

human interaction and constantly changing data flows 

are central. In addition, it again became clear in 2005 

that Unit 4 Agresso, with its products for other market 

sectors, also holds strong trump cards. In the Benelux, 

the largest growth was realized in the public sector, 

among which the health care sector. In the Netherlands 

Unit 4 Agresso grew significantly quicker than the  

market. In 2005 further steps were taken towards the 

internationalization of Omnivers 8 and Unit 4  

AccountAnalyser.

Key points 2005
•   Strong organic growth of 12% in Business Software;
•  Introduction of Agresso Business World 5.5 improves growth potential;•  Reorganizations in Germany and France create conditions for profitable growth in 2006;•  Turnover and EBITDA growth of Internet &  Security are in accordance with expectations.
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Additional growth from alliances

Unit 4 Agresso wants to achieve additional growth to an 

increasing degree by means of cooperation. Strategic 

alliances can lead to both a strong product on the basis 

of integrated functionality and access to a new market.

The turnover from the cooperation with our American 

partner and biggest client Sabre further developed  

in 2005. During the past year we reached an agreement 

that will improve the cost level and the risk profile 

of the cooperation. Unit 4 Agresso provides the back-

office software for Central Command, the management 

information system for the travel industry that is 

brought to the market by Sabre and which has worldwide 

sales possibilities.

Growth of predictable turnover

In 2005 we noticed in the Business Software division 

that more and more clients preferred a subscription to 

new software to the purchase of a licence. This trend 

means that clients in their first user-year yield a  

lower turnover, in particular when it concerns major 

clients. This was certainly the case in 2005. We  

anticipate that many of our clients will make longer  

use of our software than the number of years of the  

economic life span upon which the lease price is  

based. The increasing preference for the subscription 

model therefore contributes both to a better  

predictability and to a higher level of our turnover  

in the medium term.

Reorganizations

In Business Software, a disappointing turnover  

development and too high a cost level in France were 

reasons for action. The management was replaced and 

part of the R&D activities was centralized in Norway. 

In France the focus on Agresso Business World is being 

strengthened. For the new version 5.5, which requires 

fewer local modifications, we see a good growth  

perspective particularly in the French education market 

and in the financial sector. In Germany the cost base 

for the business software activities was improved as  

a result of a reduction in the number of employees. 

Expectations are that in Germany Agresso Business 

World 5.5 will create a better access to the market for 

project-based companies.

The Internet & Security division was reorganized in 

Germany and Austria. Three of the four branches were 

closed down and the management was replaced. The company 

closures led to a great improvement in the cost base. 

The integration of Risc Technology, which was taken  

over in 2004, was completed. In relation to this offices 

could be closed down in the Netherlands and in  

Belgium, which will provide cost savings in 2006. The 

establishment of a more efficient central European 

distribution centre for security products, which was 

already started in 2004, was further developed.

Acquisitions

In Business Software growth by means of acquisitions 

remains of importance in order to gain access to new  

regions and market sectors. During the past year we 

gained a leading position in the British market for  

educational institutions with the takeover of the  

British company MCA. MCA has 100 employees and is 

specialized in student information systems and CRM 

modules. The company has a few hundred clients in the 

education sector, both in the United Kingdom and in 

Australia. MCA also has access to the market for housing 

corporations. The products and client networks of MCA 

and Unit 4 Agresso complement each other well, as a  

result of which Unit 4 Agresso can offer new and  

existing clients one integrated system for the complete 

operational management.

Internet & Security was strengthened in January with 

Foundation, a specialist in ICT management, ‘remote 

managed services’ and training. In the first half of  

the year the turnover development was disappointing. 

Following a management change there was a definite  

improvement in the second half of the year. We expect 

this improvement to continue in 2006.

In summary, both divisions profited well from the  

improving market conditions in 2005. In France and 

Germany we needed to take stronger action in Business 

Software than anticipated at the beginning of the year.  

That put our EBITDA growth somewhat under pressure,  

but it has also created the situation that in 2006  

profitability and sustainable turnover growth will  

come within reach in these countries.

Unit 4 Agresso has not only performed well in this  

jubilee year, but also further implemented its  
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In this respect we made clear
 choices in product  

development, market approach 
and geographical  

expansion.

With regard to the vision beh
ind these choices, more can 

be found in a separate sectio
n of this annual report. 

In this, perhaps one aspect s
till remains underexposed: 

the professionalism and ambit
ion of our employees. They 

are always at the base of the
 success of our products, 

the satisfaction of our clien
ts and the efficiency of 

our own organization. Our amb
itious objectives can only 

be achieved by ambitious prof
essionals. The management 

realizes this fully and thank
s all employees for their 

effort in the past year.

With kind regards,

on behalf of the Board of Dir
ectors, Chris Ouwinga

long-term strategy. A total amount of approximately  
€ 40 million was invested in organizational  

improvements, acquisitions and in the development  
and introduction of improved products. The focus  
of these investments was completely directed at  

the activities at which we excel: the supply of standard 
business software for specific markets and sectors  
and the provision of specialist know-how and customized 
solutions for the whole process of IT security.

25th anniversary
25 years after the start of Unit 4 in 1980, Unit 4 
Agresso is a healthy, internationally operating  
business which has built up strong positions in  

its core markets. We can be proud of that. In the  
Netherlands we celebrated this with a big party for  
employees and ex-employees. We have come this far by 
further developing our specialism step-by-step and  
purposefully. 

Transla
ted from

: De Tel
egraaf, 

10 July 
2003
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Prospects for 2006
The market for 
Business Software
We expect a further  

improvement in the  

investment climate for the 

Business Software division 

in 2006. Many clients and 

potential clients are 

ready for replacement of 

their business software.  

In addition to this the 

expected improvement in 

the general economic  

climate will stimulate 

the demand for  

business software 

which better helps 

companies and  

institutions realize 

their ambitions.

The market at which Unit 4 Agresso directs itself is 

principally a replacement market. This means that  

our (new) clients have built up experience with the  

acquisition and management of information systems.  

Important requirements in this replacement market are 

amongst others: user-friendliness, many reporting  

facilities, flexibility, quick implementation time and 

low management costs. By means of a clear focus on a 

limited number of markets and sectors, Unit 4 Agresso 

can offer its clients an optimum standard solution  

with the product Agresso Business World 5.5, that  

contains a great deal of sector-specific functionality 

against relatively low total costs.

When selecting new business software, organizations  

are increasingly led by the question as to which  

product can best help them to achieve objectives such  

as competitive advantage, (international) growth,  

service innovation, improvement of service levels,  

a better information facility or to increase the  

involvement of employees, clients or citizens in  

business processes. Expectations are that the ambitions 

and objectives of companies as described hereafter  

will play a particularly important role in the demand 

for new business software in 2006.

Trends in client requirements 

Reporting

Improvement of financial planning and management  

processes remains high on the agenda with many  

companies. Besides government stipulations the  

need for more efficiency in the reporting process,  

better insight into own performance and consolidation 

of (international) financial systems also plays a  

role here. 

Change management

Company directors still have a great need for systems 

which provide both analysis facilities for well-founded 

decisions and facilities which enable a quick response 

to changing requirements and circumstances in the  

market. Furthermore, directors and managers search for 

solutions for the abundance of information with which 

they are confronted. Mergers and takeovers are again  

becoming topical. This requires a flexible system  

that can absorb the ensuing effects well and in a  

cost-efficient manner.

Empowerment by means of portals

Not all business processes run parallel with the  

facilities offered by software applications.  

Many management decisions and work processes must 

therefore often be laid down in a different manner  

and made accessible to employees. Portals make an  

important contribution towards the empowerment of  

employees. Via individual access facilities employees 

then get information with regard to the advances in 

various business processes.

Productivity

Business software must do much more than merely  

automating administrative tasks. To an increasing  

extent programs are demanded that help improve the 

productivity and the performance of employees and 

their bond with the company. Companies demand business 

software which enables them to make optimum use of the 

skills and knowledge of the employees, amongst others by 

means of performance measurement based on non-financial 

indicators.

Integration, security and consolidation

Integration, security and consolidation are important 

themes for many (semi-)government institutions.  

Transla
ted from

: 

Dordten
aar, 19 

March 20
04
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Prospects for 2006
This calls for business software which can absorb  
large-scale changes without losing a well-regulated  
and secure management of data. Uniform technology and 
systems on the basis of open platforms will support  
integration and consolidation processes.  

Cost reduction
Government institutions want to save on their business 
software costs. One way of doing this is to procure  
the software as much as possible from one supplier.  
Offering an integrated solution, via an alliance  
or by means of own or third-party supplementary  

functionality, is therefore becoming increasingly  
important.

Bundling of services
Government wants to improve the efficiency and  

effectiveness of its services by means of better  
coordination of the various services and by bundling 
them where possible.

Focus on provision of services
Local authorities are increasingly developing into  
organizations in which provision of citizen-focused 
services is central. The design of IT solutions  

should link up with this, so the communication can  
be streamlined and real-time provision of services  
is supported.

Unit 4 Agresso is well positioned to take advantage of 
these international trends, both with Agresso Business 
World 5.5 and with its products directed at a number of 
vertical markets in the Benelux.

Developments amongst providers
Continuous consolidation takes place amongst the  
providers of business software. Medium-sized providers 
such as Unit 4 Agresso can protect and strengthen their 
competitive position by means of increase in scale, 
strategic cooperation and further specialization per 
market sector. In the area of technology and market  
approach the attention to integration and open  

platforms will further increase.   

Strategic initiatives
Unit 4 Agresso keeps the attention focused on the  
optimization of its market positions. 

The strategic aims in 2006 are:

•  the marketing, sales and local optimization of  

Agresso Business World 5.5, the introduction of which 

took place in the second half of 2005;

•  the expansion of activities in countries where we 

still have limited market positions;

•  the preparation and expansion of the international 

sale in Europe of a number of locally developed  

applications, such as Omivers 8 and Unit 4  

AccountAnalyser;

•  the setting up and further development of strategic 

and ad-hoc alliances for product integration, sale of 

composite solutions and project execution, for the 

advancement of economies of scale and access to new 

markets;

Translated from: Computable, 6 October 1997
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•  further development and exp
ansion of technology and 

functionality aimed at specif
ic markets, for example 

in the area of personnel info
rmation.

In addition the following ini
tiatives will remain of 

importance in the coming year
s:

•  expansion of the distributi
on networks for our  

existing products by means of
 acquisitions and joint 

ventures, with special attent
ion paid to the areas  

in which we are not yet repres
ented;

•  expansion in areas which st
ill have limited scale 

size, such as Germany;

•  the development of addition
al specific products for 

the target groups.

The market for Internet & Securi
ty

Unit 4 Agresso expects that th
e market for IT security 

will grow further in 2006. The
 speed with which  

technological developments ta
ke place remains high.  

This leads to a continuous str
eam of new products,  

in both infrastructure and sec
urity. The following  

developments will have a parti
cular influence in 2006  

on the demand in the market an
d on the competitive  

position of Unit 4 Agresso:

•  Increasing diversity and com
plexity 

Implementation and maintenanc
e of IT security are 

becoming more complex. The dem
and for IT security is 

stimulated by the rise in mobi
le hardware with greater 

intelligence, the greater comp
lexity of and diversity  

in networks and the rise of all
-in-one solutions. This 

last leads both to an increasi
ng need for suppliers to 

position their products clearl
y and to an increasing 

need for end-users to correctl
y select and support  

specific functions. In both ca
ses Unit 4 Agresso,  

with its expertise, offers imp
ortant added value.

•  Consolidation amongst suppl
iers 

The number of suppliers is dec
reasing further and their 

size is increasing. Suppliers 
strive for a reduction 

in the number of distributors 
and optimization of the 

turnover per distributor.

•  Consolidation amongst distr
ibutors 

Increase in scale is also nece
ssary amongst  

distributors in order to remai
n competitive.  

Suppliers give preference to d
istributors with a large 

and international client port
folio and a good sales 

support. Suppliers expect fro
m distributors not only a 

good contribution towards the
 turnover growth of their 

products, but to an increasing
 degree also a prompt and 

trouble-free payment record. This works to the  

advantage of larger, financially sound parties  

such as Unit 4 Agresso.

•  Price pressure on products 

The price pressure on security products continues,  

particularly on anti-virus products for the desktop. 

The turnover in product licences is falling in line 

with the trend, to the benefit of the turnover in  

products with unlimited validity duration which are 

maintained and supported in return for an annual fee.

•  Growth in remote managed services 

Due to increasing complexity in IT security, the need 

for integrated services with added value is rising. 

This stimulates the demand for remote managed services, 

total solutions which can be managed at a distance  

via the internet. This form of service provision  

enables a more proactive approach to security and a 

quicker response time in case of problems. This leads 

to greater satisfaction with existing clients, which 

in turn results in a high degree of renewal of expired 

licences.

•  Increase in internationalization 

The number of companies with branches in multiple  

countries is increasing. For providers of IT security 

products and services it is important to be able to 

serve these clients in all these countries. 

Strategic initiatives

Unit 4 Agresso is one of the three largest providers of IT 

security in Europe. Notwithstanding the strong increase 

in scale which took place in 2004, continued growth  

remains of importance in order to maintain a strong  

competitive position. The strategic aims in 2006 are:

•  growth via existing activities, in particular in  

regions where we still have limited market positions, 

such as Italy and the United Kingdom;

•  growth via new activities, by means of acquisition(s) 

or by means of remote managed services, which are 

ideal for cross-border service provision;

•  growth by means of a continuous focus on services with 

added value.

Turnover and profit expectations 

In Business Software Unit 4 Agresso has a good point  

of departure to benefit from a further improvement in 

the investment climate and to strengthen its market  

positions. Barring exceptional economic circumstances 

we are therefore positive with regard to the anticipated 

growth in turnover and result.
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The reorganizations
 which were started 

and/or carried 

out in 2005 in Germa
ny (both divisions)

 and in France 

(Business Software)
 and the introductio

n of Agresso 

Business World 5.5 i
n the second half of

 2005, will make 

an important contri
bution towards an im

provement in 

profitability in 20
06.

Notwithstanding str
ong competition and

 margin pressure 

in Internet & Securi
ty, Unit 4 Agresso e

xpects to  

be able to achieve a
 healthy growth in t

urnover.  

The reorganization 
which took place in 

Germany in 2005 

will make an importa
nt contribution tow

ards a higher 

EBITDA.

Based on the current trend and comparable evaluation 

principles Unit 4 Agresso expects an organic turnover 

growth of 7-10% and an increase in the operating result 

(EBITDA) of at least 10% in 2006.
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Developments in Business Software
Activities

The Business Software division develops, sells,  

implements and supports business software for the  

management, support and optimization of business  

processes and for the optimization of the operational 

management. With its international product Agresso 

Business World, Unit 4 Agresso focuses primarily on 

people-oriented companies and institutions, in which 

provision of services is central. In addition Unit 4 

Agresso focuses with other products on the SME,  

wholesale and distribution, accountancy and health  

care sectors out of the Benelux.

Turnover development

Most countries in which Unit 4 Agresso is active, saw  

an improvement in the economy in 2005. In addition,  

the willingness to invest showed an improvement  

during the year. In the second half of the year the  

licence turnover increased strongly in a large number  

of countries compared to the first half of the year.  

In most countries Unit 4 Agresso was able to improve  

its market share.

The turnover increased in 2005 to € 182.6 million  

(+17%). The effect of the takeover of the British  

company MCA in September 2005 was minimal. This turnover 

was consolidated with effect from 1 October. The organic 

growth of the turnover amounted to 12%.

The following turnover classification shows that the share 

from provision of services is increasing at the expense of 

the share from licence sales. Our management focused on 

the efficiency and effectiveness of the services we  

provide is therefore becoming increasingly important.  

In 2005 methods for the optimization of the calculable 

capacity utilization and the pricing were once again  

improved.

Products

The turnover from products (=
licences) increased  

by 12%. A relatively strong g
rowth took place in  

the public sector, the wholes
ale and distribution  

market and in the sale of pro
ducts to internationally 

operating companies. The cons
istent decrease in the 

turnover share from licences 
has various causes.  

Firstly, the turnover from ma
intenance contracts is 

growing strongly due to the g
rowing scope of the total 

client portfolio. Due to the 
long life span of our  

products and the large degree
 of client satisfaction, 

the annual loss of clients is
 extremely limited.  

Secondly, and this trend was 
particularly visible  

in 2005, more and more client
s are opting for a  

subscription to our software 
instead of for the purchase 

of a licence. In this case the
 total contract value is 

split equally over a period o
f three or four years and 

the annual lease amounts are 
ascribed to the category 

Contracts and subscriptions. 

Services and others

The turnover from services in
creased by 17%.  

The provision of services con
sists primarily of  

implementation of software at
 our clients’ offices. 

The turnover development of t
hese services is closely 

linked with the development o
f the licence turnover.  

A part of the growth of these
 services is linked to  

the increasing complexity of 
a number of our products. 

The degree of capacity utiliz
ation of our consultants 

improved as a result of, amon
gst other things,  

improvement in planning syste
ms.  

Contracts and subscriptions

Both existing and new clients
 form the growing and  

stable basis for our turnover
 in maintenance contracts. 

The turnover in maintenance c
ontracts grew strongly  

to € 70.5 million (+19%). Thi
s activity is of extreme 

importance due to the recurre
nt character of the  

income. A growing part of the
  

maintenance turnover originat
es from 

clients who opt for a subscri
ption 

to our software instead of fo
r the 

purchase of a licence. The co
nsistent 

increase in turnover share fr
om  

maintenance contracts and ser
vices 

means an improvement in the r
isk  

profile because of the fact t
hat  

dependence on the market’s wi
llingness  

                     to invest de
creases.

    Development 2005 2004 

    2005 vs. as % as %

  2005 2004 2004 of total of total

  46.0 41.1 12% 25% 26% 

   66.1 56.6   17% 36%  36%

   70.5 59.1 19% 39% 38% 

   182.6 156.8 17% 100% 100%

Turnover Business Software division (in  x 1 million)

 Licences

 Services & other

 Contracts and subscriptions

 Total 
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The most important initiatives in 2005 

In every country and for every product many initiatives 

are taken every year in order to strengthen our  

market positions. These initiatives concern quality  

improvement, expansion of products and services and  

improvements in marketing and sales or in organization. 

An overview of the most important initiatives of the 

past year is given hereunder. 

Introduction of Agresso Business World 5.5

In the second half of the year Agresso Business World 

5.5 was introduced. The effect on turnover in 2005 was 

still limited, due to the fact that local adjustments 

and extensive tests still had to be carried out on  

the first deliveries. The new user advantages on the 

basis of improved technological architecture and extra 

functionality can strengthen our market position in the 

coming years.

Agresso Business World 5.5 was developed in order  

to even better enable people-oriented companies and  

institutions to achieve their ambitions. Our clients 

will be able to bring their processes, reporting and  

information systems even better into line with the  

desired business model. The added functionality  

has improved the flexibility and the configuration  

possibilities of the system in such a way that more  

users can be connected, regardless of how small their 

role or how narrow the bandwidth of their network  

connection is. Organizations that want to promote the 

empowerment of employees, clients or citizens, receive 

a wider and more powerful set of instruments for this 

purpose. This also applies to organizations that want 

to give their employees greater (budget) responsibility 

or want to involve them more in activities or projects 

without loss of process control. All data are always 

fully integrated in the system. Properties of people  

and services (components) can be combined in many ways 

for the preparation of analyses and budgets.

The 5.5 version offers extra facilities for adaptation 

to changes either within or outside the organization.  

As a result the future-proof nature of the application 

has further improved, offering our clients an even  

better total cost of ownership.

Reorganizations in France and Germany

Halfway through the year the management was replaced in 

France, and year-end 2005 it was decided to carry out  

an important reorganization. This will be further 

implemented in 2006. The focus of the French organization 

is more emphatically directed at independent  

administrative government bodies, secondary and higher 

education and financial institutions. Up until now many 

local modifications to the software were necessary in 

France. The introduction of Agresso Business World 5.5 

largely renders local modifications unnecessary. This 

will simplify the market approach in 2006.

In Germany the management was replaced and the cost 

level was improved, primarily due to a reduction in the 

number of employees. The focus in 2006 will be mainly 

directed at project-based companies, for which the new 

version 5.5 of Agresso Business World offers improved 

functionality.  

Acquisition of MCA

In September Unit 4 Agresso took over the British 

company MCA. MCA has a few hundred clients and offers 

front-office software to institutions for secondary  

and higher education. The combined client portfolios 

and products of Unit 4 Agresso and MCA offer excellent 

possibilities for synergy. With integrated solutions 

for the education market, in which Agresso Business 

World 5.5 is being used, Unit 4 Agresso can take  

advantage of the increasing need for educational  

institutions to procure their software as much as  

possible from one supplier.

Internationalization of products

The product Unit 4 AccountAnalyser, originally  

developed for the Dutch market, was optimized for  

a number of foreign markets. The first steps were  

successfully taken in a number of countries in Central 

Europe. With Unit 4 AccountAnalyser accountancy firms 

can carry out automated audits on the administrations 

of their clients. This provides greater efficiency. 

Progress was also made with the internationalization  

of Omnivers 8, originally developed for the Dutch  

wholesale market. With this, good use can be made of  

the functionality of Agresso Business World.

New strategic partner in the USA

On the market for local authorities a cooperation was 

prepared with Hansen, who offers front-office software 

for various sorts of government services.  
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The back-office functionality of Agresso Business  

World 5.5 fits in perfectly with this. The extensive 

client network of Hansen, both within and outside the 

United States, offers a good growth perspective. The 

cooperation with Hansen will also be extended to the 

United Kingdom, where Unit 4 Agresso has an extensive 

client network. The sales activities for the integrated 

products will commence in 2006.

Products for internet bookkeeping

In the Netherlands, Unit 4 Agresso met the increasing 

interest of SME and accountancy firms in internet  

bookkeeping, with the introduction of the products Unit 4 

Web Financials and Unit 4 Multivers Online. With internet 

bookkeeping companies make use of bookkeeping software 

on a central computer via the internet. These companies 

therefore do not need to purchase any software themselves, 

but pay via a subscription. The external accountant gains 

in efficiency because the data put in by his clients need 

less processing. 

Evaluation of earlier announced initiatives

The initiatives already announced last year for 2005 

were: the introduction of Agresso Business World 5.5, 

expansion of the sales of Central Command, the  

capitalization of our know-how and market positions  

in the public sector and the introduction of locally 

developed products in other countries.

The introduction of Agresso Business World 5.5  

went well, the sales of Central Command developed  

in line with expectations, our turnover in the public 

sector grew particularly in Sweden, Norway, Spain and  

the United Kingdom and good progress was made with  

the internationalization of Omnivers and Unit 4  

AccountAnalyser.

Last year, the objectives we named for the medium- 

term were: expansion of the distribution networks,  

expansion of the scale size in areas which still  

have limited scope of activity and the development  

of specific products for the target groups.

The takeover of MCA in the United Kingdom and a new  

cooperation agreement with a distributor in Romania  

(at the beginning of 2006) contributed to the first  

objective. The second objective was not achieved in  

the past year. Expansion in Germany, France and/or the 

United States remains on the agenda. Contributions to 

the third objective were made, amongst others, by the 

new products for internet bookkeeping in the  

Netherlands.

Trends in supply and payment preferences
More companies and institutions opt for a subscription 

as payment method for our business software. This trend 

continued in 2005. As a result, the value of turnover 

realized the moment the software comes into use is lower 

than with the purchase of a licence. In the case of a 

subscription all the necessary costs for maintenance 

and updates are included in the lease price. The lease 

agreement is entered into for a minimum number of years, 

whereby total turnover per client at least equals the 

turnover which would be achieved via the licence model 

and the associated costs for maintenance.

Companies and institutions of relatively small size are 

opting to an increasing degree for the use of business 

software via an Application Service Provider (ASP). In 

that case they use an internet connection to access an 

application on a central server which is administered by 

or on behalf of Unit 4 Agresso. All these clients pay by 

means of a subscription. In the public sector, smaller 

institutions, including local authorities, often opt 

for a cost-efficient joint ASP subscription. In the  

private sector, specialist businesses which form a part 

of the same chain, such as travel agencies, choose to an 

increasing degree for a joint subscription.

Developments per region
The strongest turnover growths were achieved in Spain 

(+40%), Sweden (+30%), North America/Canada (+27%) and 

Norway (+22%). The turnover in the Benelux increased 

by 15%, in Germany by 19% and in the United Kingdom the 

turnover increased by around 6%. In France the turnover 

decreased, due amongst other things to reorganizations. 

In absolute figures the Benelux and Sweden contributed 

most to the increase in turnover.

By far the largest part of the turnover was achieved 

with our software application Agresso Business World. 

In addition branch-specific software is offered in  

a number of countries, usually in the form of an  

integrated solution based on Agresso Business World. 

In a number of countries, particularly in the Benelux, 

the turnover consists for a large part of products based 

on a different technology. In the countries mentioned 

hereafter Unit 4 Agresso has its own branches for sales, 
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local optimization and maintenance. In dozens of other  

countries sales take place via a Unit 4 Agresso  

organization in a neighbouring country or via an  

external distributor.

In the Benelux the turnover increased to € 54.3 million 

(+15%). Practically all products made a substantial 

contribution towards the increase in turnover. The 

turnover from our applications for health care and for 

salary administration developed extremely well. The 

number of salaries in the Netherlands that are paid out 

via software from Unit 4 Agresso, approached a million 

and it is expected that this milestone will be reached 

in 2006. Good progress was made with the development  

of this application into a fully-fledged personnel  

information system.

The turnover from Unit 4 Multivers, the bookkeeping  

program for SME, developed well. The market position  

in this sector was further strengthened. Successful 

marketing communication, including a starters campaign 

in cooperation with the Chambers of Commerce,  

contributed thereto.

The market improvement in the public sector, which 

started at the end of 2004, continued in 2005. The market 

share on the market for local authorities increased  

partly due to the acquisition of Decade Financial  

Software. Furthermore, the entry into this market  

sector provides good opportunities for cross-selling.

In the United Kingdom the turnover increased to  

€ 38.6 million (+6%). The turnover contribution from 

MCA, which was taken over in September, was still  

marginal. In the first half of the year the turnover 

remained behind due to local council elections. In  

the run-up to this the public sector, in which Unit 4 

Agresso is strongly represented in the United Kingdom, 

hardly makes any decisions with regard to investments. 

In the second half of the year the turnover developed 

well, in both the public and private sectors.

In November the British Department for International 

Development awarded Unit 4 Agresso the order for supply 

and implementation of a new software system based on 

Agresso Business World 5.5. This order, the biggest ever 

received by Unit 4 Agresso, has a total contract value 

of € 17.0 million and is an important confirmation of 

the improved functionality and the superior technology 

of the new 5.5-version.

The turnover in Sweden developed extremely well and 

increased to € 39.5 million (+30%). Strong growth took 

place in the public sector, due amongst other things to 

the acquisition of ESV in 2004 and the optimization of 

the degree of capacity utilization. In the public sector 

the licence turnover was under pressure because many new 

clients, particularly medium-sized local authorities, 

opted for a subscription instead of for the purchase  

of a licence. This does mean an increase in the  

annually recurring turnover these clients generate.  

The private sector also developed well. An important 

contribution was made here by the implementation of 

software for the Ethiopian Electric Power Corporation, 

the main supplier of electricity in Ethiopia. This order 

was won in 2004.

The turnover in Norway also developed well, with an 

increase of 22%. In the government market Unit 4 Agresso 

maintained its strong market position. A large contract 

was concluded with SSO, a financial institution of  

the Norwegian government. The contract represents a 

turnover of € 7 million, which will be achieved over a 

7-year period via a subscription agreement.

In Spain the turnover developed extremely well,  

particularly in the private sector. The turnover  

increased by 40%. The Spanish subsidiary won, amongst 

other things, a large order for software support from a 

large call centre company. In the public sector a good 

turnover increase was achieved in the area of salary 

software and e-procurement. Unit 4 Agresso will develop 

additional functionality based on Agresso Business 

World 5.5. The Spanish organization obtained an order 

for the supply and implementation of software for a  

central government institution in Equatorial Guinea.

In France the turnover decreased by 18%. The sales 

strategy was not well enough executed. For this reason 

the management was replaced and the strategy for 2006 

will be further accentuated. In 2005 a reorganization 

provision was also taken up.
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In Germany the turnover increased by 19%, but the scope 

of the activities is still too limited to be successful. 

Unit 4 Agresso remains in search of a partner or an  

acquisition in Germany, primarily with a view to  

improving the access to the public sector.

In the United States and Canada the turnover increased 

by 27%. Unit 4 Agresso was particularly successful in 

the local government market. In addition, the focus was 

directed at a limited number of private sectors and on 

Central Command, the management information system for 

the travel industry, for which Unit 4 Agresso supplies 

the back-office software.

Operational results

The EBITDA increased by 5% to € 31.8 million. The number 

of existing clients is of great importance for the  

profitability, as the maintenance services for these 

clients form a fixed source of income. That is why  

the biggest contribution towards the EBITDA growth 

originates from the countries in which we have already

been active for a longer time: Sweden, the Benelux,  

the United Kingdom and Norway. The strong growth in 

operational costs and the resultant decrease in the 

EBITDA margin are associated with the reorganizations 

in France and Germany and one-off costs in connection 

with the introduction of Agresso Business World 5.5.

Research & Development

In 2005 the investments in R&D increased slightly to  

€ 24.9 million (+5%). Most of the effort was directed  

at a new version of Agresso Business World, which  

was introduced in the second half of 2005. 

This version offers an improved technological  

architecture and a large number of new functionalities, 

amongst others in the area of reporting in accordance

with IFRS, purchasing, reporting  

techniques and the integration of 

modules for Human Resources and 

projects and of internet and office 

functionalities.

Our R&D focuses primarily on the 

building of additional functionality 

and the improvement of existing  

functionality. One of the important areas currently  

requiring special attention is the extension of  

functionality for personnel information. This provides 

a good supplement to the functionality for project  

management and the salary software, which is already  

being offered in many countries.

In most countries R&D activities are also carried out 

for the benefit of local, specialized applications for 

niche markets. Notwithstanding the limited scale size, 

these often lead to market positions which enable a good 

profit level. The less strong presence of international 

competition plays a role in this.

Operational results Business Software (in  x 1 million)

 Turnover

 Cost of sales

 Gross margin

 Operational costs

 EBITDA

 % gross margin

 % EBITDA

   Development

   2005 vs.  

 2005 2004 2004

 182.6 156.8 17% 

 17.4 14,2  23% 

 165.2  142.6 16% 

 133.4 112.4 19% 

 31.8 30.2  5%

 90.5% 90.9% -0.4% 

 17.4% 19.3%  -10%

Translated from: De Telegraaf, 2 August 2000
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Activities

The Internet & Security division sells security  

software from third parties and provides services  

for implementation and maintenance of data security. 

Unit 4 Agresso offers specialized know-how and  

customized solutions with added value for the complete 

security process: from risk analysis to implementation,  

optimization and maintenance of the security.  

The internet activities are focused on investigation,  

implementation and optimization of internet applications.

Turnover development

The turnover increased in 2005 to € 170 million (+59%), 

which included an unprecedented high turnover in the 

month of December. The turnover from the activities 

originating from Risc Technology was for the first time 

included for a full year. In 2004 these activities were 

consolidated with effect from July. The acquisition of 

Foundation, which took place in January 2005, also had 

an effect on the turnover growth. The organic growth  

of the turnover amounted to approximately 20%. The  

dollar exchange rate had a slight positive effect on  

the turnover.

Compared with previous years, the categorization of the  

turnover was amended. Previously, certain hardware 

sales were included under ‘others’. From 2005 there  

are two categories: products (software and hardware) 

and services. The comparative figures were adjusted  

accordingly.

Products 

The component products showed a strong increase, due 

amongst other things to larger orders, an expansion 

in the number of suppliers and the consolidation of 

the former activities of Risc Technology. The turnover 

from products increased by 58% to € 149.0 million. The 

turnover particularly grew in the areas of anti-spam, 

intrusion prevention, anti-spyware and encryption. An 

important technological development was the integration 

of various product lines, such as those for firewalls 

and intrusion prevention. The introduction of  

the new integrated products, which ensure a better  

coordination between different functions, made an  

important contribution to the turnover increase in 

products. The turnover in preventive anti-virus  

products also grew strongly, but the margins of this 

product group came under further pressure.

Services

The turnover from services increased by 72% to 

 € 21.0 million. All services developed well.  

Professional services for support of prevention  

systems provided the biggest contribution to the  

turnover growth. This concerns both services for  

preparation of implementations at clients’ offices  

and maintenance contracts. The newer services directed 

at mobility showed a distinct growth, particularly  

in the Benelux and the United Kingdom/Ireland. Due to 

the increasing complexity of networks and threats, the 

demand from larger companies for management systems 

also increased.

The turnover in remote managed services (on-line  

security management), offered under the name of 4Sure.IT, 

grew in accordance with expectations. 

Within this type of service,  

especially the demand for firewalls 

and intrusion prevention increased. 

The client satisfaction in this  

sector is extremely high. The demand 

originates from small and medium-sized 

companies and large companies alike. The security and  

network management of home workplaces for larger  

companies is developing unexpectedly successfully. 

The most important initiatives in 2005

Every year many initiatives take place in order to 

strengthen our market positions. This concerns quality 

improvement, expansion of our services, new contracts 

with suppliers for the sale of (potentially) successful 

products and improvements in marketing and sales or in 

the organization. An overview of the most important  

initiatives of the past year is given hereafter.

Security directed at mobility

All connections and hardware concerned with mobility 

are susceptible to new dangers in the area of viruses 

     
Turnover Internet & Security division (in  x 1 million)

 Products 

 Services

 Total 

    Development 2005 2004 

    2005 vs. as % as %

  2005 2004 2004 of total of total

  149.0 94. 6 58% 88% 89% 

   21.0 12.2 72% 12% 11%

   170.0 106.8 59% 100% 100%

Developments in Internet & Security
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and intrusion. This does not only apply to users of  

mobile telephones, laptops or PDAs, but also to  

home workers. The development and marketing of our  

services directed at the security of mobile devices,  

have been intensified. The turnover from this service  

is still limited, but grew distinctly in 2005. 

Acquisition of Foundation

Since January 2005 Foundation has formed a part of  

Unit 4 Agresso. Foundation has a portfolio of ICT  

services which complement our existing services well 

and provide Unit 4 Agresso with access to the sector of 

completely outsourced security and network management, 

so-called ‘outsourced managed services’. These services 

consist of the supply of customized solutions and  

permanent management of the security, including  

network management. Another of the supplementary  

services provided by Foundation, is Training.

Mail4Sure

Mail4Sure is a new service which was added to our  

managed services portfolio. Under the motto ‘Your  

e-mail as pure as water’ Mail4Sure cleanses all  

mail from spam, viruses and spyware via an internet  

connection with the client’s provider. Only after 

that is the mail forwarded to the client. This type of 

service means a relief of the installed security at 

the client and provides Unit 4 Agresso with efficiency 

advantages.

Support for management platforms

Major clients are more often confronted with the growing 

complexity of their network, due amongst other things to 

international connections. Unit 4 Agresso responds to 

the increasing demand for management systems with its 

products and services. The contract that was concluded 

with Symantec during the past year, who offers excellent 

products in this area, enables a good access to this 

sector.

New supplier contracts

Our market position made it possible to conclude  

important new contracts with product suppliers. In  

addition to the abovementioned contract with Symantec, 

contracts were concluded with, among others, Aruba,  

for the security of wireless networks, and Infoblox,  

for a more simple management of company DNSs (Domain 

Name System, the system and protocol used on the  

internet for translation of domain names into IP  

addresses and vice versa). These will function as a 

catalyst for further growth.

Evaluation of earlier announced initiatives

The initiatives already announced last year for 2005 

were: expansion of the number of product lines, increase 

in scale via existing and new activities (in order to, 

among other things, further increase the added value  

for suppliers), growth by means of continuous focus  

on services with added value, and reduction of the 

transaction costs per order by means of process  

optimization in the central European distribution  

centre.

In particular the number of product lines in the area 

of e-business, for the stimulation of a better and more 

constant use of existing infrastructure, was expanded. 

This resulted in both an increase in the number of  

clients and in a better degree of penetration  

with existing clients. This evolution contributed  

considerably towards the organic growth. Due to  

the acquisition of Foundation together with our own 

initiatives, including Mail4Sure, new growth was also 

achieved via new activities. The services with added 

value again contributed substantially to the EBITDA. 

Completion of integrations enabled the European  

distribution centre to optimize the distribution  

process. Growth via acquisition(s) was only achieved  

in a limited degree and remains on the agenda.

Developments per region

The countries with the strongest market positions,  

the Benelux and France, realized the strongest increase 

in turnover. The turnover growth here was equally  

divided over all market sectors. In France, Belgium,  

the Netherlands, Germany and the United Kingdom the 

turnover increase was positively influenced by the 

former activities of Risc Technology, which were  

consolidated as from July 2004. This effect was the 

strongest in France, where the turnover more than  

doubled. At a more modest level, the turnover  

also increased in the United Kingdom due to this  

consolidation effect. Following initial losses in 2004 

the profitability in the United Kingdom developed in  

accordance with expectations and the market share shows 

a clear growth.

Annual Report 2005



2�

Unit4Agresso Annual Report 2005

In the Netherlands there were start-up problems in  

the first half of the year at Foundation, following  

the acquisition in January 2005. There was a definite 

improvement however in the second half of the year  

following a management change. We anticipate that this 

improvement will continue in 2006.

Besides the effects of consolidation the turnover  

development in all countries was good, with the  

exception of Germany and Italy. In Germany the year’s 

turnover fell as a result of a reorganization, in which 

two branches were closed down. 

In Italy turnover and profit were lower than expected 

due to price pressure in the market. The scope of our 

activities was still limited here. Two large contracts 

with suppliers, which were signed in January 2006, will 

ensure that the activities in 2006 will be profitable.

Operational results

EBITDA

The EBITDA increased to € 7.2 million (+16%).  

The takeover of Risc Technology in 2004 generated a 

strong positive effect. The organic turnover growth in 

Internet & Security amounted to 20%. In 2005 the number 

of offices in Germany was reduced. The company NOXS  

Germany was completely liquidated. As required by  

IFRS, the results of this liquidated company have  

been included separately. The comparative figures  

have been modified accordingly.

Gross margin
The average gross margin decreased from 26.5% to 24.7%. This decrease can be mainly attributed to the strong growth in products. The gross margin on products is lower than the margin on services.

Cost management
The total operational costs increased due to the  acquisitions of Risc Technology in 2004 and  
Foundation in 2005. The organic operational costs per FTE, excluding the one-off reorganization costs, did not increase, whilst the turnover per employee did rise. The efficiency in this area will further increase due to modernization of business software and improvement of the management information system within Internet & Security.

Operational results Internet & Security (in  x 1 million)

 Turnover

 Cost of sales

 Gross margin

 Operational costs

 EBITDA

 % gross margin

 % EBITDA

 2005 2004 Development

   2005 vs. 2004

 170.0 106.8 59% 

 128.0 78.5 63%

 42.0 28.3 48%

 34.8 22.1 57% 

 7.2 6.2  16%

 24,7% 26,5% -7%

 4.2% 5.8% -28%

   

Gross margin
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The net result before impairment increased in 2005 by 

26% to € 25.0 million. The net result grew by 20% to  

€ 17.7 million. The earnings per share before  

impairment rose by 24% to € 0.97 (2004: € 0.78). 

The EBITDA rose by € 2.6 million to € 39.0 million, 

which amounts to an increase of 7%.

In the first half of the year the EBITDA (IFRS) amounted 

to € 16.3 million, and in the second half of the year  

to € 22.7 million. This difference was caused by the 

seasonal pattern, primarily in the area of licences.  

In the first half of the year the turnover amounted  

to € 161.6 million, and in the second half to € 191.0 

million.

The total turnover in 2005 increased by 34% to € 352.6 

million. The gross margin increased by € 36.3 million, 

mainly due to additional turnover from maintenance 

contracts and increased licence turnover. The personnel 

costs increased by 27% whilst the average number  

of personnel increased by 17%. An average of 1,970  

employees (FTE) worked at Unit 4 Agresso in 2005.

Depreciations increased by € 5.2 million to € 12.0 million 

due to increased depreciation of the acquisitions  

(customer contracts and actived software) and an  

impairment charge. 

The group capital increased in 2005 to an amount of 

€ 108.9 million, an increase of 20% compared with 2004 

(€ 91.1 million). The solvency (the share of the group 

equity compared to the total capital) increased to 43.5% 

(2004: 41.3%).

Part of the capital consists of goodwill and activated and 

acquired software development costs. These development 

costs are only capitalized when all capitalization  

criteria have been fulfilled. For the goodwill, a so-

called impairment test is carried out at least once a  

year in order to test the valuation. In total the amount 

of these intangible fixed assets comes to € 85.9 million 

(2004: € 75.2 million). The growth of the goodwill is  

explained by the acquisitions which took place in 2005. 

The increase in the development costs is related on  

the one hand to the products of the acquisitions and  

on the other hand to internally-developed software.

The internally-developed software concerns mainly  

the development of Agresso Business World and  

localizations of this product. The total R&D costs  

amounted to € 24.9 million in 2005 (2004: € 23.7 million). 

Out of this amount € 9.3 million was capitalized in  

2005 (2004: € 7.7 million). The 21% increase concerning 

activated software is related to the new version of  

the software application Agresso Business World.  

Depreciations on the software developed rose by 68% to  

€ 4.2 million (2004: € 2.5 million).

The operating capital (excluding cash at bank and in 

hand) increased in 2005 by € 28.3 million to an amount 

of € 22.4 million. This increase is mainly the result  

of the, compared to the € 48.0 million of December  

2004, relatively high turnover of € 70.0 million  

(including VAT) in December 2005. As of balance sheet 

date the amounts invoiced have not yet been fully  

received and therefore burden the operating capital. 

This also influences the cash position. Because of  

the high turnover in December, earn-out payments and 

aquisitions that were financed from Unit 4 Agresso’s  

own resources, the net cash position dropped with  

€ 15.3 million.

Financial summary

The total turnover
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Risk management in general
The management of Unit 4 Agresso is responsible for the 

internal risk management and control systems and, as 

far as possible, for actively managing the strategic, 

financial and operational risks Unit 4 Agresso has to 

deal with. 

When carrying out its activities, Unit 4 Agresso has  

to deal with business risks such as macro-economic 

developments, seasonal influences, changing market 

circumstances, new competition, changing purchasing 

margins, fluctuations in supply and demand and the speed 

with which new technologies are accepted. In addition, 

it is possible that risks which are currently not  

recognized, or are deemed as not material, will later 

turn out to have an important negative effect on the 

ability of Unit 4 Agresso to realize its corporate 

objectives. Our internal risk management and control 

systems are geared to the timely identification of  

these risks.

In order to manage the effects of these developments,  

an analysis of the risks is carried out periodically 

for every organizational unit of Unit 4 Agresso. On  

the basis of this analysis every organization within  

Unit 4 Agresso must then draw up a plan for risk  

management that forms part of the business plan. 

In addition Unit 4 Agresso operates in accordance with 

directives in the area of internal control, financial 

reporting and investment decisions, making intensive 

use of its own software which has been integrated over 

the entire width of the organization. In addition to 

quantitative aspects, information provision also  

contains qualitative aspects, such as the development 

of the prospect portfolio and the capacity usage of  

the consultants.

The risk management and internal management system  

of Unit 4 Agresso consists of the following main  

components:

• Guidelines and consultation structures

• Reporting and analysis

• Inspection visits

Guidelines and  

consultation  

structures

The following  

important management 

measures (guidelines  

and policy rules) exist 

within Unit 4 Agresso:

•  guidelines (manual) 

with regard to  

financial reporting;

•  corporate governance 

structure laid down in 

articles of association and internal regulations;

•  treasury policy plan which sets out objectives and 

policy rules for cash and foreign currency management 

and financing;

•  guidelines with regard to budgeting and annual plans;

•  annual consultation with the Supervisory Board, in 

which the most important risks and mitigating measures 

are discussed in detail;

•  management regulations in which specific (conduct) 

rules and authorizations are regulated for all  

operating company directors. As of 2005 this is  

further formalized;

•  regulations and recording for transfer pricing;

•  monthly meetings between division management and  

members of the Board of Directors to discuss progress 

and relevant matters.

Reporting and analysis (per operating company)

Reporting within Unit 4 Agresso is geared to being  

able to gain timely, effective and efficient insight 

into the degree in which strategic and financial  

objectives are achieved. The communication of financial 

and management information takes place in accordance 

with the guidelines which have been laid down within the 

reporting system. All operating companies report via a 

uniform procedure. The most important reports are:

•  annual budget including business plan;

•  daily reporting on cash position (cash pool);

•   every quarter, detailed financial information on the 

expected outcome of the annual budget (estimate);

•  detailed monthly financial results compared to the 

budget and preceding years;

•  detailed qualitative information per month  

(development of pipeline, capacity usage of  

consultants, order portfolio, development of  

operating capital and R&D projects);

Risks and risk management

Reporting and

Translated from: De Telegraaf, 4 April 2003
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•  monthly written reports of account of local  

management on relevant matters such as receivables, 

personnel affairs, possible claims, market  

expectations, competitive position, analysis of  

monthly result and other risks.

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that systematic 

and regular reporting of the development of the most  

significant risks for Unit 4 Agresso is a vital aspect  

of the demonstrability of the effectiveness of the  

internal risk management system. In addition to the  

reports, timely and thorough analysis and consolidation 

of the financial management information is a critical  

success factor. The consolidation and analyses are  

carried out at the head office by the Corporate Finance 

Department (CFD) which reports directly to the CFO.

Inspection visits

Unit 4 Agresso consists of a large number of operating 

companies which are responsible for the local internal 

control, financial reporting and risk management. With  

regard to reporting to the head office, it is important 

that there is structural consultation between the  

local financial management and the head office.  

In addition to this consultation there are regular  

inspection visits from CFD. These inspection visits are 

carried out on location and are geared to determining  

that all reporting takes place timely and reliably, and 

that risk management and the management measures are  

executed adequately. In addition, CFD advises on the  

further optimization of the internal management system.

In addition to the aforementioned internal control,  

all the regular audits are carried out by external  

accountants (primarily Ernst & Young).

Based on the reports of these audits, its own  

observations and past experience, the Board of  

Directors states that the risk management and internal 

management system, as outlined above, functioned  

properly in the 2005 reporting year. The true  

effectiveness can only be assessed on the basis of  

the results over a longer period of time and/or on the 

basis of specific review of the design, the existence 

and the working of the internal management measures.  

In a rapidly changing world with ever new challenges, 

ever further reaching demands are set for internal  

risk management processes and the review thereof, so 

that these processes can always stand improvement.

The policy of the Board of Directors remains geared  

to the continual review and improvement of the risk  

management system in order to optimize the reliability 

and effectiveness of these processes and the monitoring 

thereof as much as possible and to adjust them where  

necessary.

Reservation: No matter how well we have set up our  

internal risk management and control system, it can  

never offer absolute certainty that objectives in the 

area of strategy, operation, reporting and compliance 

with legislation will always be reached. Reality shows 

that when making decisions human errors of judgment can 

be made, that cost/benefit considerations always have 

to be made when accepting risks and taking management 

measures, that even simple errors or mistakes through 

Translated from: Volkskrant, 5 March 1998
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human failing can cause signi
ficant losses and that  

conspiring functionaries can 
lead to circumvention  

of internal control measures.
 Finally it is possible 

that management insufficientl
y observes agreements 

made.

Strategic risks

Economic climate and seasonal in
fluences

Unit 4 Agresso’s flow of reve
nue primarily consists  

of the sale of licences, main
tenance contracts and  

services. The latter componen
t mainly consists of  

implementation and support. T
he economic climate and 

the related willingness to in
vest have an immediate  

impact on the number of new l
icences and the related 

maintenance contracts and ser
vices. Outsourcing of 

implementation work, especial
ly in periods of boom, 

cushions part of the negative
 consequences of a possible 

lapse of the market. The reve
nues from maintenance  

contracts are far less suscep
tible to the economic  

climate. These revenues come 
from the existing  

clientele and are recurring. 
At present 20% of the  

total turnover comes from mai
ntenance contracts. Due  

to the fact that this turnove
r category rose sharpest  

in 2005, we can say that the r
isk profile has improved.

The sensitivity to economic f
luctuations lies in  

particular in the area of new
 licences. Partly due  

to the seasonal influences th
is kind of revenue flow 

entails a specific risk. The 
months of June and December 

are very important, not least
 because they immediately 

precede a ‘natural’ starting 
time for the use of new 

software. A risk-reducing fac
tor for licences and  

services is the fact that ove
r two thirds of the  

turnover is achieved from the
 existing clientele.

Turnover spread

A balanced spread of turnover 
and profit from various 

countries and markets is impor
tant to avoid being  

dependent on the results of a 
specific country or a  

specific market. Compared to p
revious years, Unit 4 

Agresso was able to ensure a b
etter spread of the risk  

in 2005. Not only because Unit
 4 Agresso is active in 

different markets but also thr
ough the long relations 

with various clients.

Geographically speaking, the 
turnover of Unit 4 Agresso 

is spread as follows: Benelux
 (43%), Scandinavia (17%), 

France (17%), the United King
dom and Ireland (13%), 

Germany (4%), Spain (3%), Uni
ted States of America and 

Canada (2%) and other countri
es (1%).

The vertical markets in which Unit 4 Agresso is active 

are the public sector (local and central governments, 

health care, non-profit organizations, universities and 

schools), professional service providers, wholesale and 

distribution companies.

Risks of harm in acquisitions

Risk management is an important part of the acquisition 

policy. In order to control the risks when executing 

this policy, Unit 4 Agresso has formulated the following 

positions:

•  In principle, acquisitions must immediately  

contribute to the earnings per share and a return 

requirement is observed whilst maintaining healthy 

balance sheet ratios.

•  Unit 4 Agresso looks closely at the quality of the 

management and attaches great importance to the 

involvement of selling directors/stakeholders. To 

achieve this commitment, use is made of earn-out 

structures in which amongst other things a (limited) 

package of shares in Unit 4 Agresso can be issued. In 

principle a lock-up scheme applies to these packages.

•  The acquisitions must correspond with the strategy 

of the organization as a whole and must contribute to 

strengthening the position of Unit 4 Agresso on the 

intended key markets.

•  Finally the company culture of the takeover candidate 

must correspond with that of Unit 4 Agresso to promote 

integration into and cooperation with the existing 

organization.

Competitive position

In terms of size, Unit 4 Agresso has a position in  

the middle of the market compared to the other players. 

The difference in size between Unit 4 Agresso and  

its most important competitors directly affects  

its competitive position. The larger companies in  

principle have more budget for R&D and can invest  

more easily in new activities and products and  

theoretically have greater resilience in case of 

setbacks. Unit 4 Agresso’s size forms a risk when  

making large investments and important acquisitions. 

Decisions in this area have a relatively large impact  

on the results.

Unit 4 Agresso’s reply to this risk is ‘focus’. The 

competitive position of Unit 4 Agresso depends on its 

ability to put distinctive products on the market. 

achieved
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That is why Unit 4 Agresso concentrates on a number of 

specific vertical markets with technological concepts 

it has developed itself. Specialization, reliability, 

flexibility and low total cost of ownership are the most 

important elements in this.

Technological risks

R&D

R&D is one of the critical success factors for the  

company. The development of new products and  

technologies requires a lot of time. Depending on the 

technology applied, it can take three to seven years. 

That means high investments and a small tolerance for 

failures or late introduction of products. Unit 4  

Agresso spends 14% of the turnover of the Business  

Software division on R&D. In absolute terms this is a  

substantially lower amount than a number of competitors 

earmark for this purpose. This forces Unit 4 Agresso to 

maintain a sharp focus and increase the number of  

clients by means of alliances and acquisitions. The R&D 

activities of Unit 4 Agresso are controlled centrally by 

one director who is responsible for corporate R&D.

Operational risks

Debtors

As a sales organization, Unit 4 Agresso has debtor 

risks. By means of careful investigation of  

creditworthiness and the system that use can only be 

made of the software after payment (by means of annually 

changing PIN codes), the risk of non-payment is limited. 

Only in cases of bankruptcy or possible product and  

implementation problems is the risk increased.

Credit control was further intensified in 2005.  

This can in particular be seen in the relatively low 

debtor position that Unit 4 Agresso has had for years.

Financial risks
Currency risks

Unit 4 Agresso’s financial statements are in euros.  

The Unit 4 Agresso group operates with operating companies  

throughout Europe and is represented in the United 

States and Canada as well. This causes the group to be 

subject to fluctuations between the reporting currency 

and the different functional currencies formed by the 

local currencies of the economic regions in which the 

operating companies operate. An important part of 

Unit 4 Agresso’s results is realized in non-euro 

countries, mainly being Norway, Sweden and the United 

Kingdom. If deemed necessary, Unit 4 Agresso uses  

financial instruments such as different forms of  

options and forward contracts to safeguard its results 

as much as possible.

Interest rate risks

Unit 4 Agresso is only partly liable to interest rate 

risks because it has nearly no long-term agreements with 

third parties including an interest fee. The funding of 

the group is monitored and managed on consolidated level 

by means of which interest rate agreements concerning 

operating companies in the different countries are  

centralized as much as possible.

Credit risks

Unit 4 Agresso assesses the creditworthiness of its 

clients and customers, both with new clients and on a 

continuous basis if deemed necessary. In specific cases 

advice is obtained from credit agencies.

Liquidity risks

Unit 4 Agresso’s goal is to strike a balance between 

continuity and flexibility of financing through the use 

of bank overdrafts, cash borrowings, factoring of trade 

receivables and financial lease and rental contracts.

acquisitions
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In 2005 the number of employees grew mainly as  

a result of three acquisitions. In all countries  

initiatives took place in order to further improve  

the professionalism of employees and the efficiency 

within the organization. Unit 4 Agresso has a number  

of centrally formulated basic principles in the area  

of employees and organization. For the remainder,  

the policy in this area is optimized per region and  

per operating company.

The total number of employees (FTE) increased in 2005 by 

286 to 2,091 employees (+19%). Of these, 1,678 employees 

are working for Business Software and 413 employees for 

Internet & Security.

The increase is mainly the result of the acquisitions  

of the Dutch company Foundation (Internet & Security) 

and the British company MCA (Business Software).  

Both Foundation and MCA employed approx 100 employees.  

Organically, the number of employees increased slightly. 

The average number of employees (FTE) increased by 17% 

to 1,970 (+293). A further growth in the number of  

employees is expected in 2006.

Quality improvement and cost management

In the Benelux the Business Software division operates 

the programme High Performance Organization, which is 

directed at continuous organizational improvement. The 

programme promotes not only result-focused management 

and assessment of managers, but also result-focused 

working of all other employees. All managers make  

clear agreements with their employees with regard to  

objectives and results. The programme was started in 

2004 and was followed with new initiatives in 2005.

Good experiences were gained with the use, amongst  

others, of financial reporting based on progressive 

prognoses and the implementation of an own profit and 

loss account for more departments. The more precise  

allocation of income and costs to the responsible  

departments provided more insight into the possibilities 

for quality improvement and cost management. A special 

point of interest in this is the calculable degree  

of capacity utilization of our consultants. As a  

supplement to the result-oriented assessments,  

agreements were also made in 2005 for competence  

management.

Effective sponsoring

Among the requirements for becoming recognized as a High 

Performance Organization, are a good awareness and a 

clear corporate identity. Research has shown that Unit 4 

Agresso in the Netherlands has invested successfully  

in the past years in the improvement of the awareness. 

Co-sponsoring of the premier division, the highest  

national soccer competition, made an important  

contribution to this. During the coming years we will 

explain more emphatically who we are and what we do in 

order to clarify and strengthen our corporate identity.

Corporate culture

The culture of Unit 4 Agresso is focused on the  

achievement of objectives which are clearly  

communicated in advance. Transparency in oral and  

written communication is characteristic of Unit 4 

Agresso as a whole. In present-day operational  

management, change is a given. It is therefore  

important that the management of the enterprise is able 

to manage these changes. The informal organization of 

Unit 4 Agresso and the short lines between management 

and employees guarantee the unambiguous values upon 

which the Unit 4 Agresso employees focus: integrity, 

pride in the company and in the work that you do, and 

loyalty. However, with the growth of the company it is 

also important to embed these values into the way in 

which we interact with each other.

Personnel, organization
and environment

Translated from: He
t Financieele Dagbl

ad, 22 August 2001
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Social responsibility

Unit 4 Agresso strives for more diversity in the work 

force and expressly offers opportunities to people from 

disadvantaged groups. Traditionally, there is close  

cooperation with educational institutions in the  

different regions. Unit 4 Agresso offers students the 

opportunity to get to know the company in many different 

ways. Both on the initiative of the company and on the 

initiative of employees, attention and money are paid to 

charitable causes.

Training and development

Unit 4 Agresso has a clear growth strategy. In order  

to carry this out, the availability and quality  

of management are important success factors. 

Our training is explicitly geared to the principles of 

a High Performance Organization. The training policy 

has two objectives. Firstly, it must enable the company 

to achieve its objectives by means of trained and  

well-educated employees. Secondly, it must offer the 

employees the opportunity to develop themselves both 

professionally and personally.

Remuneration

In all operating companies the total remuneration  

package is in line with the accepted remuneration 

structures (primary and secondary) in the countries 

and regions concerned. The primary remuneration of the 

direct employees consists of a fixed part and a variable 

part. The level of the variable part is dependent upon 

personal effort and the results of the company.

Works council

Constructive consultations were held with the staff 

consultative bodies. For the works council of the parent 

company the most important themes of discussion were the 

fringe benefits and the changes in the Dutch law from  

1 January 2006 with regard to the health care system and 

the life-course savings scheme.

Following the many acquisitions of previous years a 

hotchpotch of fringe benefits was created, sometimes 

with great differences between them. The management 

made a proposal to the works council for a new set of 

employment conditions. The works council then sought 

external advice and on the basis of the resulting  

recommendations discussions were resumed. These  

discussions are expected to be completed at the  

beginning of 2006 and from that moment onwards the  

new employment conditions can be implemented by all  

the Dutch companies. Furthermore, the management  

has involved the works council at an early stage in  

the plans for new accommodation in Sliedrecht,  

the Netherlands.

The composition of the works council remained  

unchanged. The works council is of the opinion that the  

sub-committees, whereby each committee represents  

an operating company, functioned satisfactorily.  

The fact that not all business units are represented  

in the works council of the parent company, and that not 

all operating companies have their own sub-committees, 

remains a point of concern for the works council.  

Expectations are that this situation will improve with 

the works council elections in the middle of 2006.

Once a year the management holds discussions with  

the works council of the parent company with regard  

to the general routine within Unit 4 Agresso N.V.  

The Supervisory Board is also represented in these  

discussions. It appears time and time again that an  

open dialogue with the employees provides a great deal 

of clarity and positively influences the working  

atmosphere.

Environment 

Being an ICT company Unit 4 Agresso develops all its  

products and services in offices. Compared to other  

industries the environmental impact is therefore limited. 

Nevertheless, thought for the environment is an integral 

part of the practices of our operating companies, that are 

aimed at efficiency and cost control.

A small part of Unit 4 Agresso’s activities concerns the 

delivery of physical third party IT security products to 

dealers and end users. The efficiency and environmental 

impact of these activities were improved in 2005 with the 

completion of a central European distribution centre in 

Wemmel, Belgium.

In the building plans for Unit 4 Agresso’s new head office 

serious thought is given to energy efficiency and the use 

of durable materials. Both the current and the new head 

office are situated across from a railway station.

 

Sliedrecht, 28 February 2006

The Board of Directors,

Chris Ouwinga

Edwin van Leeuwen

Harry De Smedt

development

explicitly
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Corporate Governance
General

Unit 4 Agresso recognizes the importance of the Dutch 

Corporate Governance Code and continues to strive to 

observe the code as much as possible. In the annual 

report for 2004, the extent to which the Principles and 

Best Practice Stipulations of the Code are observed by 

Unit 4 Agresso was reviewed point by point, taking into 

account the obligations in accordance with article 391 

paragraphs 4 and 5 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, 

and the Resolution of 23 December 2004 regarding  

establishment of further regulations relating to the 

content of the annual report. No changes have taken 

place in 2005 which necessitate a revision to this  

point by point review.

Publication via the website

Partly via its website http://www.unit4agresso.com, 

Unit 4 Agresso publicizes how the subject of Corporate 

Governance is applied within its organization.  

Amongst other things, the articles of association,  

the regulations of the Supervisory Board and the  

Board of Directors, the remuneration policy and the 

whistleblower procedure can be called up via the  

website.

Investigation into compliance
As stated in the report of the Corporate Governance Code Monitoring Committee dated 20 December 2005, the Code is observed to a high degree by listed companies in the Netherlands. In this respect, Unit 4 Agresso has taken part in, amongst other things, an extensive survey  carried out by the State University of Groningen and commissioned by the Monitoring Committee.

Internal control and risk management
In accordance with the Principles and Best Practice Stipulations of the Code, a report is included in the management report with regard to the operation of the internal risk management and control systems within Unit 4 Agresso, which includes the statement that  these internal risk management and control systems  are adequate and effective.

Translated from: AD Dordtenaar, 18 November 2005
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Report from the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board presents the annual report 2005 of U

nit 4 Agresso N.V. We discussed the financial statements  

prepared by the Board of Directors of Unit 4 Agresso N.V. 
in the presence of the company’s external auditors.  

The financial statements were audited by Ernst & Young Acc
ountants, Rotterdam. The auditors’ report is included on  

page 104 of this document. 

We advise the General Meeting of Shareholders to approve t
he 2005 financial statements. The discharge of the Board o

f 

Directors for their management in 2005 and of the Supervis
ory Board for their supervision are included as separate 

items on the agenda of the General Meeting of Shareholders
.

During the year under review the Supervisory Board discuss
ed the business progress of Unit 4 Agresso N.V. regularly 

and in depth. To this end the entire Supervisory Board met
 formally seven times. There was also informal contact  

between the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board. 

During the meetings special attention was paid to:

• the strategy of the company as a whole and the developme
nt of the group results;

• acquisitions and the integration of these acquisitions;

• the developments regarding Corporate Governance (Tabaksb
lat commission);

• risks and risk management.

The functioning of both the Board of Directors and the Sup
ervisory Board was discussed during a meeting of the  

Supervisory Board in the absence of the Board of Directors
. The entire Supervisory Board has discussed, again in the

 

absence of the Board of Directors, the staffing, successio
n and remuneration of the Board of Directors. At present, 

the Board’s remuneration consists of a fixed salary and a 
variable pay. This latter component is dependent on the 

achievement of profit and growth objectives.

During the General Meeting of Shareholders on 11 May 2005 
mr Th.J. Mulder has stepped down from the Supervisory Boar

d 

for personal reasons. During the same meeting mr E.D. Wier
sma was appointed member of the Supervisory Board. For the

 

next annual meeting a proposal to reappoint mr P. Smits as
 member of the Supervisory Board will be on the agenda. 

A regulation specifying the working method and profile of 
the Supervisory Board was adopted earlier. This regulation

 

is available from the company’s website. No options were i
ssued to the members of the Supervisory Board during the 

year 2005. 

The year 2005 was characterized by a hesitant market recov
ery and tentative growth. Unit 4 Agresso’s result develope

d 

satisfactorily. We would like to take this opportunity to 
express our appreciation for the efforts of the Board of 

Directors and employees of Unit 4 Agresso N.V. which have 
led to this result.

Sliedrecht, 28 February 2006

drs. Th.J. van der Raadt, chairman

J.A. Vunderink

ir. P. Smits

mr. E.D. Wiersma

items
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Information for shareholders
Listing 

The shares of Unit 4 Agresso are listed at the Euronext Stock Exchange Amsterdam. The Unit 4 Agresso share is part  

of the Amsterdam Small cap indeX (AScX). This index consists of the 25 most traded small caps. The AScX is a natural 

extension of the successful AEX index, which is made up of the 25 most traded Blue Chips in Amsterdam, and the  

Amsterdam Midkap index, which also hosts 25 equities. 

At year-end 2005 Unit 4 Agresso had 25,717,571 shares issued with a nominal  

value of 5,0 euro cents and the market capitalization amounted to 

approximately € 313 million.

Symbols

The symbols used most often for Unit 4 Agresso are:

• Euronext: NL000003830896

• Reuters: UNI4.AS

• Bloomberg: U4AGR NA

Dividend

The organization’s goal in the (medium to) long term is to pay out profit in the form of dividend. A strong solvency, 

sufficient resistance and sufficient freely available funds to finance further growth are essential in this,  

especially at a time when the capital market is still insufficiently accessible. Taking this into account, the Board 

of Directors has decided, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to add the profit to the retained earnings. 

This is in accordance with the powers of decision under the articles of association of the Board of Directors.

Options

Unit 4 Agresso has an option scheme for the management. Within the framework of this option scheme 655,056 options 

were outstanding at the end of 2005                 For further information, see the Notes to the consolidated  

income statement.

Financial agenda

28 February 2006 : publication annual results 2005, Amsterdam

10 May 2006 : General Meeting of Shareholders, Stationspark 200, Sliedrecht, the Netherlands

17 August 2006 : publication half-yearly results 2006, Amsterdam

27 February 2007 : publication annual results 2006, Amsterdam

The above dates are subject to reservation.

More information

The website www.unit4agresso.com contains the most recent financial and other information, such as press releases, 

half-yearly results and presentations for analysts regarding the publication of results. The information from this 

and previous annual reports can be consulted and downloaded.

(2004: 896,294).
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Financial statements
Consolidated income statement for the financial year 2005

( x 1,000)

 Continuing operations

 Products

 Services and other

 Contracts and subscriptions 

 Revenue

 

 Cost of sales 

 Gross profit 

 Employee costs

 Other operating expenses

 Operating result before depreciation and impairment (EBITDA)

 

 Depreciation and impairment of intangible and tangible assets

 Operating result (EBIT)

 Finance costs

 Finance revenue

 Profit before tax

 Income tax expense 

 Profit for the year from continuing operations

 Discontinued operations

 Result for the year from discontinued operations  

 Profit for the year

 Attributable to shareholders of Unit 4 Agresso 

 Earnings per share in € (attributable to shareholders of  

 Unit 4 Agresso)

 Basic earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share attributable to continuing operations

 Diluted earnings per share

 Diluted earnings per share attributable to continuing operations

 Profit after tax before goodwill impairment*

 Earnings per share in € (attributable to shareholders of   

 Unit 4 Agresso)

 Basic earnings per share (before goodwill impairment)*

 Diluted earnings per share (before goodwill impairment)*

1. Consolidated income statement

 Notes 2005 2004

  194,994 135,742  

  87,166 68,782  

  70,478 59,030  

 5.7 352,638 263,554  

  

  145,484 92,671  

  207,154 170,883  

  

 5.9.1 140,847 110,569  

 5.9.3 27,269 23,954  

  39,038 36,360  

  

 5.9.2 12,032 6,830  

  27,006 29,530  

  

 5.9.4 4,379 4,174  

 5.9.5 4,461 4,645  

  27,088 30,001  

 5.9.6 6,163 9,919

  20,925 20,082 

 5.9.7 -3,203 -5,353

  17,722 14,729

     

  17,722 14,729

 5.10.10.4

  0.69 0.58  

  0.81 0.79  

  0.68 0.57  

  0.80 0.78

  24,950 19,840

  

  0.97 0.78  

  0.96 0.77

  * including depreciation of customer contracts and acquired software development costs
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2. Consolidated balance sheet

 Notes 2005 2004

 5.10.1 85,892 75,199  

 5.10.2 9,222 7,084 

 5.10.3 59 56 

 5.10.4 2,219 4,333 

 5.10.5 4,765 6,366  

  102,157 93,038  

  

 5.10.6 8,848 6,703  

 5.10.7 116,804 91,641  

  3,058 9 

 5.10.8 3,160 1,791  

 5.10.9 16,463 27,260  

  148,333 127,404 

  250,490 220,442

 5.10.10.1 1,286 1,285  

 5.10.10.2 251,663 251,557  

 5.10.10.3 -4 66  

  -144,020 -161,841  

  108,925 91,067  

  

 5.10.11.1 831 891  

 5.10.11.2 517 260  

 5.10.11.3 8,676 1,098  

 5.10.11.4 5,447 9,001  

  15,471 11,250  

    

 5.10.11.4 9,959 2,543  

 5.10.12.1 36,005 42,498  

 5.10.12.2 16,617 12,087  

  3,808 8,043  

 5.10.12.3 17,633 13,640  

 5.10.12.4 42,072 39,314  

  126,094 118,125  

  250,490 220,442 

  

Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2005 

( x 1,000)

 Assets

 Non-current assets

 Intangible assets     

 Tangible assets       

 Investment in associates       

 Other financial assets         

 Deferred tax asset         

   

 Current assets 

 Inventories        

 Trade and other receivables       

 Income tax asset        

 Other taxes        

 Cash and cash equivalents       

 Total assets 

 Equity and liabilities

 Equity

 Issued capital   

 Share premium

 Currency translation differences reserve 

 Retained earnings

 Non-current liabilities

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

 Pension obligations

 Deferred tax liability

 Provisions

 Current liabilities

 Provisions

 Trade and other payables

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

 Income tax payable

 Other taxes

 Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income

 Total equity and liabilities
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year 2005 

( x 1,000)

 

 1 January 2005  

 

 Foreign currency translation

 Total income and expense for the year recognized  

 directly in equity

 Profit for the year

 Total income and expenses for the year

 Exercise of options

 Share-based payment

 31 December 2005

    

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year 2004

( x 1,000)

 

 1 January 2004  

 

 Foreign currency translation

 Total income and expense for the year recognized  

 directly in equity

 Profit for the year

 Total income and expenses for the year

 Exercise of options

 Other issue of share capital

 31 December 2004

3. Consolidated statement of changes in equity

    Currency

    translation   

  Issued Share differences Retained

  capital  premium reserve earnings Total

  1,285 251,557 66 -161,841 91,067 

 

  0 0 -70 0 -70

  0 0 -70 0 -70 

  0 0 0 17,722 17,722 

  0 0 -70 17,722 17,652

  1 106 0 0 107

  0 0 0 99 99 

  1,286 251,663 -4 -144,020 108,925

    Currency

    translation   

  Issued Share differences Retained

  capital  premium reserve earnings Total

  1,271 248,773 0 -176,570 73,474 

    

  0 0 66 0 66

  

  0 0 66 0 66 

  0 0 0 14,729 14,729 

  0 0 66 14,729 14,795

  7 1,375 0 0 1,382

  7 1,409 0 0 1,416

  1,285 251,557 66 -161,841 91,067
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Consolidated cash flow statement for the financial year 2005 

( x 1,000)

 Cash flows from operating activities  

 Turnover (including discontinued operations)

 Operating expenses (including discontinued operations)

 Operating result (EBIT)

        

 Adjustments for:

 Depreciation and impairment 

 Changes in provisions

 Changes in operating capital

 Cash flows from operations 

 

 Interest paid

 Interest received 

 Income tax paid

 Cash flows from operating activities 

 Cash flows from investing activities 

 Investments in intangible assets 

 Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash 

 equivalents acquired

 Investments in other financial assets

 Divestments of other financial assets

 Repayment of other financial assets

 Investments in tangible assets

 Divestments of tangible assets

 Cash flows used in investing activities 

 Cash flows from financing activities 

 Proceeds from issue of shares

 Repayment of borrowings 

 Proceeds from borrowings

 Cash flows used in financing activities

 Net cash flows 

 Currency translation differences 

 Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

 Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

 Reconciliation with items of the balance sheet:

 Cash and equivalents

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

 Cash and cash equivalents according to 

 the cash flow statement

4. Consolidated cash flow statement

 2005 2004

  356,271  275,965

  -334,349  -252,258

 21,922  23,707

  

 14,677 10,729

 2,585 -1,415

 -31,455 3,818

 7,729 36,839

 

 -3,867 -4,327 

 4,123 4,645 

 -3,050 -3,481

 4,935 33,676 

   

 

 -10,226 -39,290 

 -5,441 -8,882 

 -3 -167 

 168 0

 823 3,996 

 -4,054 -2,759 

 209 110 

 -18,524 -46,992 

   

 107 2,798

 -2,650 -22 

 0 252 

 -2,543 3,028

 -16,132 -10,288 

 805 40 

 15,173 25,421

 -154 15,173

 16,463 27,260 

 -16,617 -12,087

 -154 15,173 
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5. Notes to the consolidated financial statements

5.1 Corporate information 

The consolidated financial statements of 2005 of Unit 4 Agresso N.V. were authorized for issue in accordance with  

the resolution of the directors of 28 February 2006. Unit 4 Agresso N.V. is a limited company established and  

domiciled in the Netherlands whose shares are publicly traded. Unit 4 Agresso N.V. and its subsidiaries (jointly 

‘Unit 4 Agresso’ or ‘Group’) operate as international producer of business software and supplier of security soft-

ware. The head office is based in Sliedrecht, the Netherlands.

    

5.2 General accounting policies 

Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of Unit 4 Agresso have been prepared in accordance with the International  

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted within the European Union. The consolidated financial  

statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, subject to exceptions referred to hereafter. The consolidated 

financial statements are presented in euros. 

   

Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial information of the parent company, Unit 4 Agresso N.V., 

and its subsidiaries.

A subsidiary is an entity over which Unit 4 Agresso has control. Control is the power to direct the financial  

and operational policy of the entity in order to achieve advantages from its activities. The financial figures  

of subsidiaries are recognized for 100% in the consolidation. Minority interests in the equity and the net profit 

will be mentioned separately. Subsidiaries are consolidated as of the takeover date, being the date when de facto 

control in the acquired company was obtained, and deconsolidated as of the time when the control ceases to exist. 

Acquisitions are recognized in accordance with the ‘purchase accounting method’ (acquisition method). This method 

attributes the cost price of a business combination to the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities and 

contingent liabilities as at the takeover date. With the consolidation all intra-group relationships in the balance 

sheet and intra-group transactions in the income statement are eliminated. 
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Subsidiaries  Registered office Share in capital 

      (directly or indirectly)
Unit 4 Agresso Business Software Holding B.V.  Sliedrecht, the Netherlands  100%

Unit 4 Agresso Business Software Benelux B.V.  Sliedrecht, the Netherlands 100%

 Decade Financial Software B.V. Oosterhout, the Netherlands 100%

 Unit 4 Agresso Enterprise Solutions B.V. Houten, the Netherlands 100%

 Unit 4 Agresso Accountancy B.V.  Veenendaal, the Netherlands  100%

 Unit 4 Agresso Oost-Nederland B.V. Hengelo, the Netherlands 100%

 Unit 4 Agresso Software B.V.  Sliedrecht, the Netherlands 100%

 Unit 4 Agresso Belgium N.V.  Antwerp, Belgium 100%

Unit 4 Agresso R&D Holding B.V. Sliedrecht, the Netherlands 100%

 Agresso R&D AS Oslo, Norway 100%

  Agresso AS Oslo, Norway 100%

   Agresso A/S Copenhagen, Denmark 100%

  Agresso AB Stockholm, Sweden 100%

   Formaster Consulting AB Stockholm, Sweden 100%

  Agresso Ltd. Bristol, United Kingdom 100%

   Agresso UK Ltd. Bristol, United Kingdom 100%

   MicroComputer Associates Ltd. Swansea, United Kingdom 100%

    MicroCompass Systems Ltd. Swansea, United Kingdom 100%

    Logicale Ltd. Swansea, United Kingdom 100%

    Distinction Systems Ltd. Swansea, United Kingdom 100%

Gestion de Servicios Integrales y Sistemas de

Información S.L. (SPAI) Barcelona, Spain 100%

Agresso Spain S.L. Granada, Spain 100%

Agresso GmbH  Munich, Germany 100%

Agresso Travel Industry Solutions Ltd. Bristol, United Kingdom 100%

Agresso France SA Paris, France 100%

Agresso Holdings Inc.  Victoria (BC), Canada 100%

Agresso Americas Corp. Massachusetts, USA 100%

Agresso Corp.  Alberta, Canada 100%

Agresso Travel Industry Solutions Inc. Texas, USA 100%

Agresso Travel Industry Solutions Ltd. Victoria (BC), Canada 100%

Unit 4 Agresso Holding Internet & Security B.V. Sliedrecht, the Netherlands 100%

NOXS Netherlands B.V. The Hague, the Netherlands 100%

Compusec N.V.  Brussels, Belgium 100%

Unit 4 Agresso Security Solutions B.V. Capelle a/d IJssel, the Netherlands 100%

Unit 4 Agresso Security Solutions Europe B.V. Sliedrecht, the Netherlands 100%

Netpoint N.V.  Ghent, Belgium 100%

Impakt N.V.   Ghent, Belgium 100%

NOXS Belgium N.V. Brussels, Belgium 100%

Amercom B.V.  Amersfoort, the Netherlands 100%

NOXS Austria IT Distribution GmbH Salzburg, Austria 100%

Unit 4 Agresso Ireland Holdings Ltd. Dublin, Ireland 100%

 NOXS Ireland Ltd. Dublin, Ireland 100%

 Unit 4 Agresso Security Solutions Ireland Ltd. Dublin, Ireland 100%

 Unit 4 Security Solutions UK Ltd. London, United Kingdom 100%

 Unit 4 Agresso Ireland Ltd. Dublin, Ireland 100%

NOXS Europe B.V. Sliedrecht, the Netherlands 100%

 4SureIT B.V. Sliedrecht, the Netherlands 100%

  NOXS Italy Srl. Milan, Italy 100%

 NOXS UK Ltd. Berkshire, United Kingdom 100%

 NOXS Logistics N.V. Brussels, Belgium 100%

 NOXS France SAS Gennevilliers, France 100%

 NOXS Technology Germany GmbH Ludwigsburg, Germany 100%

Foundation ICT Group B.V. Utrecht, the Netherlands 100%

Foundation Educational Services B.V. Utrecht, the Netherlands 100%

Foundation ICT Solutions B.V. Utrecht, the Netherlands 100%

At 31 December 2005 the following companies are recognized as subsidiaries in the consolidation of the Group:
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Estimation uncertainties

The most important assumptions regarding the future and other important sources of estimation uncertainties at  

the balance sheet date which entail a considerable risk of causing an important adjustment of the carrying amount  

of assets and liabilities in the following financial year, are set out below. 

Impairment of goodwill

The Group will determine at least once a year whether the goodwill is subject to impairment. This requires an  

estimation of the present value of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is attributed. For the estimation 

of the present value of the company, the Group must make an estimation of the expected future cash flows of the cash-

generating unit and determine a suitable discount rate to calculate the net present value of those cash flows. The 

carrying amount of the goodwill is € 51.8 million at 31 December 2005 (2004: € 49.0 million). For more information see 

the notes under Chapter 5 Paragraph 10.1.1.

Foreign currency translation

The Group’s presentation currency is the euro. Every entity of the Group will record the transactions and balance 

sheet items in the administration in its own functional currency, which can differ from that of the local currency. 

Commercial transactions which are expressed in a functional currency other than the entity’s own currency, will be 

recognized at the rates applicable on the day of the transactions. All balance sheet items expressed in a currency 

other than the own functional currency will be retranslated using the ‘closing rate method’ (closing rate at the  

balance sheet date). Currency differences ensuing from the settlement of these transactions are recognized in the 

profit or loss. In the consolidation the balance sheets of subsidiaries that use a functional currency other than  

the euro, are translated into euros using the closing rates on balance sheet date. The income statements of these  

entities are translated into euros at transaction rates, consisting of weighted average exchange rates for the year. 

Goodwill paid upon a takeover is expressed in the functional currency of the entity that effected the takeover.

 

The foreign currency differences which ensue from the translation of the net investment in entities with another 

functional currency than the euro are recognized in the equity (currency translation differences reserve). This also 

applies to currency differences on loans and other financial instruments in this functional currency insofar as they 

provide a hedge against the currency risk in connection with the net investment. Upon the sale of an entity with 

another functional currency than the euro, the accumulated currency differences are taken to profit or loss on the 

basis of the translation of the net investment.         

The year-end exchange rates used are: 

 foreign currency compared to 1 

 Canadian dollar (CAD)

 Danish krone (DKK)

 Norwegian krone (NOK)

 Pond Sterling (GBP)

 US dollar (USD)

 Swedish krone (SEK)

The average exchange rates used are: 

 foreign currency compared to 1 

 Canadian dollar (CAD)

 Danish krone (DKK)

 Norwegian krone (NOK)

 Pond Sterling (GBP)

 US dollar (USD)

 Swedish krone (SEK)

 2005 2004 

  1.3725 1.6500  

 7.4605  7.4420  

 7.9850  8.3000  

 0.6853  0.7078 

 1.1797  1.3625 

 9.3885 8.9600

 2005 2004 

  1.5092 1.6165  

 7.4518  7.4420  

 8.0101  8.3782  

 0.6839  0.6793  

 1.2445  1.2409 

 9.2812 9.1282 
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Unit 4 Agresso has made use of the exception offered by IFRS 1, according to which the accumulated currency  

differences at the time of the transition to IFRS (1 January 2004) may be set at nil. 

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The most important financial instruments (outside of derivatives) of the Group encompass bank loans and overdrafts,

debentures, financial lease and rental contracts and cash and cash equivalents. The most important objective of these 

financial instruments is to attract financing for the Group’s operating activities. The Group has various other financial 

assets and liabilities, such as trade receivables and payables which ensue directly from the operating activities. 

To a limited degree, the Group also carries out transactions with derivatives which primarily relate to currency 

swaps and forward currency contracts. The objective is to manage the interest and currency risks the Group runs  

with regard to its operating activities and financing sources. In general the Group does not trade in financial  

instruments, nor did it do so during the financial year. The most important risks which ensue from the financial  

instruments of the Group are interest, currency, credit and liquidity risks. The management assesses and approves the 

policy for the management of these risks (see the summary hereafter). The Group’s accounting policies relating  

to derivatives are set out in the Accounting policies for assets and liabilities.

Interest risk

The risk run by the Group due to fluctuations in the market interest rates primarily relates to the Group’s  

bank accounts with a variable interest. The Group does not use derivatives or other instruments to  

manage the interest risk, as the interest risk at present is estimated to be low.

Currency risk

Because of the presence of investment activities in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, Norway, Sweden and  

Denmark, the Group balance sheet could to a slight extent be influenced by changes in the relevant exchange rates compared 

to the euro. The Group did not hedge the risks on investment activities for the years presented in this report. 

The Group also runs currency risks on transactions. These risks arise from sales or purchases made by subsidiaries in  

a currency other than the functional currency. The Group’s currency policy requires all the subsidiaries to use, in 

consultation with the corporate financial department, forward currency contracts to eliminate the currency exposures on 

individual transactions resulting in balance sheet positions worth more than 5% of the subsidiary’s balance sheet total or 

if the counter value exceeds the amount of € 500,000. Next to that the Group uses currency swaps to optimize the interest 

charges and interest income. The Group’s corporate financial department concludes the derivatives with recognized banks. 

Credit risk

The Group only trades with reputable, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who 

wish to pay in instalments are subject to a credit verification procedure. Moreover, the outstanding balances  

are continually monitored, so that the Group does not run any significant risks in respect to doubtful debtors.

 

A credit risk is run on the other financial assets of the Group, which consist of cash and cash equivalents,  

securities and certain derivatives, arising from default of the other party, with a maximum risk equal to the  

carrying amount of these instruments. As the Group only does business with reputable third parties, there is  

no need for collateral.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to strike a balance between continuity and flexibility of financing through the use  

of bank overdrafts, cash borrowings, factoring of trade receivables and lease and rental contracts. 
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5.3 Transition to IFRS

Introduction

Unit 4 Agresso prepared its consolidated financial statements, up to and including the 2004 financial statements,  

in accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles of the Netherlands (Dutch GAAP). From 2005,  

Unit 4 Agresso is obliged to prepare its consolidated financial statements for financial years starting on or after 

1 January 2005 in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which have been accepted by 

the European Union. Unit 4 Agresso’s first report in accordance with IFRS was the interim report (press release) over 

the first half year of 2005. The first annual report of Unit 4 Agresso in accordance with IFRS is this annual report 

over 2005.

As in its annual report Unit 4 Agresso publishes comparative figures over one preceding year, 1 January 2004,  

the starting date of the first period with comparative figures, will function as the transition date to IFRS.  

The financial information of Unit 4 Agresso, in accordance with IFRS, was prepared on the basis of the IFRS  

guidelines which came into effect as of the end of 2005. The consequences of the transition to IFRS for the result  

and the equity are set out in the following overviews:

-  Reconciliation consolidated income statement 2004

-  Reconciliation consolidated balance sheet at 1 January 2004 

- Reconciliation consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2004

Overview of significant financial consequences of transition to IFRS 

The most important adjustments following the transition to IFRS at 1 January 2004 with regard to the information set 

out in the 2004 financial statements are summarized in the following overview (amounts are before the split between 

contining and discontinued operations):  

(E x 1,000)

  IFRS   Dutch GAAP   Change  

 Revenue 2004 275,965 275,965 0 

 Operating result before depreciation and impairment (EBITDA) 34,436 34,520 -84 

 Operating result (EBIT) 23,707 19,897 3,810 

 Net profit 2004 14,729 11,116 3,613 

 Earnings per share:    

 Weighted average earnings per share 0.58 0.43 0.15 

 Diluted earnings per share 0.57 0.43 0.14 

 Weighted average earnings per share (before goodwill impairment) 0.78 0.78 0.00 

 Diluted earnings per share (before goodwill impairment) 0.77 0.78 -0.01

 Equity:    

 31 December 2003 / 1 January 2004 73,474 73,958 -484 

 31 December 2004 / 1 January 2005 91,067 87,938 3,129

The reconciliation of the equity at 1 January 2004 can be presented as follows:  

(E x 1,000)  

 1 January 2004 on the basis of Dutch GAAP 73,958

 Backlog depreciation -197

 Valuation of surplus in pension deposit 170

 Pension provision France -150

 Provision for deferred benefits -307

 1 January 2004 on the basis of IFRS              73,474
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The IFRS guidelines that form the basis for the aforementioned adjustments are explained below.

IFRS 3 Mergers and acquisitions

Amortization of goodwill no longer occurs. Instead goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least once a year.  

The consequences for Unit 4 Agresso are as follows:

- amortization of goodwill was stopped at the transition date of 1 January 2004; and

-  the carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2003 in accordance with Dutch GAAP is measured at the cost price  

of goodwill at the date of transition to IFRS (1 January 2004). 

The goodwill was reviewed for impairment at 1 January 2004 and 31 December 2004. The consequence of the introduction  

of IFRS 3 at 1 January 2004 is a backlog depreciation of (net) € 197,000, resulting in a reduction in equity at  

1 January 2004.

IAS 19 Employee benefits

With regard to defined pension plans (pensions and other post-employment benefits), IAS 19 requires recognition of 

the related liabilities in the balance sheet. This is the balance of:

- the cash value of the liability until settlement;

- postponed actuarial results and postponed costs relating to employment; and

- the fair value of the assets of the fund at balance sheet date.

The balance of these elements can be negative.

Unit 4 Agresso uses the ‘corridor approach’ when measuring actuarial results.

The consequence of the introduction of IAS 19 is an asset item for pensions of € 170,000 and a pension liability  

of (net) € 150,000 in the opening balance sheet of Unit 4 Agresso in accordance with IFRS at 1 January 2004.  

On balance the introduction of IAS 19 leads to an increase in the equity at 1 January 2004 of € 20,000. 

With regard to the provision for deferred benefits (jubilees), a provision of € 438,000 has been recognized,  

which, after deduction of deferred tax, has lead to a correction in equity of € 307,000.

Transition arrangement

The rules for the transition to IFRS are set out in IFRS 1 ‘First application of International Financial Reporting  

Standards’. The primary rule is that a company is obliged to determine what IFRS guidelines apply and to apply them to 

the opening balance sheet with retroactive effect in accordance with IFRS. The guideline allows a number of exceptions to 

simplify the transition.

In applying the IFRS guidelines with retroactive effect, Unit 4 Agresso has chosen to make use of the following exceptions 

permitted by IFRS 1: 

-  Business combinations from before the transition date of 1 January 2004 are not adjusted to the requirements of IFRS 3 

‘Business combinations’.

- Accumulated translation differences with regard to foreign activities are set at nil on the transition date.

- Adjustments in valuation ensuing from pension plans are recognized in the equity on the transition date.

-  According to IFRS 2 the fair values of employee options and stock appreciation rights are recognized as expenses.  

The fair value, to be calculated on the basis of a derivative binomial model for option valuation, is recognized in  

the income statement over the various awarding periods of the options. The effect on the equity at 1 January 2004 does 

not need to be considered, since the employee share options had been granted before the date when IFRS 2 came into  

effect (7 November 2002), or could be exercised before 1 January 2005. No employee share options were granted in 2004.

The changed standards for financial instruments, IAS 32 Revised and IAS 39 Revised (March 2004) have been applied 

since 1 January 2005.  



Financial statements 2005

52

Overview of significant changes to earlier published information

The most important differences and reclassifications between IFRS and financial overviews published earlier in  

accordance with Dutch accounting principles (Dutch GAAP) are set out below.

Consolidated income statement 2004

Reconciliation of the consolidated income statement 2004 under Dutch GAAP and IFRS (before the split between  

continuing and discontinued operations):  

(E x 1,000)

    

 Products 

 Services and other  

 Contracts and subscriptions

 Revenue

 

 Cost of sales 

 Gross profit 

 Employee costs

 Other operating expenses

 Operating result before depreciation  

 and impairment (EBITDA)

 

 Depreciation and impairment of intangible and 

 tangible assets

 Operating result (EBIT)

 Finance costs

 Finance revenue 

 Profit before tax

 Income tax expense

 Profit for the year

     

 Dutch GAAP Differences  Reclassifications  IFRS

 140,193 0  7,706 a. 147,899  

 76,742 0  -7,706 a. 69,036  

 59,030 0  0  59,030  

 275,965 0  0  275,965  

 

 103,131 0  0  103,131  

 172,834 0  0  172,834  

 

 113,609 84  0  113,693  

 24,705 0  0  24,705  

 

 34,520 -84  0  34,436  

 

 14,623 -3,894 b. 0  10,729  

 19,897 3,810  0  23,707  

 4,327 8  0  4,335  

 4,645 0  0  4,645  

 20,215 3,802  0  24,017  

 9,099 189  0  9,288

 11,116 3,613  0  14,729

a.  For the Internet & Security division the categorization of the turnover has been adjusted. Previously, project 

related products were included in the category Services & other. As from 2005 these are included in the category 

Products. The comparative figures have been adjusted accordingly.  

b.  The difference is mainly caused by the fact that under IFRS goodwill is no longer amortized. This results in a  

difference of E -5,158,000. The fact that depreciation of differentiated goodwill (client contracts) does occur, 

results in a difference of E 1,209,000.
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 Assets

 Non-current assets

 Intangible assets

 Tangible assets 

 Investment in associates

 Other financial assets

 Deferred income tax asset     

      

 Current assets 

 Inventories

 Trade and other receivables 

 Income tax asset

 Other taxes 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

       

 Total assets

 

 Equity and liabilities

 Equity

 Issued capital

 Share premium  

 Reserve for capitalized software development costs

 Currency translation differences reserve 

 Retained earnings

 

 Non-current liabilities

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  

 Pension obligations  

 Deferred tax liability  

 Provisions

 Current liabilities

 Deferred income 

 Repayment liabilities on long-term loans   

 Trade and other payables  

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

 Income tax payable   

 Other taxes  

 Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income

 Total equity and liabilities

Consolidated balance sheet at 1 January 2004

Reconciliation of the consolidated balance sheet at 1 January 2004 under Dutch GAAP and IFRS:

(E x 1,000)

 Dutch GAAP Differences Reclassifications  IFRS

 40,146 -315 0  39,831  

 5,761 0 162  5,923  

 0 0 0  0  

 6,914 170 -600 a. 6,484  

 4,675 0 0  4,675  

 57,496 -145 -438  56,913

 5,616 0 -994 b. 4,622  

 58,568 0 1,612 c. 60,180  

 79 0 0  79  

 0 0 0  0  

 30,284 0 106  30,390  

 94,547  0    724   95,271  

 152,043 -145 286  152,184

 Dutch GAAP Differences   Reclassifications  IFRS

  1,271 0  0  1,271 

 248,773 0  0  248,773  

 7,437 0  -7,437 d. 0

 -923 0  923 d. 0 

 -182,600 -484  6,514 d. -176,570  

 73,958 -484  0  73,474  

  

 7,970 -15  73  8,028 

 0 225 e. 0  225  

 1,166 -309  0  857  

 0   438 f. 0  438  

 9,136 339  73  9,548  

  

 13,828 0  -13,828 g. 0  

 1,361 0  0  1,361  

 19,075 0  107  19,182  

 4,863 0  106  4,969  

 3,633 0  0  3,633  

 8,491 0  0  8,491  

 17,698 0  13,828 g. 31,526  

 68,949 0  213  69,162 

 152,043 -145  286  152,184  
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 Assets

 Non-current assets

 Intangible assets

 Tangible assets 

 Investment in associates

 Other financial assets

 Deferred income tax asset     

      

 Current assets 

 Inventories

 Trade and other receivables 

 Income tax asset 

 Other taxes 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

       

 Total assets

Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2004

Reconciliation of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2004 under Dutch GAAP and IFRS:

(E x 1,000)

 Dutch GAAP Differences  Reclassifications  IFRS

 72,102 3,097 h. 0  75,199  

 6,913 0  171  7,084  

 0 0  56  56  

 4,989 0  -656 i. 4,333  

 6,235 131  0  6,366  

 90,239 3,228  -429  93,038  

  

 6,816 0  -113  6,703  

 85,168 29  6,444 j. 91,641  

 9 0  0  9  

 0 0  1,791 k. 1,791  

 27,260 0  0  27,260  

 119,253 29  8,122  127,404  

 209,492 3,257  7,693  220,442  

      

The most important differences and reclassifications can be explained as follows:

 

a.  The part that will be paid off within 1 year, has been reclassified from Long-term receivables to Trade and other 

receivables. 

b.  Work in progress is reclassified from Inventories to Trade and other receivables when the value of the work  

carried out exceeds the value of the expenses charged, or to Current liabilities when the invoiced instalments  

exceed the work carried out. 

c.  The reclassification consists of the short-term part of long-term receivables for the amount of € 600,000 (see a.) 

and the reclassification of the work in progress for the amount of € 1,012,000 (see b). 

d.  Accumulated translation differences regarding foreign activities (€ -923,000) have been set at nil as per the 

transition date to IFRS (1 January 2004) and the reserve for capitalized software development costs (€ 7,437,000) 

has been reclassified.

e.  Following IAS 19 a pension provision is recognized for the defined benefit plan in France that is regulated by the 

government.

f.  Recognition in the balance sheet of obligations concerning payments for long-term employment (jubilees). 

g. Deferred income has been reclassified within the Current liabilities. 
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 Equity and liabilities

 Equity

 Issued capital

 Share premium  

 Reserve for capitalized software development costs

 Currency translation differences reserve 

 Retained earnings

 

 Non-current liabilities

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  

 Pension obligations  

 Deferred tax liability  

 Provisions

 Current liabilities

 Provisions

 Deferred income 

 Trade and other payables  

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

 Income tax payable   

 Other taxes  

 Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income

 Total equity and liabilities

     Dutch GAAP Differences  Reclassifications  IFRS

 

 1,285 0  0  1,285  

 251,557 0  0  251,557 

 17,585 0  -17,585 l. 0  

 -857 0  923 l. 66  

 -181,632 3,129  16,662 l. -161,841  

 87,938 3,129  0  91,067  

  

 9,436 -550 m. -7,995 n. 891  

 0 260 o. 0  260  

 1,100 -2  0  1,098  

 0 438 p. 8,563 n. 9,001  

 10,536 146  568  11,250  

  

 0 0  2,543 n. 2,543  

 19,788 0  -19,788 q. 0  

 37,659 0  4,839 r. 42,498  

 12,087 0  0  12,087  

 8,043 0  0  8,043  

 11,849 0  1,791 k. 13,640  

 21,592 -18  17,740 s. 39,314  

 111,018 -18  7,125  118,125  

 209,492 3,257  7,693  220,442

The most important differences and reclassifications can be explained as follows:

   

h.  The difference is caused by the cancellation of amortization of goodwill and the depreciation of the, from the 

goodwill differentiated, client contracts. 

i.  The part that will be paid off within 1 year (€ 600,000) has been reclassified from Long-term receivables to Trade 

and other receivables. The investments in associates have been included separately (€ 56,000).

j.  The reclassification consists of the short-term part of long-term receivables for the amount of € 600,000 (see i.), 

the reclassification of the work in progress for the amount of € 113,000 and the reclassification of the factoring 

position of receivables for the amount of € 5,731,000.

k.  Other taxes have been reclassified from Current liabilities. 

l.  Accumulated translation differences regarding foreign activities (€ -923,000) have been set at nil as per the 

transition date to IFRS (1 January 2004) and the reserve for capitalized software development costs (€ 17,585,000) 

has been reclassified.

m.  The future earn out obligations have been discounted.  

n.  Part of the interest-bearing loans and borrowings has been reclassified and included under Provisions.  

A split is made between repayment terms shorter and longer than one year. 

o.  Following IAS 19 a pension provision is recognized for the defined benefit plan in France that is regulated by the govern-

ment.

p.  Recognition in the balance sheet of obligations concerning payments for long-term employment (jubilees). 

q.  Deferred income is included under Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income.

r.  The reclassification mainly consists of the reclassification of the factoring position of receivables for the 

amount of € 5,731,000 (see j.).  

s.  The reclassification mainly consists of Deferred income for the amount of € 19,788,000 (see q.) and the  

reclassification of the earn out obligations to Provisions for the amount of € -2,994,000.



Financial statements 2005

5�

Significant financial consequences for future reporting

The Group expects that the introduction of IFRS in future reporting will not have any other material consequences 

than those described in this document.

Significant consequences for the cash flow statement

Due to changes in the equity at 1 January 2004, a number of balance sheet items have changed, by which also a number 

of categories in the cash flow statement have changed. The total of the cash flows remains the same. New compared  

to the cash flow statement in the 2004 financial statements is the balancing of the Cash and cash equivalents on  

the assets and liabilities sides of the balance sheet. The total of Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January and at  

31 December is thus recognized as the total of bank balances and liquid assets, less overdraft liabilities.

The result of this is that the net cash flow, as originally recognized in the 2004 financial statements, has been 

changed from € -7.4 million to € -14.6 million.

      

According to IAS 7 the cash and cash equivalents at the acquired consolidated interests should be deducted from the 

acquisition price. This entails that the net cash flow has been changed from € -14.6 million to € -10.3 million.

5.4 Accounting policies for assets and liabilities

Intangible assets

Goodwill is the excess of the acquisition price of an acquisition on top of Unit 4 Agresso’s share in the net fair 

value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an acquired subsidiary or associate. 

Goodwill paid upon the acquisition of a subsidiary is recognized under the intangible assets. Goodwill paid upon  

the acquisition of an associate is included in the carrying amount of the associate. Goodwill is reviewed at least 

once a year for impairment. Impairment is charged to the profit or loss. Up to and including 2000, Unit 4 Agresso  

immediately charged goodwill paid to the equity. Under IFRS this goodwill remains charged to the equity. As of 2001 

up to and including May 2003, goodwill was capitalized and amortized over the expected useful economic life. Unit 4 

Agresso has made use of the exception provided by IFRS 1 not to apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, with retroactive 

effect. The carrying amount of the goodwill at 31 December 2003 in accordance with the general accounting principles 

used in the Netherlands has been taken as the assumed cost price of the goodwill at the time of the transition to IFRS  

(1 January 2004). In the result of the sale of an entity, the carrying amount of the goodwill of this entity is  

taken into account. 

The software products and customer contracts which have become the property of Unit 4 Agresso due to acquisitions are 

separated from the goodwill and capitalized separately. Software products developed by the company itself, the software 

development costs, are also capitalized if they meet the capitalization conditions. Research costs are charged directly 

to the profit or loss. The expenses for maintenance of software products are immediately taken as costs.  

The software products (including own developed software products) and customer contracts are amortized using the 

straight-line method on the basis of the expected economic life, in principle 3 to 5 years. For software products,  

depreciation starts from the moment the product is launched on a commercial basis. Purchased licences and application 

software are valued at the acquisition value less depreciation using the straight-line method, in principle 3 to  

5 years, and less any impairment.

     

If there are indications that the carrying amount of the software products, customer contracts, purchased licences 

and application software cannot be realized, these items are reviewed for impairment and an assessment is made as to 

whether the depreciation period has to be revised. Changes in the expected useful economic life or in the expected 

pattern of future economic benefits of the assets are accounted for by changing the amortization period or  

amortization method and are treated as estimate changes. An impairment is charged to the profit or loss.  

Intangible assets which have not yet been put into use, are annually tested for impairment.
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The other intangible assets include licence rights and implementation costs relating to internal IT projects. These 

are valued at acquisition or production price and amortized on the basis of the expected economic life, in principle 

3 to 5 years.

Tangible assets

Land en buildings are recognized at cost price, less depreciation on buildings and any impairment arising after  

the valuation date.

      

The technological inventories and other tangible non-current assets are recognized at cost price, excluding the costs 

of daily maintenance, less the accumulated depreciation and the accumulated impairment. Depreciation is calculated on 

a straight-line basis over the useful life of the assets concerned. The expected useful life is for:

- Buildings: 50 years

- Land: indefinite economic life 

- Technological inventories: 2 to 3 years

- Other tangible assets: 2 to 10 years

The depreciation and impairment are recognized in the income statement under Depreciation and impairment of tangible 

and intangible assets.

The carrying amount of the tangible assets is reviewed for impairment if events or changes in the circumstances  

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. A tangible asset will be derecognized in the event of its 

disposal or if no future economic benefits can be expected from its use or its disposal. Any proceeds or losses from 

the disposal of the asset will be recognized in the income statement in the year in which the asset is derecognized.

   

The residual value of the asset, the remaining economic life and the valuation methods are assessed and,  

if necessary, adjusted at the end of the financial year.

Lease agreements

Financial leases, for which all or virtually all the benefits and disadvantages connected with the ownership of  

the leased assets are transferred to the Group, are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the fair value of 

the leased asset or, if lower, at the cash value of the minimum lease payments. The lease payments are divided into 

finance costs and a decrease in the lease liability so as to achieve a consistent interest rate over the remaining 

balance of the liability. The finance costs are charged directly to the profit or loss.

Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the lease period or over the estimated useful life if shorter.  

Operational leases are all leases other than financial leases. Operational lease payments are recognized as expenses 

under Other employee costs and Other operating expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investment in associates

An associate is an interest in an entity in which Unit 4 Agresso has significant influence, but no decisive control. 

Generally the interest in these entities accounts for 20% to 50% of the voting rights. Associates are measured on  

the basis of the equity method, which entails that Unit 4 Agresso’s share in the profit or loss of the associate  

is recognized in the result. Unit 4 Agresso’s interest in the associate is fixed at Unit 4 Agresso’s share in the  

net assets of the associate, together with the goodwill paid upon acquisition, and less any impairment.  

If Unit 4 Agresso’s share in the loss of the associate exceeds the carrying amount of an associate - including other 

receivables – the carrying amount is reduced to nil. No further losses are recognized, unless Unit 4 Agresso has  

taken on obligations of the associate on account of a guarantee or other obligation.
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The reporting dates of the associates and the Group are identical and the accounting policies for financial reporting 

of the associates conform to those used by the Group for similar transactions and events in similar circumstances.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets comprise loans and long-term receivables which are valued at the amortized cost price, less a 

value correction in connection with bad debts. There must be objective indications to allow a value correction. Secu-

rities (investments) are classified under this category as well and are recognized at fair value or at purchase price 

if the fair value cannot be determined in a reliable manner.

Impairment

When there are indications that the carrying amount of a non-current asset (an intangible, tangible or financial  

non-current asset) exceeds the recoverable value (the higher of indirect and direct sale value), there will be an 

impairment review. For an asset that does not largely independently generate an inflow of cash, the recoverable value 

is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When determining the indirect sale value,  

the estimated future cash flows are discounted at a discount rate before taxes, based on the market interest rate 

plus a surcharge for the specific risks of the asset. When the recoverable value of an asset is lower than the carry-

ing amount, the carrying amount is decreased to the recoverable value. An impairment (with the exception of goodwill)  

is reversed when there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable value. Impairments of  

goodwill are recognized in the income statement under Depreciation and impairment of tangible and intangible assets.

  

As at every reporting date it will be assessed whether indications exist that an asset has been impaired. If such  

indications exist, the recoverable value will be estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss (with the  

exception of goodwill) will only be reversed if there has been a change in the estimation used to determine the as-

set’s recoverable value since the recognition of the last impairment loss. If this is the case, the carrying amount 

of the asset will be increased to the recoverable value. This increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined (net of depreciation) if no impairment loss had been recognized for the asset in previous 

years. Such reversal will be recognized in the income statement, unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount, 

in which case the reversal will be treated as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal, the depreciation cost 

will be adjusted to the revised carrying amount of the asset (after deduction of any residual value) over the remain-

ing useful life systematically attributable to future periods.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost price or realizable value. The FIFO valuation method (first-in, first-out) 

is applied. The net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 

costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables include work in progress, trade receivables, other current receivables, securities  

and derivatives. Trade and other receivables are recognized at nominal value, except for the securities and  

derivatives, less a value correction for bad debt. The valuation of the work in progress at balance sheet date is based 

on hours directly attributable to projects in progress and the goods and services procured in connection with the 

projects. The direct hours are valued at cost price, which is based on the costs directly attributable to projects. 

The results are recognized depending on the progress of the individual projects. Securities that are expected to be 

sold within 1 year are recognized under Trade and other receivables. Securities are recognized at fair value or at 

purchase price if the fair value cannot be determined in a reliable manner.
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Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Group uses derivative financial instruments (derivatives) such as forward currency contracts and currency  

swaps to hedge the risks of changes in exchange rates and to optimize the interest charges and income. Derivatives  

are initially recognized on the balance sheet at fair value and subsequently revalued at the fair value at every  

reporting date. The way in which the ensuing income or expense is measured depends on the nature of the item which 

is hedged. Securities that are expected to be sold within 1 year are recognized under Trade and other receivables. 

Derivatives are recognized as assets if the fair value is positive, and as liabilities if the fair value is negative. 

When entering into contracts for derivatives, the Group records the purpose thereof: hedging of the fair value of  

assets or liabilities recognized in the balance sheet (fair value hedging), hedging firm commitments or future  

transactions (cash flow hedging) or hedging net investments in entities with a functional currency other than  

the euro.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are immediately recognized in the profit or loss, together with any change in 

the fair value of the hedged assets or liabilities. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated to hedge a new investment are recognized in the equity (currency 

translation differences reserve). The income or expense relating to the non-effective part is immediately attributed 

to the profit or loss. The accumulated income and expenses in the currency translation differences reserve are  

recognized in the profit or loss when the net investment is divested.

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and in hand and bank deposits with a remaining term of less than  

3 months. Bank overdrafts are recognized under Current liabilities. Cash and cash equivalents are valued at nominal 

value. 

 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

Loans are initially carried at cost price, being the fair value of the received amounts less transaction costs.  

Loans are subsequently measured at the amortized cost price using the effective interest method. The amortized cost 

price is calculated by taking account of any discount on shares or share premium. The interest costs are attributed 

to the profit or loss of the period to which they relate. If a risk relating to a recognized long-term loan is hedged, 

and the hedge is deemed effective, the carrying amount of the long-term loan is adjusted to changes in the fair value. 

Repayments within 12 months on long-term loans are recognized under Current liabilities.

Provisions 

Provisions are recognized in the balance sheet when they comply with the following conditions: 1) there is a legal  

or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 2) it is likely that funds will be withdrawn from the company 

to settle the obligation, and 3) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the 

time value of money is material, provisions will be discounted at a discount rate before tax. When the net present 

value is calculated, the increase in the provision over time is recognized as interest costs. The interest costs  

relating to pension liabilities are, however, recognized in the pension costs. Amounts that are withdrawn from  

provisions within 12 months will be recognized under the Current liabilities.
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Pensions   

Defined benefit plans (pensions and other post-employment benefits) are included in the balance sheet as the  

balance of:

- the cash value of the defined benefit obligation on balance sheet date;

- deferred actuarial gains and losses and deferred past service costs;

- charges over passed service years to be recognized to next financial years;

- the fair value of plan assets on balance sheet date that will be used to settle (future) obligations. 

The balance of these elements can be negative. 

Unit 4 Agresso uses the corridor approach to process actuarial gains and losses. 

Other deferred benefits (jubilees)   

Provisions for jubilees are recognized in the balance sheet at a value (per employee) that takes into account:

- the proportional composition of the deferred benefit;

- actuarial results;

- tax law effects; and

- discounting of the calculated obligation.

The actuarial results and the charges over passed services years are recognized directly in the result.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities in the balance sheet 

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar financial assets) 

will no longer be recognized in the balance sheet if:

- the Group is no longer entitled to the cash flows from this asset;

-  the Group has retained the right to receive the cash flows from this asset, but has taken on an obligation to pay 

these in full, without significant delay, to a third party pursuant to a special agreement, or

-  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from this asset and either (a) has transferred the  

majority of all risks and advantages of this asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the majority of  

all risks and advantages of this asset, but has transferred the control over this asset. 

If the Group has transferred its rights to receive the cash flows from an asset, but has neither transferred nor 

retained the majority of all risks and advantages of this asset, nor transferred the control, this asset will be 

recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in this asset. Continuing involvement in the form of 

a guarantee over the transferred asset is valued at the original carrying amount or the lower maximum amount of the 

consideration that the Group might have to repay.

Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is no longer included in the balance sheet as soon as the obligation relating to the  

liability is discharged, cancelled or has expired. If an existing financial liability is replaced by another of the 

same financier on virtually the same conditions, or the terms of the existing liabilities are changed considerably, 

such a replacement or change will be treated as derecognition of the original liability on the balance sheet  

and recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts will be recognized in the  

income statement. 
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5.5 Accounting policies for the determination of the result 

Revenue 

Revenue consists of the proceeds of the services rendered to third parties in the reporting year and goods delivered 

to third parties. Revenue is primarily generated from the sales of software by means of a one-off licence price or by 

means of a fixed price per period (subscriptions), from software maintenance by means of maintenance contracts and 

from services (implementation). The proceeds from the sales of software and hardware are recognized at the time when 

the risks and rewards have passed to the buyer. The proceeds from services are recognized pro rata to the activities 

carried out in the execution of the work. The proceeds from maintenance contracts and subscriptions are recognized 

pro rata to the expired contract or subscription period. The net revenue equals the invoice value less discounts and 

net of sales tax.

 

Cost of sales 

The costs recognized under cost of sales relate to the costs of the goods and services which are directly  

attributable to the realized revenue. 

Pensions and other post-employment benefit plans

The Group has a defined benefit pension plan in France and defined contribution plans, or plans that qualify as  

defined contribution plans, in the other countries. With the exception of the pension plan in France, these plans are 

placed with local insurers. The pension plans are financed from payments by employees and the relevant entities. For 

the defined benefit pension plan in France, the pension costs are measured using the projected unit credit method. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in the profit or loss, spread out over the average remaining working lives 

of the employees, making use of the ‘corridor’ approach, with an upper and lower limit set at 10%. Prepaid pension 

costs connected with defined benefit pension plans are only recognized in the balance sheet if they lead to a  

repayment from the plan to the employer or to a reduction in future contributions by the employer.

     

Contributions to defined benefits plans are charged to the profit or loss as soon as they are owed. 

Government grants 

Government grants are recognized in the balance sheet at their fair value when there is reasonable certainty that the 

grant will be received and that all related conditions will be met. Grants relating to expense items are systematically 

carried to the results of the periods in which the costs occur, that the grants are intended to compensate. 

 

Research and development 

Research costs are charged to the profit or loss in the period in which they incur. 

Internal development costs are charged to the profit or loss in the period in which they incur, unless they meet the 

criteria for capitalization of IAS 38 ‘Intangible assets’. 
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Income tax 

In addition to the current tax assets and liabilities in the reporting year, the tax item includes deferred tax  

assets and liabilities. The current tax liabilities are calculated at the applicable rates. The deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the relevant tax asset  

is realized or the relevant tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws which have been enacted or  

substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognized in the balance sheet to the  

extent that it is likely that future fiscal profit will be available to settle temporary differences and non- 

compensated tax losses. If necessary a value correction will be made. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are  

recognized at nominal value. Deferred tax liabilities regarding withholding tax are only recognized if and  

insofar the intention exists to pay out the profit earned by the subsidiaries as dividend in the near future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off tax assets against 

tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same (taxable) entity and the same taxation authority.  

 

The taxes in the income statement are calculated over the profit or loss in the income statement on the basis of  

the tax rates applicable in the various countries, taking account of fiscal facilities and taking account of the  

deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized in the balance sheet. 

 

Share-based payment transactions 

Higher-level employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions (employee 

share options), if they realize a certain performance. This concerns equity-settled transactions. The costs of  

these employee share options are measured on the basis of the fair value of the options on the date when  

the options are awarded. The fair value is measured making use of a derivative of the binomial option model, taking 

account of market conditions relating to the Unit 4 Agresso share. The costs of these options are recognized in the 

profit or loss (Employee costs), with the equity (Retained earnings) as contra entry, over the period in which the 

performance conditions are fulfilled and the options are unconditionally granted, ending on the date on which the 

relevant employees acquire the full right to exercise the equity-settled transactions. In most cases a period of 2 

years lies between the time of awarding and the time when the options can be freely exercised. 

The dilutive effect on the outstanding options is reflected as additional dilution of the shares in the calculation 

of the earnings per share.

Unit 4 Agresso has made use of the transitional provisions of IFRS 2 relating to equity-settled options and has  

applied IFRS 2 only to equity-settled options granted after 7 November 2002 and that had not yet unconditionally 

vested on 1 January 2005.
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5.6 Accounting policies for the cash flow statement  

The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the indirect method. In the cash flow statement a  

distinction is made between cash flows from operational, investing and financing activities. Cash flows in foreign 

currency are translated at applicable rates on the dates of the transactions during the reporting year.  Currency  

differences on cash and cash equivalents, less the overdraft liabilities are recognized separately in the Cash flow 

statement. Revenue and expenses for corporate tax are recognized under Cash flows from operating activities. Interest 

costs and interest revenues are recognized under Cash flows from operating activities. Cash flows as a result of the 

acquisition or disposal of financial interests (subsidiaries and interests) are recognized under Cash flows from  

investing activities, taking into account the cash and cash equivalents present in these interests. Dividends paid 

out are recognized under Cash flows from financing activities.  

 

5.7 Segment information

Segment information is presented for the business and geographical segments of the Group. The primary segmentation 

basis, business segments, is based on the administrative structure and the internal reporting structure of the Group.  

Segment results, assets and liabilities consist of items that are directly attributable to the relevant segment, 

and items that can be reasonably allocated to the segment. Unallocated items primarily consist of deferred taxes and 

long-term interest-bearing loans, borrowings and costs, and joint assets and expenses. The investments in capital 

assets of a segment concern the total of the costs made in the reporting period to purchase the assets of the segment 

which are expected to be in use for longer than one reporting period. In its report Unit 4 Agresso defines a segment 

as a division.

The primary segmentation basis derives from the division into the Business Software and Internet & Security  

divisions. Both divisions have their own return on investment and risk profiles. The Business Software division  

develops, sells, implements and supports business software for operating, supporting and optimizing the operating 

processes and for optimizing the business. The Internet & Security division sells security software of third parties 

and provides services for implementation and maintenance of data protection.

Within this primary segment a division is made into the categories revenue, profit, carrying amount of the assets, 

total liabilities, investments in intangible and tangible assets, depreciation and impairment.  

Inter-segment sales do not take place. 

The secondary segmentation is based on geographical segments, for the categories revenue, assets and investments in 

intangible and tangible assets. 

During the year NOXS Germany GmbH was liquidated. The results for both years are recognized under Discontinued  

operation.
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Primary segmentation

At 31 December 2005 (E x 1,000) 

 Products

 Services and other

 Contracts and subscriptions

 Turnover

 Operating result before depreciation and 

 impairment (EBITDA)

 Depreciation and impairment of tangible and  

 intangible assets

 Operating result (EBIT)

 Finance costs

 Finance revenue

 Profit before tax

 Taxes

 Profit for the year

 Assets

 Segment assets

 Investment in associates

 Unallocated assets

 Total assets

 Liabilities

 Segment liabilities

 Unallocated liabilities

 Total liabilities

 Other segment information

 Investments in:  

 -intangible assets

 -tangible assets

 Depreciation  

 Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss  

 Weighted average number of employees (FTE)  

       Continuing operations  

     

 Business Internet &  Discontinued 

 Software Security Total operation Total

 46,002 148,992 194,994 3,577 198,571  

 66,166 21,000 87,166 56 87,222  

 70,478 0 70,478 0 70,478  

 182,646 169,992 352,638 3,633 356,271  

 

       

 31,779 7,259 39,038 -2,439 36,599  

 

 10,388 1,644 12,032 2,645 14,677  

 21,391 5,615 27,006 -5,084 21,922

   4,379 239 4,618  

   4,461 0 4,461  

   27,088 -5,323 21,765  

   6,163 -2,120 4,043  

   20,925 -3,203 17,722  

 141,873 101,144 243,017 0 243,017

 59 0 59 0 59

   7,414 0 7,414 

 141,932 101,144 250,490 0 250,490

     

 50,059 87,121 137,180 0 137,180

   4,385 0 4,385

 50,059 87,121 141,565 0 141,565

 18,092 2,947 21,039 0 21,039

 4,852 1,516 6,368 26 6,394

 9,333 1,225 10,558 230 10,788

 1,055 419 1,474 2,415 3,889

 1,539 411 1,950 20 1,970
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           Continuing operations  

     

 Business Internet &  Discontinued 

 Software Security Total operation Total

 41,125 94,617 135,742 12,157 147,899  

 56,619 12,163 68,782 254 69,036  

 59,030 0 59,030 0 59,030  

 156,774 106,780 263,554 12,411 275,965  

 

 30,214 6,146 36,360 -1,924 34,436 

 

 6,296 534 6,830 3,899 10,729  

 23,918 5,612 29,530 -5,823 23,707

   4,174 161 4,335  

   4,645 0 4,645  

   30,001 -5,984 24,017  

   9,919 -631 9,288 

   20,082 -5,353 14,729  

   

 144,701 54,398 199,099 4,454 203,553

 56 0 56 0 56

   16,833 0 16,833

 144,757 54,398 215,988 4,454 220,442

     

 71,510 45,224 116,734 -237 116,497

   12,878 0 12,878

 71,510 45,224 129,612 -237 129,375

 32,720 11,084 43,804 0 43,804

 3,001 1,482 4,483 59 4,542

 6,296 534 6,830 197 7,027

 0 0 0 3,702 3,702

 1,400 244 1,644 33 1,677

At 31 December 2004 (E x 1,000)  

 

 Products

 Services and other

 Contracts and subscriptions

 Turnover

 Operating result before depreciation and 

 impairment (EBITDA)

 Depreciation and impairment of tangible and  

 intangible assets

 Operating result (EBIT)

 Finance costs

 Finance revenue

 Profit before tax

 Taxes

 Profit for the year

 Assets

 Segment assets

 Investment in asssociates

 Unallocated assets

 Total assets

 Liabilities

 Segment liabilities

 Unallocated liabilities

 Total liabilities

 Other segment information

 Investments in:  

 -intangible assets

 -tangible assets

 Depreciation  

 Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss  

 Weighted average number of employees (FTE)
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 Benelux

 Denmark

 Germany

 France

 Ireland

 Italy

 Norway

 Spain

 United Kingdom

 United States/Canada

 Sweden

 Discontinued operations

5.8 Acquisitions and divestments of subsidiaries in 2005  

5.8.1 Acquisitions

5.8.1.1 Foundation ICT Group B.V.

In the middle of January 2005 the Group acquired the majority of the shares in Foundation ICT Group B.V. (Foundation 

ICT) by means of the conversion of an already existing loan of  € 700,000 into 7,000,000 shares with a nominal value 

of € 0,10. The remaining 1,625,000 shares were acquired from the individual shareholders at a fixed amount of € 1  

(per individual shareholder) and a variable purchase price (earn out). The acquisition is recognized in the Group’s  

administration in accordance with the purchase accounting method. Consequently, the consolidated financial statement  

contains the results of Foundation ICT as of the acquisition on 13 January 2005. The purchase has led to an amount  

of € 5.0 million in goodwill. In the period 1 January 2005 - 31 December 2005 Foundation ICT realized a turnover of  

€ 6.8 million and a net result of € -0.4 million. In the Group’s consolidated figures only the results as from the 

date of acquisition (13 January 2005) have been consolidated. 

Foundation ICT is an IT service organization with, at the time of acquisition, approx 105 employees. Foundation ICT 

has a lot of experience in the area of projects, user management and managed services in the area of ICT.

    

5.8.1.2 Micro Computer Associates Limited

At the end of September 2005 the Group acquired all issued shares in Micro Computer Associates Limited (MCA) for a 

(net) cash payment of € 4.5 million and a variable purchase price (earn out) that is dependent on the achievement  

of profit targets over the broken financial year which runs from 1 April 2005 up to and including 31 March 2006. The  

acquisition by the Group is recognized according to the purchase accounting method. Consequently, the consolidated  

financial statements contain the MCA results for the period of 3 months as of the acquisition on 28 September 2005. 

The purchase has led to an amount of € 2.2 million in goodwill. In the period 1 January 2005 - 31 December 2005 MCA  

realized a turnover of € 9.3 million and a net result of € 0.9 million. In the Group’s consolidated figures only the  

results as from acquisition date (28 September 2005) have been consolidated.

    

MCA is specialized in the production of student information systems and CRM modules for the education sector.

At the time of acquisition the entire organization had approx 100 employees.

Secondary segmentation

(€ x 1,000)

 2005   2004

   Investments in    Investments in 

   tangible and   tangible and

 Revenue Assets   intangible assets  Revenue Assets   intangible assets 

 152,361 98,903 5,585 120,257 91,557 32,012

 356 1,087 0 0 174 0

 16,684 5,466 660 17,558 6,427 105 

 59,881 37,898 1,135 33,261 36,425 2,148 

 3,022 886 23 5,659 1,056 27

 2,475 1,742 3 563 617 14

 19,551 28,521 7,847 15,962 26,413 5,763

 12,081 8,907 733 8,622 7,486 2,017

 44,264 39,579 9,304 38,975 26,286 443

 6,145 4,902 653 4,843 2,464 286

 39,451 22,599 1,490 30,265 21,537 5,531

 356,271 250,490 27,433 275,965 220,442 48,346 

 -3,633 0 -26 -12,411 -4,454 -59

 352,638 250,490 27,407 263,554 215,988 48,287
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5.8.1.3 Formaster Consulting AB

At the end of December 2005 the Group acquired all issued shares in Formaster Consulting AB (Formaster) for a cash 

payment of approx € 0.3 million and a variable purchase price (earn out) that is dependent on the achievement of 

profit targets over the 2006 and 2007 financial years. The acquisition by the Group is recognized according to the 

purchase accounting method. Actual control was transferred on 30 December 2005. Consequently no results over the  

2005 financial year were included in the Group’s consolidation. The purchase has led to an amount of € 0.7 million  

in goodwill. In the period 1 January 2005 - 31 December 2005 Fourmaster realized a turnover of € 1.5 million and a  

net result of € 0.1 million. 

    

Formaster is a consultancy organization with specific expertise in e-business and logistics projects. At the time of 

acquisition the organization had 14 employees.

5.8.2 Divestments

There were no noteworthy divestments during the financial year, except for the liquidation of a subsidiary at the end of 

2005. This is further explained in paragraph 5.9.7 Discontinued operations.

5.8.3 Effects on equity of acquisitions and sales 

The contribution from acquisitions of subsidiaries at fair values is as follows:

(E x 1,000)   

    
 

 Intangible assets

 Tangible assets

 Inventories

 Trade and other receivables

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Long-term liabilities

 Provisions

 Short-term liabilities

 Net identified assets and liabilities 

 Goodwill 

 Cost price

 Acquired cash and cash equivalents

 Cost price net of cash and cash equivalents 

 The cost price can be itemized as follows:

 Compensations paid

 Estimated compensations

 Acquisition costs  

  Foundation ICT MCA Formaster Total 

  0 4,493 0 4,493

  470 1,894 4 2,368  

  108 2 0 110  

  1,086 1,690 639 3,415  

  19 7,280 81 7,380  

  0 0 0 0  

  -679 0 -231 -910  

  -4,907 -3,644 -480 -9,031  

  -3,903 11,715 13 7,825  

  4,997 2,239 727 7,963  

  1,094 13,954 740 15,788  

  19 7,280 81 7,380

  1,075 6,674 659 8,408

  700 11,552 320 12,572

  390 2,157 420 2,967

  4 245 0 249

  1,094 13,954 740 15,788
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The carrying amount of the identified assets and liabilities can be analyzed as follows: 

(E x 1,000) 

5.9 Notes to items on the income statement   

5.9.1 Employee costs

5.9.1.1 Research and development costs 

The research and development costs incurred in the past year, divided into the part which has been capitalized and the 

part which is recognized under the employee costs are presented in the table below:

(E x 1,000)

  Research and Capitalized Recognized as 

 Year  development costs development costs employee costs

 2001 21,531 0 21,531 

 2002 22,435 4,742 17,693 

 2003 21,740 5,172 16,568 

 2004 23,678 7,746 15,932 

 2005 24,932 9,341 15,591

(E x 1,000) 

 

 Wages and salaries

 Social security costs

 Pension costs

 Expense of share-based payment

 Other employee costs

 Attributable to discontinued operations

 2005 2004 

 91,303 81,438 

 19,216 15,815 

 5,642 4,683 

 99 0 

 26,154 11,757 

 142,414 113,693 

 -1,567 -3,124

 140,847 110,569

  Foundation ICT MCA Formaster Total  

  0 0 0 0

  470 1,894 4 2,368  

  108 2 0 110  

  1,086 1,690 639 3,415  

  19 7,280 81 7,380  

  0 0 0 0  

  -679 0 -231 -910  

  -4,907 -3,644 -480 -9,031  

  -3,903 7,222 13 3,332

    
 

 

 Intangible assets

 Tangible assets

 Inventories

 Trade and other receivables

 Cash and cash equivalents

 Non-current liabilities 

 Provisions

 Current liabilities

 

 Net identified assets and liabilities 
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5.9.1.2 Employee share option plan

In 1997, a general employee share option plan was offered to all the employees on the occasion of the intended  

flotation of the then Unit 4 N.V. After that the decision to grant new options was made dependent on the desire to 

bind employees to the company, the company’s earnings, the permission of limited dilution and the future goals of the 

company. The employee share options set up always have (known) a term of 5 years for all employees, both for national 

and foreign offices. It was decided to always use the same exercise price for these unconditional options for all  

employees and, where applicable, the local (foreign) income tax and social legislation was declared applicable.  

Upon granting a choice was made with regard to the exercise price, to always minimize the participation costs for  

the employee. The price of granting options was therefore fixed at nil, and the exercise price of an option is always 

set in such a way that the tax burden remains as low as possible. With regard to granting (the number of) options to 

specific employees, position, individual performance and results achieved play an important role, as do personal 

goals of the relevant employee. In addition, employee share option plans are also used to achieve strategic goals of 

the company. In the financial year 2005, 150,000 options were granted to the members of the Board of Directors at an 

exercise price of € 13,02. The Supervisory Board was not offered an employee share option plan .  

No other options were granted in 2005.

The weighted average remaining term for the share options at 31 December 2005 is 2.3 years (2004: 1.5 years).

The weighted average fair value of the options granted during the year is € 1.98. The valuation of granted option 

rights (from 7 November 2002) is measured by means of the binomial model, taking into account early exercising and 

the risk of departure during the vesting period until the moment the options are irrevocably granted. The measuring 

of costs of option rights granted is based on the option rights granted in the year plus a pro rata part of the costs 

of earlier granted option rights (after 7 November 2002) during the vesting period. The accounting policies of IFRS 2 

were not applied to options granted before 7 November 2002.

 

 Year  Exercise period  Outstanding at Expired Exercised Outstanding at Exercise

 granted up to and including Granted 1 January 2005 in 2005 in 2005 31 December 2005 price (€) 

         

 2000  - Oct. 2005 382,500 382,500 382,500 0 0 24.58

 2002  - Dec. 2006 220,206 220,206 0 7,938 212,268 12.16  

 2003  - Feb. 2008 370,000 293,588 0 2,500 291,088 4.00 

 2005  - Apr. 2010 150,000 0 0 0 150,000 13.02

   1,122,706 896,294 382,500 10,438 653,356
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5.9.1.3 Costs of employee share option plan

No options were granted in 2004. In April 2005 50,000 options were granted to each of the 3 members of the Board of  

Directors. The term of these options is 5 years with a lock-up period of 2 years. A lock-up period has a value- 

decreasing effect. In addition, the options are non-transferable and the options are cancelled as soon as the  

employment is terminated. In general account is taken of an expected departure of employees of 3%. To date the dividend 

earnings are nil. The valuation date is the same as the date of granting. The exercise price is based on the average  

price of the last 10 trading days of the share on the day of issue. The expected term of the options is based on historical 

information and is therefore not indicative for any exercise patterns. The volatility is based on a historical  

analysis of the daily share price fluctuations over the last 6 months. The risk-free interest rate is based on 10-year 

Netherlands government bonds. The fair value thus comes to € 1.98 per option. The costs of these options are divided  

pro rata over the lock-up period up to the moment the options can be freely exercised. 

   

5.9.1.4 Number of employees at 31 December 

The number of employees concerns all employees that have a current employment contract, often referred to  

as ‘headcount’.

 Option rights granted during the year

 Average price per share during the preceding 12 months (€)

 Price at the issue date (€)

 Expected term of the option (years)  

 Exercise price (€)

 Volatility (%) 

 Staff turnover (%)

 Dividend (%)

 Risk-free interest rate (%) 

 Costs of granted option rights at year-end 2005 (€)

 Costs of granted option rights over the 2005 financial year (€)  

  150,000  

  11.52  

  13.08 

  4.00  

  13.02  

  20% 

  3% 

  0% 

  3.26% 

  99,000  

  99,000

    

 Sales & Marketing

 Consultants

 Developers

 Support

 Other

 31 December

 Average number of employees

 during the reporting year

 

 2005   2004

  Other   Other

 Netherlands countries Total Netherlands countries Total 

    

 126 230 356 121 226 347 

 238 452 690 143 354 497

 145 298 443 148 254 402

 57 239 296 56 257 313

 156 215 371 147 188 335

 722 1,434 2,156 615 1,279 1,894 

 

 

 710 1,330 2,040 570 1,179 1,749
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Weighted number of employees at 31 December

The weighted number of employees concerns the number of employees taking account of part-time employees and temporary 

staff, usually abbreviated as FTE (full time equivalents).    

5.9.2 Depreciation and impairment of intangible and tangible assets

For notes to the goodwill impairment, please see Paragraph 5.10.1.1.

5.9.3 Other operating expenses

    

 

 Sales & Marketing

 Consultants

 Developers

 Support

 Other

 31 December

 Average number of employees

 during the reporting year

 2005   2004

  Other   Other

 Netherlands countries Total Netherlands countries Total 

    

 121 228 349 116 224 340

 231 445 676 139 345 484

 139 291 430 142 241 383

 55 230 285 51 245 296

 141 210 351 125 177 302

 687 1,404 2,091 573 1,232 1,805

 

 675 1,295 1,970 532 1,145 1,677 

(E x 1,000) 

 

 Depreciation of software products

 Depreciation of customer contracts

 Depreciation of other intangible assets

 Depreciation of tangible assets

 Book profit on sold tangible assets

 Impairment of intangible and tangible assets

 Attributable to discontinued operations

  2005 2004

  4,182 2,507

 2,408 1,209

 123 65

 4,075 3,306

 0 -60 

 3,889 3,702

 14,677 10,729

 -2,645 -3,899

 12,032 6,830

(E x 1,000)

 

 

   Selling costs

 Accomodation costs

 Financial and advisory costs

 Other expenses

 Attributable to discontinued operations

      
 

 2005 2004 

  

 6,322 4,902

 9,943 8,346

 3,308 2,679

 8,634 8,778

 28,207 24,705

 -938  -751

 27,269 23,954
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5.9.4 Finance costs

5.9.5 Finance revenue

5.9.6 Income tax expense

   2005 2004 

  

 4,058 4,335

 560 0

 4,618 4,335

 -239 -161

 4,379 4,174

(E x 1,000)

 

   

 Interest charges

 Adjustment fair value financial instruments 

 hedged by derivatives

 

 Attributable to discontinued operations

      

(E x 1,000)

 

   

 Interest revenue

 Result on derivatives

 Exchange rate gains

 Result group companies

      
 

 2005 2004 

  

 3,868 4,257

 560 0

 30 388

 3 0

 4,461 4,645

  2005 2004

  

 4,224 10,968 

 55 151

 4,279 11,119

 

 416 581

 6 -109

 -658 -2,303

 -236 -1,831 

 

 4,043 9,288 

 

 6,163 9,919

 -2,120 -631 

 4,043 9,288

(E x 1,000)

 

 Current income tax charge

 Current financial year

 Amendments for preceding years

 Deferred taxes

 Temporary differences between fiscal and 

 commercial valuation

 Change in tax rates

 Recognized losses

 Taxes according to the consolidated 

 income statement 

 Taxes divided into:

 Continuing operations

 Discontinued operations 
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Specification of effective tax rate

(E x 1,000)

5.9.7 Discontinued operations

On 12 October 2005 the procedure for liquidation of NOXS Germany GmbH, based in Germany, was started. The cause of 

the liquidation lies in the deterioration of the market position in Germany, so it was decided to close the related 

offices of this entity. The liquidation was finalized on 22 December 2005. On this date NOXS Germany GmbH was removed 

from the trade register and formal deregistration from this register took place. 

The results of NOXS Germany GmbH are as follows:

(E x 1,000)

 
 

 2005 %

 

 27,088

 -5,323 

 21,765

 

 6,856 31.5%

 -940

 1,663

 -582

 -4,251

 -674 

 

 1,971

 4,043 

 2005 2004

 

 3,633 12,411

 6,302 14,532

 2,415 3,702

 -5,084 -5,823

 239 161

 -5,323 -5,984

 

 -872 631

 2,992 0

 -3,203 -5,353

 -0.12 -0.21

 -0.12 -0.21

 -381 -30

 
   
   Revenues 

 Costs of operations 

 Impairment of the remaining goodwill 

 Operating result (EBIT) 

 Finance costs 

 Profit before tax 

 Taxes: 

   Deferred tax asset

   Fiscal downward revaluation of interests

 Profit after tax

 Earnings per share in € 

     Basic earnings per share attributable to  

discontinued operations

    Diluted earnings per share attributable to  

discontinued operations

 Net cash flow

 

 Profit before tax from continuing operations 

 Loss before tax from discontinued operations 

 Profit before tax 

 Tax expense on the basis of Netherlands nominal rate 

 Application of local, nominal rates 

 Non-tax deductible items/exempt expenses 

 Set-off of non-capitalized tax deductible losses

 Fiscal downward revaluation of interests

 Prior-year tax liability/(asset)

 Non-compensatory losses 

 (no valuation as deferred tax asset)
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5.10 Notes to items on the balance sheet

5.10.1 Intangible assets

  Internally Acquired  Other 

   developed software Customer intangible

 Goodwill software products contracts assets Total

 49,017 14,285 3,300 8,369 228 75,199 

 7,963 0   1,824 2,669  0 12,456

 -1,387 -130 0 0 130 -1,387

 0 9,341 0  0 64 9,405

 210 0 0 220 135 565

 -14,236 0 0 -220 -46 -14,502

 14,236 0 0 220 46 14,502

 0 -3,263 -919 -2,408 -123 -6,713

 -3,889 0 0 0 0 -3,889

 -157 522 0 -109 0 256

 51,757 20,755 4,205 8,741 434 85,892

 64,875 20,287 3,500 10,296 716 99,674 

 -9,156 -6,002   -200 -1,927  -488 -17,773

 -6,702 0 0 0 0 -6,702

 49,017 14,285 3,300 8,369 228 75,199

 

 57,258 30,326 5,324 12,827 999 106,734

 -4,991 -9,571 -1,119 -4,086 -565 -20,332

 -510 0 0 0 0 -510

 51,757 20,755 4,205 8,741 434 85,892 

At 31 December 2005 (E x 1,000)

 

 Carrying amount at 1 January

 Acquisition of subsidiaries

 Adjustments preceding financial years

 Internally developed intangible assets

 Investments

 Divestments (cost price) 

 Divestments (accumulated depreciation

 and impairment) 

 Depreciation

 Impairment

 Currency translation differences

 Carrying amount at 31 December

 1 January 2005

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation

 Accumulated impairment

 Carrying amount 

 31 December 2005

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation

 Accumulated impairment

 Carrying amount

The adjustments for preceding financial years consist of the adjustments to the originally calculated goodwill, 

such as prior-year acquisition costs, adjustments to the fair value and adjustments to the earn out liabilities.
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At 31 December 2004  (E x 1,000)

 Carrying amount at 1 January

 Acquisition of subsidiaries

 Adjustments preceding financial years

 Internally developed intangible assets

 Investments

 Divestments (cost price) 

 Divestments (accumulated depreciation

 and impairment) 

 Depreciation

 Impairment

 Currency translation differences

 Carrying amount at 31 December

 1 January 2004

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation

 Accumulated impairment

 Carrying amount 

 31 December 2004

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation

 Accumulated impairment

 Carrying amount

  Internally Acquired  Other 

   developed software Customer intangible

 Goodwill software products contracts assets Total

 30,911 7,437 0 1,483 0 39,831 

 22,872 1,319   3,500 8,061  0 35,752

 13 0 0 0 0 13

 0 7,746 0  0 80 7,826

 0 0 0 0 213 213

 -1,248 0 0 0 0 -1,248

 190 0 0 0 0 190

 0 -2,307 -200 -1,209 -65 -3,781

 -3,702 0 0 0 0 -3,702

 -19 90 0 34 0 105

 49,017 14,285 3,300 8,369 228 75,199

 42,296 10,056 0 2,206 0 54,558 

 -8,385 -2,619   0 -723  0 -11,727

 -3,000 0 0 0 0 -3,000

 30,911 7,437 0 1,483 0 39,831

 

 64,875 20,287 3,500 10,296 716 99,674

 -9,156 -6,002 -200 -1,927 -488 -17,773

 -6,702 0 0 0 0 -6,702

 49,017 14,285 3,300 8,369 228 75,199 
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5.10.1.1 Impairment test for cash-generating units in which goodwill is capitalized

The Group annually carries out impairment tests on capitalized goodwill, based on the relevant cash-generating unit. 

In principle, the period to be used for discounting cash flows is infinite. The recoverable value of various cash- 

generating segments in which goodwill is capitalized is determined by measuring their operating value. For such  

calculations future cash flows based on current revenue from operations and (in general) a five-year forecast are 

used. Any residual value is calculated on the basis of an infinite cash flow that is determined by means of the  

projected cash flow in the fifth year. The individual growth percentages are derived from long term forecasts for the 

industry and the expectations of the management involved. A discount rate of 12.0% before tax is used to measure the 

cash value of the future cash flows (operating value) before tax.

Below is a description of how the carrying amount of the goodwill units can be attributed to the cash-generating 

units. Per goodwill unit, that forms a significant part of the total goodwill item, the assumptions for determining 

the recoverable value are described. 

(E x 1,000)

The accumulated carrying amount in the cash-generating units (including goodwill) remains below the recoverable value 

based on an operating value calculation, with the exception of the goodwill relating to shares in NOXS Germany GmbH  

(formerly Icon Systems GmbH) acquired in 2001 and the shares in Unit 4 Agresso Ireland Holdings Ltd. (formerly  

Priority Data Group) acquired in 2002. The impairment at Agresso France SA is the result of the sale of two software  

products acquired in 2003.

However, future negative changes in the assumptions applied may cause the recoverable values to drop to such an  

extent that they fall below the carrying amount.

Cash-generating unit Agresso Holdings Inc. (including subsidiaries)

The recoverable value of Agresso Holdings Inc. is determined based on an operating value that is calculated using 

cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management, covering a 5-year period, taking account  

of a residual value. In 5 years the cash flows grow on average by 25% per year. The residual value is calculated  

on the basis of an eternal cash flow that is determinded by means of the projected cash flow in the fifth year.

 Agresso Holdings Inc. (including subsidiaries)

 Agresso Spain S.L.

 Agresso France SA

 Amercom B.V.

 Decade Financial Software B.V.

 Foundation ICT Group B.V.

 Micro Computer Associates Ltd.  

 (including subsidiaries)

 NOXS Germany GmbH

 NOXS Europe B.V. (Risc Group)

 Unit 4 Agresso Ireland Holdings Ltd.  

 (including subsidiaries)

 Other

 
 
 

 Carrying  

  amount goodwill Impairment

at 31 December 2005 2005

 

 6,564 0

 5,817 0

 5,459 963

 4,362 0

 5,135 0

 4,997 0

 

 2,239 0

 0 2,415

 6,793 0

 2,265 394 

 8,126 117

 51,757 3,889
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Cash-generating unit Agresso Spain S.L.

The recoverable value of Agresso Spain S.L. is determined based on an operating value that is calculated using cash 

flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management, covering a 5-year period, taking account of a  

residual value. In 5 years the cash flows grow on average by 3% per year. The residual value is calculated on the  

basis of an eternal cash flow that is determinded by means of the projected cash flow in the fifth year.

Cash-generating unit Agresso France SA (business unit Fininfor)

The recoverable value of business unit Fininfor is determined based on an operating value that is calculated using 

cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management, covering a 5-year period, taking account 

of a residual value. In 5 years the cash flows grow on average by 15% per year. The residual value is calculated on 

the basis of an eternal cash flow that is determinded by means of the projected cash flow in the fifth year.

Cash-generating unit Amercom B.V.

The recoverable value of Amercom B.V. is determined based on an operating value that is calculated using cash flow  

projections based on financial budgets approved by the management, covering a 5-year period, taking account of a  

residual value. In 5 years the cash flows grow on average by 25% per year. The residual value is calculated on the 

basis of an eternal cash flow that is determinded by means of  the projected cash flow in the fifth year. 

Cash-generating unit Decade Financial Software B.V.

The recoverable value of Decade Financial Software B.V. is determined based on an operating value that is  

calculated using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management, covering a 5-year  

period, taking account of a residual value. In 5 years the cash flows grow on average by 8% per year. The residual 

value is calculated on the basis of an eternal cash flow that is determinded by means of the projected cash flow  

in the fifth year.

Cash-generating unit Foundation ICT Group B.V.(including subsidiaries)

The recoverable value of Foundation ICT Group B.V. is determined based on an operating value that is calculated using 

cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management, covering a 5-year period, taking account 

of a residual value. In 5 years the cash flows grow on average by 59% per year. The residual value is calculated on 

the basis of an eternal cash flow that is determinded by means of the projected cash flow in the fifth year.

Cash-generating unit Micro Computer Associates Ltd. (including subsidiaries)

The recoverable value of Micro Computer Associates Ltd. is determined based on an operating value that is  

calculated using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management, covering a 5-year  

period, taking account of a residual value. In 5 years the cash flows grow on average by 8% per year. The residual 

value is calculated on the basis of an eternal cash flow that is determinded by means of the projected cash flow  

in the fifth year.

Cash-generating unit NOXS Germany GmbH

The recoverable value of NOXS Germany GmbH is set at nil, as the company was liquidated at year-end 2005. The cause  

of the liquidation is the deterioration of the market position in Germany, so the decision was made to close the  

offices concerned. Consequently an impairment of € 2.4 million was recognized in 2005. 

Cash-generating unit NOXS Europe B.V. (Risc Group)

The recoverable value of NOXS Europe B.V. is determined based on an operating value that is calculated using cash 

flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management, covering a 5-year period, taking account of a  

residual value. In 5 years the cash flows grow on average by 11% per year. The residual value is calculated on the 

basis of an eternal cash flow that is determinded by means of the projected cash flow in the fifth year. 
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Cash-generating unit Unit 4 Agresso Ireland Holdings Ltd. (including subsidiaries)

The recoverable value of Unit 4 Agresso Ireland Holdings Ltd. is determined based on an operating value that is  

calculated using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management, covering a 5-year  

period, taking account of a residual value. In 5 years the cash flows grow on average by 58% per year. The residual 

value is calculated on the basis of an eternal cash flow that is determinded by means of the projected cash flow in 

the fifth year. Consequently an impairment of € 0.4 million was recognized in 2005.

The impairment of the goodwill of Unit 4 Agresso Ireland Holdings Ltd. arises from the downwardly adjusted market  

expectations for the coming years, as the strategy set in to evolve from an anti-virus product supplier to an  

‘all-risk solution services provider’ entails the necessary far-reaching changes.

This results in an initially slower growth curve of the revenue and in the downsizing of business units in countries 

where at present no future is seen for the old business concept.

5.10.2 Tangible assets

At 31 December 2005 (E x 1,000)

 Carrying amount at 1 January

 Acquisition of subsidiaries

 Investments

 Divestments

 Depreciation of divestments

 Depreciation

 Currency translation differences

 Carrying amount at 31 December

 1 January 2005

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation

 Carrying amount

 31 December 2005

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation

 Carrying amount

There are no collaterals on the land and buildings.

 Land and Technological Other tangible  

  buildings inventories  assets Total

 0 3,628 3,456 7,084 

 1,496 646   226 2,368  

 0 3,096 930 4,026 

 0 -2,290 -2,151  -4,441 

 0 2,246 1,986 4,232 

 0 -2,534 -1,541 -4,075 

 0 23 5 28 

 1,496 4,815 2,911 9,222 

 0 15,396 10,887 26,283 

 0 -11,768   -7,431 -19,199  

 0 3,628 3,456 7,084 

 

 1,517 18,222 10,155 29,894 

 -21 -13,407 -7,244 -20,672 

 1,496 4,815 2,911 9,222
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5.10.3 Investment in associates

The Group has a 20% interest in Exa Group Consultores S.A. and a 20% interest in Islanda S.L. (Innovación en Software 

Libre, Análisis y Desarrollo de Aplicaciones S.L.), both based in Spain. Both companies are active in the software 

industry and are engaged in designing, developing, distributing and maintaining software products with related  

services. 

The revenue and the net profit of the associates at the balance sheet date are: 

(E x 1,000)

The (abridged) balance sheet of the associates at the balance sheet date are: 

(E x 1,000)

 

 Revenue

 Net profit

 Exa Group Islanda Total

 406 412 818

 24 -10 14

    

 Non-current assets

 Current assets

 Non-current liabilities

 Current liabilities 

 Equity

 The share in the Group is:

 in percentage

 in € x 1,000

 Carrying amount of the investment 

 Exa Group Islanda Total  

 90 43 133 

 249 218 467 

 -9 -39 -48 

 -123 -132 -255

 207 90 297

 20% 20% 

 41 18 59

 41 18 59

  

At 31 December 2004 (E x 1,000)

 Carrying amount at 1 January

 Acquisition of subsidiaries

 Investments

 Divestments

 Depreciation of divestments

 Depreciation

 Currency translation differences

 Carrying amount at 31 December

 1 January 2004

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation

 Carrying amount

 31 December 2004

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation

 Carrying amount

 Land and Technological Other tangible  

  buildings inventories  assets Total

 0 2,610 3,313 5,923 

 0 1,331   339 1,670  

 0 1,668 1,204 2,872 

 0 -2,210 -1,897  -4,107 

 0 2,191 1,806 3,997 

 0 -1,982 -1,324 -3,306 

 0 20 15 35 

 0 3,628 3,456 7,084 

 0 13,199 10,668 23,867 

 0 -10,589   -7,355 -17,944  

 0 2,610 3,313 5,923 

 

 0 15,396 10,887 26,283 

 0 -11,768 -7,431 -19,199 

 0 3,628 3,456 7,084
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5.10.4 Other financial assets

Other financial assets consist of a loan and securities.

At 31 December 2005 (E x 1,000)

The Loan item relates to a loan to a former subsidiary with a remaining term of three years which is repaid  

on the basis of straight-line repayment in the amount of € 0.6 million per year with a remaining payment in 2009  

of € 1.0 million. The loan is secured in the form of maintenance contracts. 

During the financial year a loan with a company outside of the Group was converted into a loan with a subsidiary.

The Securities item relates to the 15% interest in Arge Holding B.V. (formerly Arge Consultancy B.V.) and the 0.4% 

interest in ArgeWeb B.V., both based in Maassluis. A 22% interest in a Swedish software company was sold in 2005.

 Loan  Securities Total  

 

 6,911 3 6,914 

 -1,706 0 -1,706 

 157 168 325 

 -600 0 -600 

 4,762 171 4,933

 

 600 0 600 

 4,162 171 4,333 

 4,762 171 4,933

  

   Loan  Securities Total  

 

 4,759 171 4,930 

 -1,123 0 -1,123 

 0 3 3 

 0 -168 -168

 -823 0 -823

 2,813 6 2,819 

 600 0 600 

 2,213 6 2,219

 2,813 6 2,819

 Balance at 1 January   

  Acquisition of subsidiaries

 Investments

 Divestments

 Repayments

 Balance at 31 December

 Current   

 Non-current

At 31 December 2004 (E x 1,000)

 Balance at 1 January   

 Acquisition of subsidiaries

 Investments

 Repayments

 Balance at 31 December

 Current   

 Non-current
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5.10.5 Deferred tax asset

The deferred tax asset recognized is caused by tax losses which are expected to be offset in the future against  

taxable income and by differences between fiscal and commercial valuations and result determinations. The deferred 

tax asset is to a significant extent of a long-term nature.

The Group has an amount of € 26.8 million in non-recognized losses available for offset. These losses are not  

recognized on the balance sheet because the losses have not yet been determined by the local authorities or because 

the uncertainty whether sufficient taxable profits can be realized within the foreseeable future is too high. Of this 

amount, € 0.9 million will expire at 31 December 2009, € 2.0 million at 31 December 2010, € 0.5 million at 31 December 

2011 and € 0.9 million at 31 December 2013. The remainder can be offset indefinitely into the future on the basis of 

the current legislation and regulations.

5.10.6 Inventories

The inventories consist entirely of trading stock.

5.10.7 Trade and other receivables

5.10.7.1 Trade receivables

An amount of € 3.5 million has been deducted from the trade receivables for bad debt  

(2004: € 3.3 million).

The deferred tax asset at 31 December relates to the following: 

(E x 1,000) 

 

  

 Losses available for offset against

 future taxable income

 Delayed fiscal depreciation

 Provision for deferred benefits

 Fiscally not-realized provisions for receivables

 2005 2004 

  

 4,409 6,041

 32 0

 131 131

 193 194

 4,765 6,366

     
 

(E x 1,000)

 

   

 Work in progress 

 Trade receivables

 Other receivables 

 Securities

 Derivatives

 2005 2004 

  

 100 113

 92,651 72,584

 23,840 18,914

 184 0

 29 30

 116,804 91,641
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5.10.7.2 Other receivables

Receivables related parties 

This relates to a loan to a party which is related to a key official of Unit 4 Agresso N.V. The interest on this loan 

is 6% on an annual basis. 

Prepayments and accrued income 

Prepayments and accrued income includes, in particular, prepaid services or supplies, interest to be received and 

prepaid costs like lease, rental and interest costs. These can be specified as follows:

(E x 1,000)

5.10.7.3 Securities

The securities consist of an investment in debentures and an investment in listed shares. This concerns 72,660 shares 

with a value of € 2.26 per share.

(E x 1,000)

 

 

 Debentures - unlisted

 Shares - listed

 2005 2004 

  

 20 0

 164 0

 184 0

      

 

 Prepaid pensions  

 Prepaid rent

 Prepaid insurance 

 Interest to be received

 Prepaid goods and services

 Prepaid maintenance contracts   

 Deposits 

 Discounts to be received

 Other

 2005 2004 

  

 623 65

 996 1,033

 512 549

 511 641

 1,742 1,417

 528 1,690

 502 407

 998 246

 3,052 3,333

 9,464 9,381

 2005 2004 

  

 600 600

 372 372

 62 36

 989 2.228

 9,115 6,297

 

 2,500 0

 738 0

 9,464 9,381

 23,840 18,914

 
 
 
     
     

(E x 1,000)

 

   

 Short-term part of long-term receivables

 Receivables related parties

 Receivables employees

 Receivables from interests and former interests  

 To be invoiced    

 Receivable from former shareholder of acquired  

 subsidiaries     

 Other receivables     

 Prepayments and accrued income
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5.10.8 Other taxes

The other taxes consist of:

( x 1,000)

5.10.9 Cash and cash equivalents

( x 1,000)

5.10.10 Equity

For an overview of the changes in the equity, see Chapter 3 Consolidated statement of changes in equity.

5.10.10.1 Issued capital

The authorized share capital at 31 December 2005 encompasses 40,000,000 (2004: 40,000,000) ordinary shares and 

40,000,000 (2004: 40,000,000) preference shares, both with a nominal value of € 0.05. No preference shares have been 

issued. The holders of ordinary shares have one vote per share at the company’s shareholders’ meeting.

At the balance sheet date 25,717,571 ordinary shares were issued and paid up. The changes (in numbers) in the share 

capital can be presented as follows:

5.10.10.2 Share premium

The share premium can be considered as paid up capital.

   

5.10.10.3 Currency translation differences reserve

The currency translation differences reserve encompasses all exchange differences, as of 1 January 2004 (IFRS  

transition date), relating to foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the net investment in 

entities with another functional currency than the euro, and from the translation of liabilities (loans and other 

financial instruments) used to hedge the Group’s net investment in a foreign subsidiary.

   

 2005 2004 

  

 16,463 27,260

  

 

 Sales tax 

 Other taxes and social security premiums

 2005 2004 

  

 2,088 1,304

 1,072 487

 3,160 1,791

      

 Balance at 1 January

 Plus: issues concerning instalments on

 long-term debts

 Plus: exercise of options

 Balance at 31 December  

 2005 2004 

  

 25,707,133 25,427,700

 

 0 143,433

 10,438 136,000

 25,717,571  25,707,133

 Bank balances and cash equivalents
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5.10.10.4 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

The basic earnings per share over 2005 amounted to € 0.69 (2004: € 0.58).

The basic earnings per share at 31 December 2005 are based on the net profit as attributable to the ordinary  

shareholders, being € 17.7 million (2004: € 14.7 million) and the weighted average number of shares outstanding  

in 2005, being 25.7 million (2004: 25.6 million ). This is calculated as follows:

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 

( x 1,000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

(in numbers x 1,000)

Basic earnings per share attributable to continuing operations

The basic earnings per share attributable to continuing operations over 2005 amounted to € 0.81 (2004: € 0.79).

The basic earnings per share attributable to continuing operations at 31 December 2005 are based on the net profit  

attributable to continuing operations as attributable to ordinary shareholders, being € 20.9 million  

(2004: € 20.1 million) and the weighted average number of shares outstanding over 2005, being 25.7 million  

(2004: 25.6 million ). This is calculated as follows:

Net profit attributable to continuing operations 

( x 1,000)

          

 

 Net profit current financial year attributable 

 to ordinary shareholders

 2005 2004 

  

 17,722 14,729

       

          

 

  Number of ordinary shares at 1 January

 Issued shares on behalf of repayment

 liabilities of long-term loans

 Issued shares as a result of exercised 

 option rights

 Weighted average number of shares 

 at 31 December

 2005 2004 

  

 25,707 25,428

 

 0 111

 

 6 34

 25,713 25,573

       

 2005 2004 

  

 20,925 20,082

       
 Net profit attributable to continuing operations
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Weighted average number of ordinary shares attributable to continuing operations 

(in numbers x 1,000)

Diluted earnings per share

The diluted earnings per share over 2005 were  0.68 (2004:  0.57). The diluted earnings per share at 31 December 

2005 are based on the net profit as attributable to ordinary shareholders, being  17.7 million  

(2004:  14.7 million) and the diluted number of shares outstanding in 2005, being 25.9 million (2004: 25.8 million). 

This is calculated as follows:

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (after dilution) 

( x 1,000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (after dilution) 

(in numbers x 1,000)

Diluted earnings per share attributable to continuing operations

The diluted earnings per share attributable to continuing operations over 2005 amounted to € 0.80 (2004: € 0.78).  

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share at 31 December 2005 are based on the net profit attributable  

to continuing operations as attributable to ordinary shareholders, being € 20.9 million (2004: € 20.1 million)  

and the diluted number of shares outstanding over 2005, being 25.9 million (2004: 25.8 million). This is calculated 

as follows:

          

 

 

 Number of ordinary shares at 1 January

  Issued shares on behalf of repayment

 liabilities of long-term loans

 Issued shares as a result of exercised 

 option rights

 Weighted average number of shares 

 at 31 December

 2005 2004 

  

 25,707 25,428

 

 0 111

 

 6 34

 25,713 25,573

 
      

 2005 2004 

  

 17,722 14,729

 0 0

 

 17,722 14,729

       

         

 

 Weighted average number of shares at 31 December

 Outstanding option rights

 Weighted average number of shares 

 (after dilution) at 31 December

 2005 2004 

  

 25,713 25,573

 211 190

 

 25,924 25,763

       
 

          

 

  Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders

 Outstanding option rights (after taxes)

 Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 

 (after dilution)
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Net profit attributable to continuing operations (after dilution) 

( x 1,000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares attributable to continuing operations (after dilution) 

(in numbers x 1,000)

5.10.11 Non-current liabilities

5.10.11.1 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings: 

(in  x 1,000)

Financial lease obligations

The expiration terms of the financial lease obligations are: 

( x 1,000)

The payments relate to the cash value of the payments still to be made at the balance sheet date. The interest relates 

to the interest that was recognized in the profit and loss during the financial year. According to the conditions of 

the lease contracts, no conditional lease payments are owing. All financial lease contracts have a term shorter than 

5 years. The interest of the financial lease is on average 4.5%.

Fixed instalments to be paid relating to acquisitions

The fixed instalments to be paid relating to acquisitions concern the postponed payments agreed to in the contract.

    

 

 Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders

 Effect of outstanding option rights (after tax) 

 Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 

(after dilution)

 2005 2004 

  

 20,925 20,082

 0 0

 

 20,925 20,082

 2005 2004 

 57 117

 774 774

 831 891

 

         

 

 Weighted average number of shares at 31 December

 Effect of outstanding option rights 

 Weighted average number of shares 

 (after dilution) at 31 December

 2005 2004 

  

 25,713 25,573

 211 190

 

 25,924 25,763

       

 Less than one year

 More than one year

31 December 2005 

 Payments Interest Principal  

 28   

 57

 85 4 119

31 December 2004

 Payments Interest Principal 

 36   

 117

 153 7 225

 Financial lease obligations 

 Fixed instalments to be paid relating to acquisitions
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5.10.11.2 Pension obligations

The provisions relate to the obligations regarding committed pension entitlements in France which are regulated by  

the government and to an individual pension plan at the Swedish subsidiary Formaster Consulting AB. The plan in France 

concerns an unfunded obligation. Because of the limited importance of the obligation, no further explanation has  

been included. The other countries know defined contribution plans and/or old age provisions in accordance with the 

regulations and customs in those countries.  

In the Netherlands there are pension plans which under IFRS qualify as a defined contribution plan. These plans  

are fully reinsured. On determining the annual costs, account is taken of the nature of the plan which provides  

for indexation of built-up pension claims on the basis of the surplus interest to be generated by the relevant insurer.  

In addition, a limited number of employees have an individual pension commitment which qualifies as a defined  

contribution plan. In these cases the employer does not run any risk. No additional pension plans have been  

established in Germany. In Belgium there either are a number of defined contribution plans or no pension plan  

whatsoever has been set up.  

No pension plans have been established in Ireland, Spain and Italy. The United Kingdom primarily knows defined  

contributions plans. In Norway and Denmark there were defined benefit plans up to and including 31 December 2004.  

These were converted at 1 January 2005 into defined contribution plans. Next to the above-mentioned countries, Sweden, 

North America and Canada only have defined contribution plans.

The development of the pensions can be presented as follows: 

( x 1,000)

5.10.11.3 Deferred tax liability

The deferred tax liability recognized is caused by differences between fiscal and commercial valuations and  

result determinations and by fiscal facilities which make it possible to postpone tax payment. The deferred tax  

liability is to a significant extent of a long-term nature.

The deferred tax liability at 31 December relates to the following: 

( x 1,000) 

 2005 2004 

  

 260 225

 231 40

 26 -5

 517 260

     

          

 Temporary downward valuation facility (13ca) for interests

 Facility deferred tax payment

 Difference between commercial and fiscal result

 Pensions

 2005 2004 

  

 7,099 0

 287 494

 1,243 604

 47 0

 8,676 1,098

      

 Balance at 1 January

 Acquisition of subsidiaries

 Pension costs attributable to the year

 Balance at 31 December
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The temporary downward valuation facility (article 13ca Dutch tax law) for interests is related to the downward valu-

ation option in the Dutch tax legislation offering the possibility of a temporary downward valuation of an  

interest (under normal circumstances 5 years), thus realizing an interest and rate gain. The valuation in the  

financial statements was effected in 2005 after certainty was gained regarding the tax return submitted.

5.10.11.4 Provisions

The provisions consist of:

At 31 December 2005 ( x 1,000)

At 31 December 2004 ( x 1,000)

Earn out obligations

The earn out obligations relate to the expectations of the management for the variable part of the purchase price of 

the shares acquired during the year or earlier. No interest is owed over the earn out obligations. 

The earn out obligations to be paid were discounted at 1.65%.

    
 

 Balance at 1 January

 Arising during the year

 Expenditure

 Reversed unused amounts

 Discount rate adjustment 

 Foreign currency translation differences

 Balance at 31 December

 Current 

 Non-current

    
 

 

 Balance at 1 January

 Arising during the year

 Expenditure

 Discount rate adjustment 

 Balance at 31 December

 Current 

 Non-current

  Earn out  Deferred   

  obligations  Reorganization benefits Total

  

  11,106 0 438 11,544  

  5,268 2,585 18 7,871  

  -2,439 -118 -33 -2,590  

  -1,776 0 0 -1,776  

  212 0 15 227  

  130 0 0 130 

  12,501 2,467 438 15,406  

 

  7,492 2,467 0 9,959  

  5,009 0 438 5,447  

  12,501 2,467 438 15,406  

 

  Earn out  Deferred   

  obligations  Reorganization benefits Total

  0 0 438 438  

  10,897 0 7 10,904  

  0 0 -22 -22  

  209 0 15 224  

  11,106 0 438 11,544  

  

  2,543 0 0 2,543  

  8,563 0 438 9,001  

  11,106 0 438 11,544
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Reorganization provision

The reorganization provision primarily relates to the reorganization at the French subsidiary Agresso France SA.  

The estimated costs are based on a detailed plan which was prepared in November 2005 and was announced to the  

works council and all the employees before the balance sheet date. The total estimated costs include the employee  

redundancy costs as described in the reorganization plan. This reorganization plan records which employees will be 

made redundant at which locations and what the concomitant expected costs are. 

At the German subsidiary Agresso GmbH a reorganization was started off which was partly completed at the end of 2005. 

The bulk of the reorganization will be implemented at the beginning of 2006. The total estimated costs include the 

employee redundancy costs as included in the reorganization plan. This reorganization plan records which employees 

will be made redundant at which locations and what the concomitant expected costs are.

Deferred benefits

The provision for deferred benefits relates to the payments connected with years of service (12.5 and 25 years) which 

is applied by a number of subsidiaries within the Group.

5.10.12 Current liabilities

5.10.12.1 Trade and other payables

The composition of the trade payables and other payables is as follows: 

( x 1,000)

5.10.12.2 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

The composition of the interest-bearing loans and borrowings is as follows: 

( x 1,000)

The ING Bank has extended a credit facility of € 17.5 million. No specific securities have been given. The interest on 

this credit facility is the EURIBOR (1 month) interest plus a surcharge of 105 basis points. The Fortis bank provided 

a multi-purpose facility with a limit of € 20 million. This credit facility can be used in the form of an overdraft, a 

cash loan (maximum € 10 million) with a term between one and twelve months and in the form of guarantees. The interest 

on the overdraft is the Fortis basic rate plus a surcharge of 85 basis points. The interest on the cash loan is the 

EURIBOR interest, for a term equal to the term of the cash loan, plus a surcharge of 65 basis points. At balance sheet 

date the remaining term of the cash loan is 28 days.

  

 

 Trade payables

 Supplier invoices to be received

 2005 2004 

  

 28,332 30,490

 7,673 12,008

 36,005 42,498

   

 

 

 

 Bank credit ING

 Cash loan Fortis

 Other bank credit facilities 

 2005 2004 

  

 5,363 19

 10,000 10,000

 1,254 2,068

 16,617 12,087
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5.10.12.3 Other taxes

Other taxes consist of:

( x 1,000)

5.10.12.4 Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income

Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income consist of:

( x 1,000)

5.10.13 Financial instruments

5.10.13.1 Fair value

The following overview presents a comparison of the carrying amount and fair value of all financial instruments of 

the Group recognized in the financial statements. 

( x 1,000)

          

 Sales tax 

 Income tax

 Other taxes and social security premiums

 2005 2004 

  

 10,397 7,841

 3,869 2,833

 3,367 2,966

 17,633 13,640

    

 Deferred income

 Holiday pay, holidays, salaries and 

 employee bonuses to be paid 

 Pensions to be paid  

 Deferred and prepaid interest

 Factoring receivables

 Other

 2005 2004 

  

 22,236 19,788

 11,604 8,384

 534 65

 506 502

 1,333 5,731

 5,859 4,844

 42,072 39,314

     

    

 Financial assets

 Financial lease

 Other financial assets

 Securities

 Forward currency contracts

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Financial liabilities

 Earn out liabilities

 Bank credit facilities

 Financial lease obligations

  Carrying amount  Fair value 

  2005 2004 2005 2004 

  82 171 82 171  

  2,806 4,917 2,806 4,917  

  184 0 184 0

  29 30 29 344  

  16,463 27,260 16,463 27,260

  19,564 32,378 19,564 32,692

  12,501 11,106 12,501 11,106  

  16,617 12,087 16,617 12,087  

  85 153 85 153  

  29,203 23,346 29,203 23,346  
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5.10.13.2 Interest risk

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to an interest risk are set out below,  

by maturity.

At 31 December 2005 (E x 1,000)

At 31 December 2004 (E x 1,000)

5.10.13.3 Credit risk

The Group is not exposed to important concentrations of credit risks.

5.10.13.4 Hedging activities

At balance sheet date Unit 4 Agresso N.V. had the following derivatives outstanding at the ING bank. All positions 

relate to fair value hedges, used to hedge the exposure to currency risks for existing balance sheet positions in 

foreign currency. All changes in both the fair value of the underlying positions and in the financial instruments are 

recognized directly in the profit. The fair values are determined as the difference between the forward exchange rate 

and the rate on balance sheet date.

         

 Fixed interest rates

 Other financial assets 

 Securities (current)  

 Financial lease obligations 

 Variable interest rates 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Bank credit facilities

  Less than  More than 

  1 year 1-5 year 5 year Total 

  600 2,206 0 2,806  

  184 0 0 184  

  -28 -57 0 -85

  756 2,149 0 2,905

  16,463 0 0 16,463

  -16,617 0 0 -16,617

  -154 0 0 -154

    

 Fixed interest rates

 Other financial assets 

 Securities (current)  

 Financial lease obligations 

 Variable interest rates 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Bank credit facilities

  Less than  More than 

  1 year 1-5 year 5 year Total

  600 4,317 0 4,917  

  0 0 0 0 

  -36 -117 0 -153

  564 4,200 0 4,764

  27,260 0 0 27,260

  -12,087 0 0 -12,087

  15,173 0 0 15,173

 Positions at 31 December 2005 Expiration date Forward exchange rate

 Buy EUR 2.6 million charged to USD 3 April 2006 1.2000 

 Buy GBP 3.9 million charged to CAD 3 April 2006 2.0260

 Sell GBP 3.6 million credited to USD 3 April 2006 1.7373

 Sell EUR 2.7 million credited to SEK 3 July 2006 9.4150

 Sell EUR 9.2 million credited to GBP 3 July 2006 0.6915
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5.10.14 Obligations not disclosed in the balance sheet

5.10.14.1 Rental obligations

The Group has entered into rental obligations for an annual amount of € 7.5 million (2004: € 7.1 million).  

The average term of the rental obligations is four years. The rental obligation for a period of less than one year  

is € 7.2 million. The rental obligation for the period longer than one year and shorter than five years is € 16.5  

million. The rental obligation for the period longer than five years is € 3.7 million. In 2005, € 7.8 million worth  

of rental costs was recognized in the income statement.

   

5.10.14.2 Lease obligations

The Group has taken on operational lease obligations for which the remaining instalments amount to € 8.9 million 

(2004: € 7.2 million). The average term of the lease obligations is two years. The lease obligation for a period of 

less than one year is € 3.9 million. The lease obligation for the period longer than one year and shorter than five 

years is € 5.0 million. The lease obligation for the period longer than five years is € 0. In 2005 € 7.6 million  

(including fuel costs) worth of lease costs was recognized in the income statement.

   

5.10.14.3 Securities

The securities issued by the Group on behalf of third parties amount to € 0. (2004: € 15,500).

   

5.10.14.4 Bank guarantees

On the balance sheet date the amount of the current guarantees is € 9.6 million (2004: € 7.4 million). 

   

5.10.14.5 Guarantee statement

Unit 4 Agresso N.V. has issued statements in accordance with the provisions of Article 403 of Book 2 Title 9 of the 

Netherlands Civil Code with regard to a number of the Dutch companies mentioned under ‘General accounting policies’. 

These companies are therefore exempt from the regulations which apply to the preparation and publication of the  

financial statements.

   

5.10.14.6 Legal proceedings

Following the activities of the Group, the company is involved in a number of legal proceedings.  

In the opinion of the management this will not be of any material significance to the Group’s financial position.

   

5.10.15 Abridged representation of company income statement

As permitted pursuant to Article 402, Title 9, Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code Unit 4 Agresso N.V.’s company  

income statement is presented in an abridged form.

   

5.11 Events after balance sheet date  

No significant events occurred in the period between balance sheet date and the composition of the financial statements 

which could be of influence on the economic decisions made by users of these financial statements. 

   

 Positions at 31 December 2005 Expiration date Forward exchange rate

 Sell EUR 6.8 million credited to GBP 15 March 2005 0.6925

 Sell EUR 2.5 million credited to GBP 30 August 2005 0.7013

 Sell EUR 7.0 million credited to GBP 30 August 2005 0.6902
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5.12 Related parties  

5.12.1 Identity of related parties

The following related parties of the Group can be distinguished: the subsidiaries, the associates, the Supervisory 

Board and the Board of Directors. Chapter 5.2 provides an overview of the subsidiaries which are included in the  

consolidated figures. 

5.12.2 Transactions with and remuneration of the Board of Directors

The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors of the company over 2005 and 2004 can be presented as  

follows: 

( x 1,000)

A car and a mobile phone are made available to the members of the Board of Directors. In addition they receive a  

small monthly allowance to cover expenses. The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors is determined 

annually by the remuneration committee (Supervisory Board). The bonus scheme for the Board of Directors is dependent 

on two profit targets. The maximum bonus is 50% of the fixed annual salary, whereby half of the bonus is dependent on 

achieving the EBITDA target and the other half on achieving the target earnings per share. In both cases a bonus will 

be paid (pro rata) if at least 70% of the target is met, running up to a maximum of 100% of the maximum bonus when the 

target is fully achieved.

     

No transactions were entered into nor were guarantees given on behalf of the members of the Board of Directors.

The table below contains the information on the options awarded to the members of the Board of Directors:

 Salary

 Profit share

 Bonus

 Pension (including disability insurance)

 Value of granted option rights

 Total

 C. Ouwinga E.T.S. van Leeuwen H.P. De Smedt

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

 332 319 231 209 231 209 

 0 0 0 0 0 94 

 154 160 107 104 125 0

 43 28 36 35 35 35

 33 0 33 0 33 0 

 562 507 407 348 424 338

 Director

 

 C. Ouwinga 

 

 E.T.S. van Leeuwen

 

 

 H.P. De Smedt

        Outstanding at Exercise Price on

  Outstanding at Awarded in Exercised in Expired in 31 December  price (€) exercise date Expiration

 Year 1 January 2005  2005 2005 2005 2005    (€) date  

 2003 200,000 0 0 0 200,000  4.00  - February 2008  

 2005 0 50,000 0 0 50,000  13.02  - April 2010  

 Total  200,000 50,000 0 0 250,000 

           

 2003 15,000 0 0 0 15,000  4.00  - February 2008  

 2005 0 50,000 0 0 50,000  13.02 - April 2010  

 Total  15,000 50,000 0 0 65,000     

 2003 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 4.00  - February 2008  

 2005 0 50,000 0 0 50,000 13.02  - April 2010  

  Total  40,000 50,000 0 0 90,000     

 

 Total 255,000 150,000 0 0 405,000
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5.12.3 Remuneration of the other key officials

In addition to the Board of Directors, two employees are designated key officials. Within the Business Software  

division these are the director for the international Agresso sub-division and the director for the Benelux  

sub-division.  

The remuneration of these key officials over 2005 and 2004 can be presented as follows: 

( x 1,000)

5.12.4 Transactions with the members of the Supervisory Board

The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board can be presented as follows: 

( x 1,000)

No options are granted and no assets are made available to the members of the Supervisory Board. 

No loans have been granted to the members of the Supervisory Board. No guarantee obligations have been entered into 

on behalf of the members of the Supervisory Board.

5.12.5 Transactions with other parties

In the financial year no transactions took place with other parties, including the associates.

 

 Salary (incl. profit share and bonus) 

 Pension (incl. disability insurance)

 Value of granted option rights

 Total

 2005 2004 

  

 498 396

 58 57

 0 0

 556 453

 

 

 Th.J. van der Raadt, Chairman

 J. Vunderink 

 P. Smits

 E.D. Wiersma

 Th.J. Mulder (stepped down on 12 May 2005)

 Total

 2005 2004 

  

 27 27

 18 18

 18 18

 18 0

 0 18

 81 81
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6. Company balance sheet

At 31 December 2005 ( x 1,000) 

 Notes 2005 2004

 8.4.1 18,429 16,242  

 8.4.2 13 15 

 8.4.3 82,949 70,482 

 8.4.4 6 1,126 

 8.4.5 1,812 19  

  103,209 87,884  

  

 8.4.6 8,362 11,537

  2,745 0  

  0 64

  11,107 11,601  

 8.4.7 15,300 12,119  

  129,616 111,604

 8.4.8    

  1,286 1,285  

  251,663 251,557  

  20,751 17,651  

  -164,775 -179,426  

  108,925 91,067  

   

 8.4.9.1 7,099 0  

 8.4.9.2 60 60  

  7,159 60  

    

 8.4.9.2 216 0  

 8.4.10.1 1,216 3,073  

 8.4.10.2 10,000 10,000  

  0 4,870  

 8.4.10.3 48 97  

 8.4.10.4 2,052 2,437  

  13,532 20,477  

  129,616 111,604

  

 Assets

 Non-current assets

 Intangible assets       

 Tangible assets       

 Financial assets    

   Interests in subsidiaries        

   Other financial assets         

   Deferred tax asset         

   

 Current assets 

 Trade and other receivables        

 Income tax asset        

 Other taxes        

 

 Cash and cash equivalents       

 Total assets

 Equity and liabilities

 Equity

 Issued capital   

 Share premium

 Legal reserves 

 Retained earnings 

 Non-current liabilities

 Deferred tax liability

 Provisions

 Current liabilities

 Provisions

 Trade and other payables

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

 Income tax payable

 Other taxes

 Other liabilities and accruals

 Total equity and liabilities 
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8. Notes to the company financial statements

8.1 Accounting policies for the company financial statements

The company financial statements of Unit 4 Agresso N.V. are prepared in accordance with the provisions of Title 9, 

Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code making use of the facility offered by Article 362 Paragraph 8 to apply the same  

accounting policies for valuation of assets and liabilities and determination of the result to the company financial 

statements as are applied to the consolidated financial statements. 

Interests in subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries relate to the subsidiaries in which the company has significant influence and decisive 

control. This creates the option of determining the financial and operational policy. Interests in subsidiaries are 

valued at the net equity value.

8.2 Transition to IFRS  

The changes related to the transition from Dutch GAAP to IFRS are described in detail in Chapter 5 Paragraph 3.

The most important changes and reclassifications in the opening balance sheet at 1 January 2004 are:

- Termination of amortization of goodwill.

- Recognition of the fair value of outstanding employee share options and stock appreciation rights as expenses. 

8.3 Accounting policies for valuation of assets and liabilities and accounting policies for the 

determination of the result 

The accounting polices for valuation of assets and liabilities and the accounting policies for the determination of 

the result are set out in Chapter 5 Paragraphs 4 and 5 of the consolidated financial statements.  

7. Company income statement

For the financial year 2005

( x 1,000)

 Company profit for the year

 Group companies profit for the year 

 Profit for the year 

 Notes 2005 2004

  1,282 -4,084  

  16,440 18,813 

 8.5 17,722 14,729
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8.4 Notes to items on the balance sheet

8.4.1 Intangible assets

The intangible assets consist entirely of goodwill. The development can be presented as follows: 

8.4.1.1 Impairment test for cash-generating units in which goodwill is capitalized

For further explanation see Paragraph 5.10.1.1.

( x 1,000)

 

 Carrying amount at 1 January

 Acquisition of subsidiaries 

 Adjustment prior financial years

 Divestments (cost price)

 Divestments (accumulated

 and impairment) 

 Impairment

 Carrying amount at 31 December

 1 January

 Cost price 

 Accumulated depreciation

 Accumulated impairment  

 Carrying amount 

 31 December

 Cost price 

 Accumulated depreciation

 Accumulated impairment 

 Carrying amount

 2005 2004 

  

 16,242 19,932

 4,997 0 

 0 12

 -13,125 0

 

 13,125 0

 -2,810 -3,702

 18,429 16,242

 

 

 30,047 29,706 

 -7,103 -6,774

 -6,702 -3,000

 16,242 19,932

 21,919 30,047 

 -3,096 -7,103

 -394 -6,702

 18,429 16,242

 

 Agresso Holdings Inc. (incl. subsidiaries)

 Amercom B.V.

 Foundation ICT Group B.V.

 Unit 4 Agresso Ireland Holdings Ltd.  

 (incl. subsidiaries)

 NOXS Germany GmbH

 Other

 Carrying amount  

 goodwill at Impairment

 31 December 2005 2005

 

 6,564 0

 4,362 0

 4,997 0

 

 2,265 394

 0 2,415

 241 0

 18,429 2,809
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At 31 December 2005 ( x 1,000)    

 

 

 Carrying amount at 1 January

 Investments

 Divestments (cost price)  

 Depreciation of divestments

 Depreciation

 Carrying amount at 31 December

 1 January 2005

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation 

 Carrying amount 

 31 December 2005

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation 

 Carrying amount

  Technological  Other

 inventories tangible assets Total 

 

 9 6 15 

 7 0  7

 -11 0 -11

 11 0 11 

 -7 -2  -9

 9 4 13

 

 101 13 114 

 -92 -7  -99

 9 6 15

 97 13 110 

 -88 -9  -97

 9 4 13

8.4.2 Tangible assets 

At 31 December 2004 ( x 1,000)     

 

 

 Carrying amount at 1 January

 Investments

 Divestments (cost price)  

 Depreciation of divestments

 Depreciation

 Carrying amount at 31 December

 1 January 2004

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation 

 Carrying amount 

 31 December 2004

 Cost price

 Accumulated depreciation 

 Carrying amount

  Technological  Other

 inventories tangible assets Total 

 

 6 9 15 

 8 0  8

 0 0 0

 0 0 0 

 -5 -3  -8

 9 6 15

 

 93 13 106 

 -87 -4  -91

 6 9 15

 101 13 114 

 -92 -7  -99

 9 6 15
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8.4.3 Interests in subsidiaries

The interests in subsidiaries relate to the interests at 31 December 2005 as set out in Chapter 5.2. With regard to 

the interests in subsidiaries at 31 December 2004, account must be taken of the acquisitions and divestments during 

the financial year. The movements can be presented as follows: 

8.4.4 Other financial assets

The other financial assets include a Loan and Securities item.

During the financial year a loan with a company outside of the Group was converted into a loan with a subsidiary. 

The Securities item relates to the 15% interest in Arge Holding B.V. (formerly Arge Consultancy B.V.) and the 0.4% 

interest in ArgeWeb B.V., both based in Maassluis.

   

( x 1,000) 

 

 Balance at 1 January 

 Acquisition of subsidiaries    

 Profit from group companies

 Foreign currency translation differences   

 Balance at 31 December

 2005 2004 

  

 70,482 51,603

 -3,903 0

 16,440 18,813

 -70 66

 82,949 70,482

 

At 31 December 2005 ( x 1,000)     

 Balance at 1 January 

 Acquisition of subsidiaries 

 Investments

 Balance at 31 December

 Current 

 Non-current

 Loan Securities Total 

    

 1,123 3 1,126 

 -1,123 0  -1,123

 0 3 3

 0 6 6

 0 0 0 

 0 6  6

 0 6 6

      

At 31 December 2004 ( x 1,000)

 

 Balance at 1 January 

 Acquisition of subsidiaries 

 Reclassification 

 Balance at 31 December

 Current 

 Non-current

 Loan  Securities Total 

    

 1,189 3 1,192 

 624 0  624

 -690 0 -690

 1,123 3 1,126

 0 0 0 

 1,123 3  1,126

 1,123 3 1,126
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8.4.5 Deferred tax asset

The deferred tax asset recognized is caused by tax losses expected to be offset in the future against  

taxable income and by differences between fiscal and commercial valuations and result recognitions.  

The deferred tax asset is to a significant extent of a long-term nature.

   

The deferred tax asset at 31 December relates to the following:

(€ x 1,000)

8.4.6 Trade and other receivables

(€ x 1,000)

8.4.7 Cash and cash equivalents

(€ x 1,000)

8.4.8 Equity

The company equity is identical to the consolidated equity. There is no minority interest. For an overview of  

the changes in the equity, see Chapter 3 Consolidated statement of changes in equity. For an explanation of the  

individual categories within the equity, see Chapter 5 Paragraph 10.10. According to Title 9, Book 2 of the Netherlands 

Civil Code, the currency translation differences reserve should be included in the legal reserves. An adjustment must be 

made and charged to ‘Retained earnings’ regarding capitalized ‘Software Products’ (development costs). 

 Losses available for offset against future taxable income 

 Provision deferred benefits 

 2005 2004 

  

 1,793 0

 19 19

 1,812 19

   
  

 Trade receivables

 Other receivables

 

 2005 2004 

  

 0 429

 8,362 11,108

 8,362 11,537

 Bank balances and cash equivalents 

 2005 2004 

  

 15,300 12,119
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The division of the company equity in accordance with Title 9, Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code (Dutch GAAP) can be 

presented as follows: 

(E x 1,000) 

Aside from the above-mentioned differences, there are no differences between the equity according to the company  

financial statements and that of the consolidated financial statements.

8.4.9 Non-current liability

8.4.9.1 Deferred tax liability

The deferred tax liability recognized relates to the future liability based on a temporary downward valuation  

facility. The temporary downward valuation facility (article 13ca Dutch tax law) for group companies is related to 

the downward valuation option in the Dutch tax legislation offering the possibility of a temporary downward valuation 

of a group company (under normal circumstances 5 years), thus realizing an interest and rate gain. The valuation in  

the financial statements was effected in 2005 after certainty was obtained regarding the tax return submitted.

8.4.9.2 Provisions

The provisions consist of: 

At 31 December 2005 (€ x 1,000)

    

 

 

 1 January 2005

 

 Capitalized development costs in group companies

 Foreign currency translation differences

 Profit for the year

 Total income and expenses for the financial year 

 Exercise of options

 Share-based payments 

 31 December 2005

              Legal reserves

   Currency  Software

 Issued Share translation development Retained 

 capital premium differences costs earnings Total 

 1,285 251,557 66 17,585 -179,426 91,067

       

 0 0 0 3,170 -3,170 0 

 0 0 -70 0 0 -70 

 0 0 0 0 17,722 17,722 

 0 0 -70 3,170 14,552 17,652 

 

 1 106 0 0 0 107 

 0 0 0 0 99 99 

 1,286 251,663 -4 20,755 -164,775 108,925

 

 

 Balance at 1 January 

 Arising during the year 

 Expenditure

 Adjustments based on discount

 Balance at 31 December

 Current 

 Non-current

     Earn out Deferred  Total 

 obligations benefits    

 0 60 60 

 213 22  235

 0 -24 -24

 3 2 5 

 216 60 276

 216 0 216 

 0 60  60

 216 60 276
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Earn out obligations

The earn out obligations relate to the expectations of the management for the variable part of the purchase price  

of the shares acquired during the year or earlier. No interest is owed over the earn out payments. The earn out  

obligations were discounted at a percentage of 1.65%.

Deferred benefits

The provision for deferred benefits relates to the payments connected with years of service (12.5 and 25 years).

8.4.10 Current liabilities

8.4.10.1 Trade and other payables

The trade and other payables consist of:

(€ x 1,000)

8.4.10.2 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The interest-bearing loans and borrowings consist of:

(€ x 1,000)

For notes regarding the Group’s credit facilities, see paragraph 5.10.12.2.

 Trade payables

 Supplier invoices to be received

 Repayment obligations on long-term loans 

 Other payables 

 Derivatives

 2005 2004 

  

 259 554

 0 0

 0 0

 912 2.519

 45 0

 1,216 3,073

   

 Cash loan Fortis 

 2005 2004 

  

 10,000 10,000

   

 Balance at 1 January 

 Arising during the year 

 Expenditure

 Adjustments based on discount

 Balance at 31 December

 Current 

 Non-current

    
At 31 December 2004 ( x 1,000)

 Earn out Deferred  Total 

 obligations benefits    

 

 0 60 60 

 0 0  0

 0 -2 -2

 0 2 2 

 0 60 60

 0 0 0 

 0 60  60

 0 60 60
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8.4.10.3 Other taxes

The other taxes consist of:

(€ x 1,000)

8.4.10.4 Accruals and deferred income

The accruals and deferred income consist of:

(€ x 1,000)

8.4.11 Guarentee statement

Unit 4 Agresso N.V. has issued statements in accordance with the provisions of Article 403 of Book 2 Title 9 of the 

Netherlands Civil Code regarding a number of the Dutch companies mentioned under ‘General accounting policies’.  

These companies are therefore exempt from the regulations which apply to the preparation and publication of the  

financial statements.

8.5 Note to the company income statement

The company profit after tax relates to the costs of the company, less inter-group charges to subsidiaries.

8.6 Remuneration of, loans to and guarantees for directors

See Paragraph 5.12.2.  

   

Sliedrecht, 28 February 2006

   

Board of Directors

C. Ouwinga

drs. E.T.S van Leeuwen RA

drs. H.P. De Smedt

 Tax on wages

 Other taxes and social security premiums

 

 2005 2004 

  

 41 97

 7 0

 48 97

 Accountants and advisory costs to be paid 

 Commissions to be paid

 Holiday pay/holidays to be paid  

 Annual report costs to be paid 

 Other

 2005 2004 

  

 306 225

 420 250

 260 188

 50 48

 1,016 1,726

 2,052 2,437

Supervisory Board

drs. Th.J. van der Raadt

J.A. Vunderink

ir. P. Smits

mr. E.D. Wiersma
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9. Other information

9.1 Auditor’s report

Introduction

We have audited the financial statements of Unit 4 Agresso N.V., Sliedrecht, for the year 2005. These financial 

statements consist of the consolidated financial statements and the company financial statements. These financial 

statements are the responsibility of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audit.

Scope

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Netherlands. Those standards 

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements  

are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts  

and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and  

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion with respect to the consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the  

company as at 31 December 2005 and of the result and the cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with  

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and comply with the financial reporting requirements 

included in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code as far as applicable. 

 

Furthermore we have established to the extent of our competence that the annual report is consistent with the  

consolidated financial statements.

Opinion with respect to the company financial statements

In our opinion, the company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company  

as at 31 December 2005 and of the result for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting principles  

generally accepted in the Netherlands and comply with the financial reporting requirements included in Part 9 of  

Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. 

 

Furthermore we have established to the extent of our competence that the annual report is consistent with the company 

financial statements.

Rotterdam, 28 February 2005

Ernst & Young Accountants

On behalf,

drs. O.E.D. Jonker RA
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9.2 Regulations in the articles of association concerning the appropriation of result

In accordance with article 28.4 of the Articles of Association the Board of Directors is empowered, with the approval 

of the Supervisory Board, to entirely or partly reserve the profit remaining after payment to holders of preference 

shares. Any remaining profit is then at the free disposal of the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

  

9.3 Appropriation of the net profit 2005

The net profit for 2005 is added to the retained earnings as part of the Equity.

  

9.4 Stichting Continuïteit Unit 4 Agresso

The objective of the Stichting Continuïteit Unit 4 Agresso, seated in Sliedrecht, is to protect the interests of the 

group in such a way that the interest of the group, its subsidiaries and all parties involved will be safeguarded in 

the best possible way and that influences that might affect the independence and/or continuity and/or identity of the 

aforementioned companies are kept off, as well as performing all tasks related to or beneficial to the foregoing.

The foundation strives to attain its objective by acquiring preference shares in the capital of the company and by 

exerting all rights connected with these preference shares.

The Management of the foundation is formed by: J. Ekelemans, A. Offers, Th.J. van der Raadt, J. Thierry, R.D. 

Vriesendorp.

  

Declaration of independence

The Board of Directors of Unit 4 Agresso and the management of Stichting Continuïteit Unit 4 Agresso declare that to 

their joint opinion the requirements concerning the independence of the management of Stichting Continuïteit Unit 4 

Agresso, as mentioned in Appendix X of the General Regulation Euronext Amsterdam Stock Market (‘Funds regulations’) 

of EuroNext Amsterdam, have been met.

Sliedrecht, the Netherlands, 28 February 2006

Unit 4 Agresso N.V. Stichting Continuïteit Unit 4 Agresso

Board of Directors Management
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Operating companies and  

addresses

Headquarter Unit 4 Agresso N.V.

Stationspark 200

3364 DA Sliedrecht

Postbus 102

3360 AC Sliedrecht

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)184 44 44 44

Fax: +31 (0)184 44 44 45

www.unit4agresso.com

Belgium

Impakt N.V.

Bijenstraat 27

9051 Gent (Sint-Denijs-Westrem)

Belgium

Tel: +32 (0)9 265 80 50

Fax: +32 (0)9 265 80 59

www.unit4agresso.be/security

NOXS Belgium N.V.

Koningin Astridlaan 59/10

1780 Wemmel

Belgium

Tel: +32 (0)2 461 01 70

Fax: +32 (0)2 461 01 30

www.be.noxs.com

NOXS Logistics N.V.

Koningin Astridlaan 59/10

1780 Wemmel

Belgium

Tel: +32 (0)2 461 01 70

Fax: +32 (0)2 461 01 30

www.be.noxs.com

Unit 4 Agresso Belgium N.V.

Meir 24

2000 Antwerpen

Belgium

Tel: +32 (0)3 232 40 22

Fax: +32 (0)3 232 38 23

www.unit4agresso.be/kmo

Canada

Agresso Corp.

4420 Chatterton Way

Suite 201

Victoria, BC V8X 5J2

Canada

Tel: +1 (0)250 704 4450

Fax: +1 (0)250 704 4492

www.agresso.com/canada

Agresso Travel Industry Solutions 

Ltd.

4420 Chatterton Way

Suite 201

Victoria, BC V8X 5J2

Canada

Tel: +1 (0)250 704 4450

Fax: +1 (0)250 704 4492

www.agressotravel.com

Denmark

Agresso Denmark A/S

Parallelvej 10 

2800 Lyngby

Denmark

Tel: +45 (0)45 26 77 87

Fax: +45 (0)45 26 77 10

www.agresso.com/denmark

France

Agresso France S.A.

Immeuble A “Sud-Affaires”

21/23 Rue de la Vanne

92120 Montrouge

France

Tel: +33 (0)1 41 87 26 00

Fax: +33 (0)1 41 87 26 99

www.agresso.com/france

NOXS France SAS

Parc des Barbanniers

9-11 allée des Pierres Mayettes

92632 Gennevilliers Cedex

France

Tel: +33 (0)1 41 85 10 20

Fax: +33 (0)1 41 85 10 21

www.noxs.fr

Germany

Agresso GmbH

Feringastrasse 4

85774 Unterföhring

Germany

Tel: +49 (0)89 323 630 0

Fax: +49 (0)89 323 630 99

www.agresso.com/germany

NOXS Technology Germany GmbH

Königsallee 35

71638 Ludwigsburg

Germany

Tel: +49 (0)7141 125 400

Fax: +49 (0)7141 125 409

www.de.noxs.com

Ireland

NOXS Ireland Ltd.

Unit 20

The Village Green Complex

Tallaght

Dublin 24

Ireland

Tel: +353 (0)1 414 14 34

Fax: +353 (0)1 414 14 42

www.ie.noxs.com

Unit 4 Agresso Security Solutions 

Ireland Ltd.

Block 7

Belgard Industrial Estate

Tallaght

Dublin 24

Ireland

Tel: +353 (0)1 413 90 82

Fax: +353 (0)1 414 14 91

www.unit4.ie
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Italy

NOXS Italy Srl

Via Ugo La Malfa, 1

20063 Cernusco s/N

Milano

Italy

Tel. : +39 (0)2 921 03 227

Fax : +39 (0)2 921 43 651

www.noxs.it

The Netherlands

Amercom B.V.

Zielhorsterweg 71-73

3813 ZX Amersfoort

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)33 480 89 19

Fax: +31 (0)33 480 74 31

www.amercom.nl

Brio Software Nederland

Stationspark 200

3364 DA Sliedrecht

Postbus 102

3360 AC Sliedrecht

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)184 44 81 00

Fax: +31 (0)184 44 81 01

www.brio.nl

Decade Financial Software B.V.

Mathildastraat 50

4901 HC Oosterhout

Postbus 4009

4900 CA Oosterhout

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)162 49 80 49

Fax: +31 (0)162 49 80 50

www.unit4agresso.nl/publiekesector

Foundation ICT Group B.V.

Kobaltweg 44

3542 CE Utrecht

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)30 248 96 00

Fax: +31 (0)30 248 96 09

www.foundation.nl

NOXS B.V.

Kobaltweg 44

3542 CE Utrecht

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)30 602 54 00

Fax: +31 (0)30 602 54 01

www.nl.noxs.com

Unit 4 Agresso Accountancy B.V.

De Schutterij 27

3905 PK Veenendaal

Postbus 755

3900 AT Veenendaal

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)318 58 16 00

Fax: +31 (0)318 58 16 10

www.unit4agresso.nl/accountancy

Unit 4 Agresso Enterprise  

Solutions B.V.

De Molen 42

3994 DB Houten

Postbus 315

3990 GC Houten

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)30 638 71 11

Fax: +31 (0)30 635 07 04

www.unit4agresso.nl/es

Unit 4 Agresso Oost-Nederland B.V.

Welbergweg 40

7556 PE Hengelo

Postbus 313

7550 AH Hengelo

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)74 24 55 444

Fax: +31 (0)74 24 55 445

www.unit4agresso.nl/gezondheidszorg

www.unit4agresso.nl/personeel&salaris

Unit 4 Agresso Software B.V.

Stationspark 200

3364 DA Sliedrecht

Postbus 102

3360 AC Sliedrecht

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)184 44 44 44

Fax: +31 (0)184 44 44 45

www.unit4agresso.nl

Unit 4 Agresso Security Solutions 

B.V.

Mathilde Erf 5

2907 VC Capelle aan den Ijssel

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)10 258 04 44

Fax: +31 (0)10 258 04 55

www.unit4agresso.nl/cs

4Sure.IT B.V.

Stationspark 200

3364 DA Sliedrecht

Postbus 102

3360 AC Sliedrecht

the Netherlands

Tel: +31 (0)184 44 44 44

Fax: +31 (0)184 44 44 45

www.4sureit.nl

Norway

Agresso AS

Gjerdrums vei 4

P.O. Box 4244 Nydalen

0401 Oslo

Norway

Tel: +47 (0)22 58 85 00

Fax: +47 (0)22 95 21 50

www.agresso.com/norway

Spain

Agresso Spain S.L.

c/ Aixa la Horra, s/n.

Urbanización “El Serrallo” 

18008 Granada

Spain

Tel: +34 (0)902 100 588

Fax: +34 (0)902 100 589

www.unit4agresso.com/spain
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Gestión de Servicios Integrales y 

Sistemas de Información S.L.

C. Marqués de Comillas, 67-69, 5a 

planta

08202 Sabadell (Barcelona)

Spain

Tel: +34 (0)902 157 497

Fax: +34 (0)93 727 47 94

www.unit4agresso.com/spai

Sweden

Agresso AB

Gustav III: s Boulevard 18

P.O. Box 705

SE-169 27 Solna

Sweden

Tel: +46 (0)8 553 331 00

Fax: +46 (0)8 553 331 01

www.agresso.com/sweden

Formaster Consulting AB

Västmannagatan 1

111 24 Stockholm

Sweden

Tel: +46 (0)8 041 002 600

Fax: +46 (0)8 23 42 00

www.formaster.se

United Kingdom

Agresso Ltd.

St. George’s Hall

Easton-in-Gordano

Bristol

BS 20 OPX

United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)1275 377 200

Fax: +44 (0)1275 377 201

www.agresso.com/uk

Distinction Systems Ltd.

Riverside House

Normandy Road

Swansea

SA1 2JA

United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)1792 524 524

Fax: +44 (0)1792 524 525

www.distinction-systems.co.uk

Logicale Ltd.

Riverside House

Normandy Road

Swansea

SA1 2JA

United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)1792 524 524

Fax: +44 (0)1792 524 600

www.logicale.co.uk

MicroCompass Systems Ltd.

Riverside House

Normandy Road

Swansea

SA1 2JA

United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)1792 524 524

Fax: +44 (0)1792 524 600

www.microcompass.com

NOXS UK Ltd.

10 Thatcham Business Village

Colthrop Way

Thatcham

Berkshire RG19 4LW

United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)1635 868 375

Fax: +44 (0)1635 861 511

www.noxs.co.uk

Unit 4 Agresso Security Solutions 

UK Ltd.

81a The Marlowes

Hemel Hempstead

Hertfordshire

HP1 1LF

United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)1 442 840 840

Fax: +44 (0)1 442 233 923

www.unit4.co.uk

United States

Agresso Americas Corp.

27401 Los Altos

Suite 305

Mission Viejo CA 92691

Los Angeles, California

United States

Tel: +1 (0)949 582 87 21

Fax: +1 (0)949 582 87 22

www.agresso.com/usa

Agresso Travel Industry  

Solutions Inc.

1431 Greenway Ave. Ste 330

Irving, Texas 75038

United States

Tel: +1 (0)972 580 03 66

Fax: +1 (0)972 580 06 44

www.agressotravel.com
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